
Page 1 of 2 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 31, 2023 
10:00 AM 

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 1 
OAKLAND, CA  94612 

OBSERVE 

▪ To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link:   
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983 at the noticed meeting time.  

▪ To listen to the meeting by phone, please call the numbers below at the noticed meeting time: 
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):  

▪ iPhone one-tap: US: +16699006833, 82880493983# or +13462487799, 82880493983# 

▪ US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 
626 6799 or +1 929 205 6099  

▪ International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax 

▪ Webinar ID: 828 8049 3983. 
If asked for a participant ID or code, press #. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There are two ways to submit public comments:  

▪ Speaker Card:  All persons wishing to address the Board must complete a speaker’s card, stating 
their name and the agenda item they wish to address, including “Open Forum”. 

▪ eComment:  To send your comment directly to staff BEFORE the meeting starts, please email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov with “PFRS Board Meeting Public Comment” in the subject line for the 
corresponding meeting.  Please note that eComment submission closes two (2) hours before 
posted meeting time.  

If you have any questions, please email Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II at 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 

AGENDA 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 

Oakland, CA 94612 

Due to the termination of the 
statewide COVID-19 State of 
Emergency by the Governor of 
California, effective March 1, 2023, 
all meetings of the Oakland Police 
& Fire Retirement System Board 
and its Committees will be 
conducted in person. 

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling (510) 
238-7295. or send an email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

John C. Speakman 
Chairperson 

R. Steven Wilkinson 
Member 

Martin J. Melia 
Member 

 

 
 
 
*In the event a quorum of the Board 
participates in the Committee meeting, 
the meeting is noticed as a Special 
Meeting of the Board; however, no final 
Board action can be taken.  In the event 
that the Audit Committee does not reach 
quorum, this meeting is noticed as an 
informational meeting between staff and 
the Chair of the Audit Committee. 

MEETING of the AUDIT  & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE  
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 2 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS  

 
1. Subject: OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS) 

AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE the March 29, 2023 Audit & Operations Committee Meeting 
Minutes 

   
   
2. Subject: ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding PFRS administrative 
expenses as of March 31, 2023 

   
   
3. Subject: ELECTION OF 5-YR RETIRED POLICE REPRESENTATIVE TO THE 

PFRS BOARD 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the election of the 5-Year 
Retired Police Representative for the PFRS Board seat currently held 
by member Robert W. Nichelini 

   
   
4. Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 8078 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: RECOMMEND BOARD APPROVAL of Resolution No. 8078 ratifying 
the Board President’s approval of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 
System Trustee R. Steven Wilkinson’s request to attend the Milken 
Institute Global Conference from April 30, 2023 Through May 3, 2023  
in Beverly Hills, CA, and authorizing reimbursement of travel-related 
expenses in an amount not to exceed Three Thousand Dollars 
($3,000.00) 

   
5. REVIEW OF PENDING AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS 

6. OPEN FORUM 

7. FUTURE SCHEDULING 

8. ADJOURNMENT 



PFRS AUDIT & OPERATION COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 1 OF 3 

 

A MEETING OF THE AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 

System (“PFRS”) was held Wednesday, March 29, 2023 at One Frank Ogawa Plaza, Hearing Room 1, 

Oakland, California. 

 

Committee Members ▪ John C. Speakman Chairperson 
 ▪ Martin J. Melia Member (EXCUSED) 

 ▪ R. Steven Wilkinson Member 

Additional Attendees ▪ David Jones PFRS Secretary & Plan Administrator  
 ▪ Téir Jenkins PFRS Investment & Operations Manager 

 ▪ Maxine Visaya PFRS Staff Member 
 ▪ Selia Warren PFRS Legal Counsel 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:08 a.m. Pacific 

 

1. PFRS AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES – Chairperson Speakman made a 

motion to approve the February 22, 2023 Audit & Operations Committee Meeting minutes, second by 

Member Wilkinson. Motion passed. 

[SPEAKMAN – Y / MELIA – EXCUSED / WILKINSON – Y] 
(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

 
 

2. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT – PFRS Investment & Operations Manager Jenkins 

presented an informational report on PFRS’ administrative expenditures as of January 31, 2023.  PFRS 

has an approved annual budget of approximately $3.6 million and have expensed approximately $1.1 

million to date for fiscal year 2022/2023.  Membership consisted of 671 retired members, which included 

415 Police Members and 256 Fire Members. 

 

MOTION: Chairperson Speakman made a motion to accept the administrative expenses report as of    

January 31, 2023 and forward to the Board, second by Member Wilkinson.  Motion passed. 

 

[SPEAKMAN – Y / MELIA – EXCUSED / WILKINSON – Y] 
(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0  / EXCUSED: 1) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PFRS AUDIT & OPERATION COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 2 OF 3 

 

3. PFRS 2-YEAR ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEARS 2023/2024 AND 2024/2025 – PFRS 

Investment & Operations Manager Téir Jenkins presented the proposed PFRS 2-Year Administrative 

Budget for Fiscal Years 2023/2024 and 2024/2025.  T. Jenkins noted the current budget is approximately 

$3.6 million and Staff does not recommend any significant increases. Projected increases include staff 

salaries due to the recent MOU between the City and Local 21 which granted a 5% Cost of Living 

Adjustment (COLA); Audit and Actuary contractual increases; and City Attorney salary increases based 

on the updated COLA, thereby resulting in an overall proposed increase of 4%.  It was further noted the 

City provides an updated benefits calculation formula to determine the estimated cost of staff retirement 

and medical benefits expenses; however this information has not been released to date and staff will 

return to the Board with updated information when available.  Staff is confident in the numbers and 

recommends the Board approve the new 2-Year Budget. 

MOTION: Chairperson Speakman made a motion to accept the proposed PFRS 2-Year Administrative 

Budget for Fiscal Years 2023/2024 and 2024/2025 forward to the Board for approval, second by 

Member Wilkinson.  Motion passed. 
 

[SPEAKMAN – Y / MELIA – EXCUSED / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0  / EXCUSED: 1) 

 

4. PFRS ANNUAL REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 – PFRS Investment & Operations 

Manager Jenkins presented the proposed PFRS Annual Report for year ended June 30, 2022.                

T. Jenkins and Plan Administrator Jones acknowledged all the hard work that goes into producing the 

annual report and thanked both internal and external contributors, as well as the retirees for all they 

bring to the report. Plan Administrator Jones also welcomed member feedback to provide for 

enhancements and suggestions for additional content they would like to see incorporated into future 

reports. 
 

MOTION: Member Wilkinson made a motion to recommend Board approval of printing and publication 

of the PFRS Annual Report for year ended June 30, 2022, second by Chairperson Speakman.  Motion 

passed. 
 

[SPEAKMAN – Y / MELIA – EXCUSED / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0  / EXCUSED: 1) 

 

5. REVIEW OF PENDING AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS – PFRS Secretary & Plan 

Administrator Jones reported on the two (2) items on the Audit and Operations Committee Agenda 

pending list.  Item 1) Status Report of the Ad Hoc Committee regarding the Actuarial Funding Date of 

July 1, 2026:  Staff is working to schedule as availability permits.  Item 2) Monitor & Update PFRS 

Board of Upcoming City Council Agendas Regarding Discussion of the 2026 Actuarial Funding Date: 

There are no updates at this time, and we will continue to provide updates as available.  
 

 

 

 

 



PFRS AUDIT & OPERATION COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 3 OF 3 

 

6. OPEN FORUM – No Report.  
 

7. FUTURE SCHEDULING – The next Audit & Operations Committee Meeting will be held in-person and 

is tentatively scheduled to occur April 26, 2023. 
 

8. ADJOURNMENT – Member Wilkinson made a motion to adjourn, second by Chairperson Speakman.  

Motion passed. 
[SPEAKMAN – Y / MELIA – EXCUSED / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0/ ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

 

The meeting adjourned at 10:21 a.m. Pacific 

 
 

 

                          JOHN C. SPEAKMAN DATE 
                    COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSON 



Table 1

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Administrative Budget Spent to Date (Preliminary)

As of March 31, 2023

Approved

Budget March 2023 FYTD Remaining Percent Remaining

Internal Administrative Costs
PFRS Staff Salaries 1,330,000$          111,216$                        874,808$                        455,192$                        34.2%

Board Travel Expenditures 52,500                 -                                  -                                  52,500                            100.0%

Staff Training 20,000                 -                                  -                                  20,000                            100.0%

Staff Training  - Tuition Reimbursement 7,500                   -                                  -                                  7,500                              100.0%

Board Hospitality 3,600                   240                                 240                                 3,360                              93.3%

Payroll Processing Fees 40,000                 -                                  -                                  40,000                            100.0%

Miscellaneous Expenditures 45,000                 2,015                              28,762                            16,238                            36.1%

Internal Service Fees (ISF) 88,000                 -                                  47,884                            40,116                            45.6%

Contract Services Contingency 50,000                 -                                  1,500                              48,500                            97.0%

Internal Administrative Costs Subtotal : 1,636,600$          113,471$                        953,195$                        683,405$                        41.8%

Actuary and Accounting Services
Audit 50,500$               -$                                33,883$                          16,617$                          32.9%

Actuary 47,900                 1,241                              24,409                            23,491                            49.0%

Actuary and Accounting Subtotal: 98,400$               1,241$                            58,292$                          40,108$                          40.8%

Legal Services
City Attorney Salaries 194,000$             -$                                28$                                 193,972$                        100.0%

Legal Contingency 150,000               -                                  -                                  150,000                          100.0%

Legal Services Subtotal: 344,000$             -$                                28$                                 343,972$                        100.0%

Investment Services
Money Manager Fees 1,353,000$          52,167$                          560,811$                        792,189$                        58.6%

Custodial Fee 124,000               60,250                            60,250                            63,750                            51.4%

Investment Consultant 100,000               25,000                            75,000                            25,000                            25.0%

Investment Subtotal: 1,577,000$          137,417$                        696,061$                        880,939$                        55.9%

Total Operating Budget 3,656,000$   252,129$               1,707,575$            1,948,425$            53.29%

 



Table 2

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Cash in Treasury (Fund 7100) - Preliminary

As of March 31, 2023

 

March 2023

Beginning Cash as of 3/1/2023 8,516,695$                              

Additions:

City Pension Contribution - March 2,726,000$                              

Investment Draw 2,000,000$                              

Misc. Receipts -                                           

Total Additions: 4,726,000$                              

Deductions:

Pension Payment (February Pension Paid on 3/1/2023) (4,218,535)                               

Expenditures Paid (307,649)                                  

Total Deductions (4,526,184)$                             

Ending Cash Balance as of 3/31/2023* 8,716,511$                              

 

* On 4/3/2023, March pension payment of appx $4,199,000 will be made leaving a cash balance of $4,518,000.



Table 3

CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Census

As of March 31, 2023

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Retiree 286 165 451

Beneficiary 124 90 214

Total Retired Members 410 255 665

Total Membership: 410 255 665

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Service Retirement 275 127 402

Disability Retirement 125 117 242

Death Allowance 10 11 21

Total Retired Members: 410 255 665

Total Membership as of March 31, 2023: 410 255 665

Total Membership as of June 30, 2022: 422 264 686

Annual Difference: -12 -9 -21



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 FYTD

Police 598 581 558 545 516 492 475 460 439 422 410

Fire 445 425 403 384 370 345 323 308 284 264 255

Total 1043 1006 961 929 886 837 798 768 723 686 665

598

581

558
545

516

492

475
460

439

422
410

445

425

403

384
370

345

323
308

284

264
255

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System
Pension Plan Membership Count

As of March 31, 2023 (FY 2013 - FY 2023)



Attachment (1):  Rules & Regulations – Excerpt of Election 
Attachment (2):  Nomination Form – 5-Year Position (Police) 

Agenda Item   C2 
PFRS Board Meeting 

May 31, 2023 

A G E N D A  R E P O R T

TO: Oakland Police and Fire 
Retirement System Board 
(PFRS) 

FROM:  David F. Jones 
Secretary and Plan 
Administrator  

SUBJECT: Election of 5-Year Police 
Department Representative 
Board Position   

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

SUMMARY 

The 5-year police representative board seat currently held by Robert W. Nichelini is set 
to expire on August 31, 2023.  Pursuant to the PFRS election guidelines outlined in 
Article 11 of the PFRS Rules and Regulations, an election for this board seat will be 
conducted by the Staff of the PFRS board with the assistance of the City Clerk’s office. 

BACKGROUND 

Robert W. Nichelini, a retired PFRS Police Member, was elected to the 5-year elected term 
as the PFRS 5-year member.  Member Nichelini's board seat is set to expire on 
August 31, 2023, and a 5-year police member will need to be elected to this seat from 
the retired police membership. 

Following the PFRS rules & regulations section 11.2, the PFRS staff will inform the Retired 
Oakland Police Officers Association (ROPOA) of the upcoming board vacancy and deliver 
to them the election schedules and nomination forms. 

Should no more than one ( l ) nomination form be received by the nomination form 
submission deadline of 5 pm, July 19, 2023, then the single nominee will be 
automatically elected to the nominated position; an election would otherwise follow on 
August 23, 2023.  The elected board member will begin the new term at the September 
2023 Board Meeting. 



To:         Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board (PFRS) 
Subject:  Election of 5-Year Police Department Representative Board Position 
Date:      May 24, 2023 Page 2 

Attachment (1):  Rules & Regulations – Excerpt of Election 
Attachment (2):  Nomination Form – 5-Year Position (Police) 

Agenda Item   C2 
PFRS Board Meeting 

May 31, 2023 

The following timeline shows the due dates for nominees and PFRS staff during this 
election cycle: 

▪ Last day for furnishing the ROPOA a notice stating that nominating

papers may be obtained from the Retirement Systems office…….. June 1, 2023 

▪ Last day for filing nominees to submit nominating papers to the

City Clerk's Office…………………………………………………….… July 19, 2023 

▪ Last day for City Clerk to certify to Office of the PFRS Board the

names of members nominated………………………………………... July 19, 2023 

▪ Last day for mailing of ballots to members………………….……… August 14, 2023 

▪ Last day for delivering to City Clerk the Roster of Police

Department……………………………………………………………… August 14, 2023 

▪ Ballots due to City Clerk no later than 10 am……………….………. August 23, 2023 

▪ Day for counting of ballots by City Clerk……………………………. August 23, 2023 

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Secretary and Plan Administrator 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 



ATTACHMENT 1 

Rules & Regulations 
Excerpt of Election 

Article 11 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Excerpt from the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Rules and Regulations 
Article 11:  Election of Members of the Board Representing Retired Members of the Retirement System 
Effective June 27, 2018  

Article 11: ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD REPRESENTING RETIRED MEMBERS 
OF THE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

Section 11.1:   Day for Counting of Ballots 

The fourth Wednesday in August of the year in which such election is required to be held is 
hereby he day for counting of ballots. 

In the event of a vacancy of one or more of the elected PFRS Retirement Board seats before the 
completion of the full term, the day for counting ballots for the election to fill the vacant PFRS 
Retirement Board seat shall be the fourth Wednesday of the month that follows 90 days after the 
date of being informed of the vacancy. 

Section 11.2:  Notice of Nomination 

On or before the first business day in June of each year in which an election is required, the office of 
the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send a notice stating that nomination papers may be 
obtained at the office of said Police and Fire Retirement Board, the place where nomination papers 
shall be filed and the final date of filing thereof, the date when ballots will be counted and such other 
information as may be appropriate to the following organizations: 

• Retired Oakland Police Officers’ Association (ROPOA)

• International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 55 (IAFF Local 55)

In the event of a vacancy of one of the elected PFRS Retirement Board seats before the completion 
of the full term, the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send notice as stated above 
no later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of being informed of the vacancy. 

Section 11.3:  Nomination for Membership 

Nomination for membership on the Police and Fire Retirement Board from the retired membership of 
the Police and Fire Department shall be in writing on forms supplied by the office of said Police 
and Fire Retirement Board upon request.  Nomination papers shall be substantially in the form shown 
in Appendix A. Nomination papers shall be signed by at least ten retired members of the Police or Fire 
Department, as the case may be, who are members of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT 
SYSTEM, other than the person nominated. Each signatory of a nominating paper shall write the date 
of his/her signature at the end of the line opposite his/her signature.  Beneficiaries of deceased 
members are not eligible to vote in elections. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Excerpt from the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Rules and Regulations 
Article 11:  Election of Members of the Board Representing Retired Members of the Retirement System 
Effective June 27, 2018  

Section 11.4:  Date of Filing Nomination Papers 

Nominating papers shall be filed in the Office of the Oakland City Clerk, Room 306 of the Oakland City 
Hall, not less than thirty-five days before the day of counting ballots. If said date falls on a non-business 
day for the City of Oakland, it shall be filed on the next business day. 

Section 11.5:  Determination of Sufficiency of Nominating Papers 

The City Clerk of the City of Oakland will determine when a member is nominated and for this purpose 
shall have access to the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board the names of those retired 
members of the respective departments determined by him to have been nominated. 

Section 11.6:  Winner by Default 

In the event that only one person is nominated in accordance with this Article 11 as a member of the 
Board, that person shall be declared a winner. 

Section 11.7:   Mailing of Ballots 

Not less than fifteen days before the day for the counting of the ballots that shall be prepared by and 
mailed for the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board to each retired member of the Police 
Department of Fire Department who is a member of the Police and Fire Retirement System a ballot 
addressed to his or her address as shown by the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board. 
The Ballots shall contain the names in alphabetical order of the candidates certified by the City Clerk 
as nominated.  Such ballot, sealed in a blank envelope provided for this purpose, which shall be 
enclosed in another envelope, also provided for such purpose, upon which the voter shall place his 
or her name, may be returned to the City Clerk not later than 10:00 a.m. of the day for the counting of 
ballots. 

Section 11.8:  Roster of Eligible Voters 

There shall be prepared in the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board a roster of eligible 
voters which shall contain the names of the retired members of the Police or Fire Department who 
are members of the Police and Fire Retirement System, excluding beneficiaries of deceased 
members. Such roster of eligible voters shall be delivered to the City Clerk not less than fifteen days 
before the day for the counting of ballots and shall be in such form as to permit appropriate asking 
thereon by the City Clerk to indicate that an eligible member has voted. 

Section 11.9:  Counting of Ballots 

On the day for the counting of ballots at the hour of 10:00 A.M. thereof, the ballot box shall be opened 
and no ballot received after said hour shall be counted.  The ballots will be counted under the 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Excerpt from the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Rules and Regulations 
Article 11:  Election of Members of the Board Representing Retired Members of the Retirement System 
Effective June 27, 2018  

supervision and control of the City Clerk in such manner that the identity of the individual casting 
any ballot will not be disclosed.  No ballot shall be counted unless it is enclosed in an envelope 
bearing the name of the voter.  No ballot shall be counted which contains a vote for a person not 
nominated in accordance with Article 12.  Upon the conclusion of the counting of the ballots, the City 
Clerk will certify the count and the candidate elected and notify each candidate thereof by mail. 

Section 11.10: Vote Necessary for Election 

The candidate receiving the highest number of eligible votes shall be declared elected. 

Section 11.11: Disposition of Ballots after Counting 

Upon conclusion of the counting of the ballots they shall be kept by the City Clerk in the manner and for 
the period the ballots of municipal elections are kept. 

Section 11.12: Procedure to Fill Vacancy of Elected Members 

In the event a vacancy occurs before the end of a full term in any of the three (3) elected offices of 
the Board which are filled by retired members of the Retirement System, a successor shall be elected 
for the unexpired portion of the term vacated. The successor shall be elected from the same 
department of the member who is vacating the seat for the remainder of said unexpired three (3) year, 
or five (5) year, term.  The election shall be governed by Article 11. 



ATTACHMENT 2 

Nomination Form
Police Department Representative 

5-Year Position



CITY OF OAKLAND 
1 5 0  F R A N K  H .  O G A W A  P L A Z A ,  S U I T E  3 3 4 9   •  O A K L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A  9 4 6 1 2 - 2 0 2 1

Finance Department     PHONE (510) 238-7295 
Treasury Bureau            FAX (510) 238-7129 
Retirement Unit            CA RELAY 711 

NOTE:  This nomination paper must be signed by 10 retired members of the Oakland Fire Department who are also members 
of the Police and Fire Retirement System.  The person nominated must also be a retired member of the Oakland Fire 
Department and a member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System.  Before filing, the person nominated must sign 
the above statement accepting the nomination and consenting to serve if elected.  Nomination papers must be filed in the 
Office of the City Clerk, One Frank Ogawa Plaza, 2nd floor, Oakland, CA, no later than 5:00 p.m., Wednesday, July 19, 2023 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD NOMINATION FORM 

I/We, the undersigned, am/are a retired member(s) of the Oakland Police Department, and a member(s) of 

the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement Systems.  I/we hereby nominate  , a 

retired member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement Systems, as a candidate for membership on the 

Police and Fire Retirement Board from the retired membership of the Oakland Police Department for the 

term expiring August 31, 2023. 

Name Signature Date 

(please print clearly) 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

I accept the nomination and consent to serve, if elected. 

Signature of Nominee Date 

PRINT NOMINEE NAME HERE 



Attachments: Agenda Item    C3  
(1) Resolution 8078                                                                             PFRS Board Meeting 
(2) Conference Agenda                                                                                  May 31, 2023 

A G E N D A  R E P O R T

TO: Oakland Police and Fire  
Retirement System Board (PFRS) 

FROM:  David F. Jones 
PFRS Plan Administrator & 
Secretary 

SUBJECT:  Authorization and Reimbursement 
of Trustee R. Steven Wilkinson’s 
Travel/Education Expenses 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

R. Steven Wilkinson, Trustee of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board,
requests authorization for reimbursement of travel and/or board education related funds
for the event detailed below. Staff has verified that budgeted funds are available for this
Board Member to be reimbursed.

Staff recommends the reimbursement of travel/education funds for the event below be 
approved by board motion. 

Travel/Education Event: Milken Institute Global Conference 2023 

Event Location: The Beverly Hilton, Beverly Hills, CA 

Event Date: April 30, 2023 – May 3, 2023 

Estimated Event Expense: $3,000.00 

Notes: Prior Approval received from President Walter L. Johnson Sr. 

* If enrollment, registration or admission expenses are required, the fund will process a check 
in advance and pay vendor directly; all other board-approved reimbursements will be made 
upon delivery of receipts to staff by the travelling party.  Cancellation of event attendance 
requires return of all reimbursed funds paid to attendee to the fund.

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement Systems 

For questions please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II, at 510.238.7295 



ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 
8078 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8078 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER SECONDED BY MEMBER

RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE BOARD PRESIDENT’S APPROVAL OF 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM TRUSTEE R. STEVEN 
WILKINSON’S REQUEST TO ATTEND THE MILKEN INSTITUTE GLOBAL 
CONFERENCE FROM APRIL 30, 2023 THROUGH MAY 3, 2023  IN 
BEVERLY HILLS, CA AND AUTHORIZING REIMBURSEMENT OF TRAVEL-
RELATED EXPENSES IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED THREE 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,000.00) 

WHEREAS, the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Education and Travel 

Policy (“Travel Policy”) requires that PFRS Board members and staff obtain prior Board 

approval of all education and travel-related expenses that will be reimburse by PFRS; 

and; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IV(2)(c) of the Travel Policy, the PFRS Board President, in 

consultation with the Plan Administrator, may authorize education and travel expenses 

without prior approval of the Board when prior approval cannot be obtained; and 

WHEREAS, PFRS Trustee Wilkinson attended the Milken Institute Global Conference 

(“the Conference”) in Beverly Hills, CA from April 30, 2023 through May 3, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IV(21)(a) of the Travel Policy Plan PFRS Trustee Wilkinson 

will submit documentation showing costs in an amount not to exceed Three Thousand 

Dollars ($3,000.00) incurred as reimbursable expenses to attend the Conference within 

15 days of the date of his return from the conference; and 

WHEREAS, PFRS Trustee Wilkinson was unable to obtain Board approval prior to 

attending the Conference because he was unable to submit his request prior to the 

agenda posting deadline in time to bring his request to the full board before the 

Conference; and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section IV(2)(c) of the Travel Policy, PFRS Trustee 

Wilkinson obtained written authorization from PFRS Board President Walter L. Johnson, 

Sr. to attend the Conference; now, therefore be it 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8078 

RESOLVED:  That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies the Board President’s approval of PFRS 

Trustee Wilkinson’s request to attend the Milken Institute Global Conference from April 

30, 2023 through May 3, 2023; and be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes reimbursement of the expenses 

PFRS Trustee Wilkinson incurred to attend the Milken Institute Global Conference in an 

amount not to exceed Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000.00). 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  MAY 31, 2023 

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT:
ATTEST:

PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:
SECRETARY



ATTACHMENT 2 

Conference Agenda

Milken Institute
Global Conference

2023



















































Agenda Item    5  
PFRS Audit Committee Meeting 

May 31, 2023 

A G E N D A  R E P O R T

TO: Oakland Police and Fire  
Retirement System Audit & 
Operation Committee 

FROM:  David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 

SUBJECT:  Audit Committee Agenda 
Pending List 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

SUBJECT 
TENTATIVE 
SCHEDULED 
MTG DATE 

STATUS 

1 
Status Report of the Ad Hoc Committee 
regarding Actuarial Funding date of July 1, 
2026 

TBD TBD 

2 
Monitor & Update PFRS Board of Upcoming City 
Council Agendas Regarding Discussion of the 
July 1, 2026 Actuarial Funding Date 

Ongoing Ongoing 

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement Systems 



Page 1 of 3 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 31, 2023 
10:30 AM 

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 1 
OAKLAND, CA  94612 

OBSERVE 

▪ To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link:   
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983 at the noticed meeting time.  

▪ To listen to the meeting by phone, please call the numbers below at the noticed meeting time: 
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):  

▪ iPhone one-tap: US: +16699006833, 82880493983# or +13462487799, 82880493983# 

▪ US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 
6799 or +1 929 205 6099  

▪ International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax 

▪ Webinar ID: 828 8049 3983. 

▪ If asked for a participant ID or code, press #. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There are two ways to submit public comments.  

▪ Speaker Card:  All persons wishing to address the Board must complete a speaker’s card, stating 
their name and the agenda item they wish to address, including “Open Forum”. 

▪ eComment:  To send your comment directly to staff BEFORE the meeting starts, please email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov with “PFRS Board Meeting Public Comment” in the subject line for the 
corresponding meeting.  Please note that eComment submission closes two (2) hours before 
posted meeting time.  

If you have any questions, please email Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II at 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 
 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, California 94612 

 

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

Jaime T. Godfrey 
Chairperson 

R. Steven Wilkinson 
Member 

Robert W. Nichelini 
Member 

 

 

 

*In the event a quorum of the Board 
participates in the Committee meeting, 
the meeting is noticed as a Special 
Meeting of the Board; however, no final 
Board action can be taken.  In the event 
that the Investment Committee does not 
reach quorum, this meeting is noticed as 
an informational meeting between staff 
and the Chair of the Investment 
Committee. 

MEETING of the INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE  
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

Due to the termination of the 
statewide COVID-19 State of 
Emergency by the Governor of 
California, effective March 1, 2023, 
all meetings of the Oakland Police 
& Fire Retirement System Board 
and its Committees will be 
conducted in person. 

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling (510) 
238-7295. or send an email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov AGENDA 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 3 

ORDER OF BUSINESS  

   
1. Subject: POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) INVESTMENT 

AND FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE the March 29, 2023 Investment and Financial Matters  
Committee Meeting Minutes 

   
   

2. Subject: INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE UPDATE – RICE HALL 
JAMES & ASSOCIATES 

 From: Rice Hall James & Associates 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding a firm overview and managerial 
assessment; diversity and inclusion policy and practices; and investment 
strategy and portfolio performance of Rice Hall James & Associates, a 
PFRS’ Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth Investment Strategy 
Manager 

   
   

3. Subject: INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE REVIEW – RICE HALL 
JAMES & ASSOCIATES 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT Meketa Investment Group’s review and evaluation of Rice Hall 
James & Associates, a PFRS Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth 
Investment Strategy Manager, regarding a firm overview and managerial 
assessment; investment portfolio performance; peer ranking, watch 
status update; and recommendation to maintain/terminate the current 
professional services agreement. DISCUSS and RECOMMEND 
BOARD APPROVAL of the Committee’s course of action with regard to 
Rice Hall James & Associates 

   
   

4. Subject: BENCHMARK REVIEW: CRISIS RISK OFFSET INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Crisis Risk Offset 
Investment Strategy Benchmark Review and Meketa’s recommendation 
to update the strategy’s policy benchmark and for the change to be 
reflected in the PFRS Investment Policy Strategy. DISCUSS and 
RECOMMEND BOARD APPROVAL of the Committee’s course of 
action with regard to updating the Credit Risk Offset policy benchmark 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 3 

 

   
5. Subject: INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW AS OF APRIL 30, 2023 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Global Investment Markets 
as of April 30, 2023 

   
   

6. Subject: PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS 
OF APRIL 30, 2023 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Preliminary Investment 
Fund Performance Update as of April 30, 2023 

   
   

7. Subject: INVESTMENT FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS OF 
MARCH 31, 2023 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT the Investment Fund Quarterly Performance Update as of                 
March 31, 2023 

   
   

8. Subject: 2023 ANNUAL DIVERSITY SURVEY RESULTS:  CURRENT PFRS 
INVESTMENT MANAGERS AND ANNUAL INDUSTRY REPORT  

 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the diversity representation of 
current PFRS Investment Managers and across the industry as of 
December 31, 2022 

   
   

9. SCHEDULE OF PENDING INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS 

10. OPEN FORUM 

11. FUTURE SCHEDULING 

12. ADJOURNMENT 



PFRS INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
MARCH 29, 2023 

PAGE 1 OF 3 
  

 

A MEETING OF THE INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE of the Oakland Police and 

Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) was held Wednesday, March 29, 2023 at One Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, 

Hearing Room 1, Oakland, CA. 
 

Committee Members ▪ Jaime T. Godfrey Chairperson (EXCUSED) 
 ▪ Robert W. Nichelini Member  
 ▪ R. Steven Wilkinson  Member and Acting Chairperson 

Additional Attendees ▪ David F. Jones PFRS Secretary & Plan Administrator 
 ▪ Téir Jenkins PFRS Investment & Operations Manager 
 ▪ Maxine Visaya PFRS Staff Member 
 ▪ Selia Warren PFRS Legal Counsel 
 ▪ David Sancewich Meketa Investment Group 
 ▪ Paola Nealon Meketa Investment Group 

The meeting was called to order at 10:34 a.m. Pacific 
 
 

1. APPROVAL OF INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES – 

Memeber Nichelini made a motion to approve the February 22, 2023 Investment & Financial Matters 

Committee Meeting Minutes, as written, second by Acting Chairperson Wilkinson. Motion Passed. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

2. INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE REVIEW – POLEN CAPITAL CREDIT – David 

Sancewich of Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) presented an overview memo regarding a 

performance review, evaluation, and watch status update of Polen Capital Credit (“Polen”), a PFRS 

High Yield Fixed Income Investment Strategy Manager. Acting Chairperson Wilkinson inquired why 

Polen was not in attendance today and D. Sancewich explained this review is to provide a watch status 

update and noted an upcoming agenda item today will address market assumptions and asset 

allocations and if a credit allocation continues to make sense in the portfolio. D. Sancewich advised 

Polen outperformed the benchmark in the latest year-to-date one-year period and Meketa 

recommended taking them off watch status.  Acting Chairperson Wilkinson made inquires to further 

the discussion regarding the organizational changes and if it has benefited the firm. 

MOTION: Acting Chairperson Wilkinson made a motion to accept Maketa’s evaluation of Polen Capital 

Credit and recommendation to remove the firm from Watch Status, second by Member Nichelini. 

Motion passed. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PFRS INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
MARCH 29, 2023 

PAGE 2 OF 3 
  

 

3. INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2023 – Paola Nealon of Meketa 

presented an informational report regarding the Investment Market Overview as of February 28, 2023.  

P. Nealon highlighted Index Returns and current factors impacting outcomes.  

MOTION: Acting Chairperson Wilkinson made a motion to accept the informational report presented 

by Meketa regarding the Investment Market Overview as of February 28, 2023 and forward to the 

Board, second by Member Nichelini. Motion passed. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

4. PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2023 – Paola 

Nealon of Meketa presented an informational report regarding the Preliminary Investment 

Performance Update as of February 28, 2023.  P. Nealon highlighted Allocation vs. Targets and 

Policy and the Asset Class Performance Summary and current factors impacting outcomes. 

MOTION:  Acting Chairperson Wilkinson made a motion to accept the informational report presented 

by Meketa regarding the Preliminary Investment Performance Update as of February 28, 2023, 

second by Member Nichelini. Motion passed. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 
(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

5. $14.2 MILLION DRAWDOWN FOR MEMBER RETIREMENT ALLOWANCES (FISCAL YEAR 

2022/2023; QUARTER ENDING JUNE 30, 2023) – David Sancewich of Meketa presented an 

informational report and recommendation for a $14.2 million drawdown; which includes an $8.2 Million 

contribution from the City of Oakland and a $6.0 Million contribution from the PFRS Investment Fund, 

to be used to pay the April 1, 2023 through June 30, 2023 Member Retirement Allowances and PFRS 

contribution be drawn from the Earnest Partners portfolio. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept Meketa’s recommendation regarding the $14.2 

Million drawdown and PFRS contribution be drawn from the Earnest Partners portfolio and forward to 

the Board for approval, second by Acting Chairperson Wilkinson. Motion passed. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 
(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

6. 2023 10-YEAR CAPITAL MARKET ASSUMPTIONS REVIEW – David Sancewich of Meketa 

presented an informational report regarding Investment Return Expectations and 2023 10-year 

Capital Market Assumptions.  D. Sancewich noted PFRS has a declining membership, and as we 

move closer to the 2026 Actuarial Funding Date PFRS no longer needs to take on as much risk to 

meet the return expectation and will work to move assets into safer exposures.  

MOTION: Acting Chairperson Wilkinson made a motion to accept the informational report presented 

by Meketa regarding Investment Return Expectations and 2023 10-year Capital Market Assumptions 

Review, second by Member Nichelini. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 
(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 



PFRS INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
MARCH 29, 2023 

PAGE 3 OF 3 
  

 

7. SCHEDULE OF PENDING INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS – David 

Sancewich presented Meketa’s 2023 Strategic Investment Agenda Plan for discussion and noted 

benchmark reviews for Credit and Credit Risk Offset are not shown here, but we will work with staff to 

bring these items forward in the coming months. No other changes or additions were proposed. 

8. OPEN FORUM – No Report 

9. FUTURE SCHEDULING – The next Investment Committee Meeting will be held in-person and is 

tentatively scheduled to occur April 26, 2023. 

10. ADJOURNMENT – Member Nichelini made a motion to adjourn, second by Acting Chairperson 

Wilkinson. Motion passed. 

[GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 
(AYES: 2 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / EXCUSED: 1) 

 

The meeting adjourned at 11:23 a.m. Pacific 
 
 
 
 

 

                                 R. STEVEN WILKINSON                                                                         DATE 
                      ACTING COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSON 





1Assets include assets under management and advisory-only assets.  Advisory-only assets are client assets for which RHJ provides investment management services; they are non-managed assets.

1



Diversity Representation Survey for Oakland Police and Fire
DATA AS OF 04/30/2023

Firm Name Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC

Product Name RHJ Small Cap Opportunities

Total Number of Employees 27

Percentage (%) of Board of Directors / 

Managing Members

Percentage(%) of Firm 

(Entire Staff)

Percentage (%) of Firm

(Investment Professionals)

Race and Ethnicity*

African American/Black 0% 0%** 0%**

Asian/Hawaiian/Pacific Islander 17% 7% 0%

Latino/Hispanic 0% 4% 0%

White 83% 85% 93%

American Indian/Alaska Native 0% 4% 7%

Other 0% 0% 0%

Gender

Male 67% 70% 80%

Female 33% 30% 20%

Non-Identified/Other 0% 0% 0%

* Racial/ethnic categories appear as defined by EEOC guidance.

**Does not include RHJ DEI Opportunities Internship Program.



































Past performance does not guarantee future results. Returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. For performance calculation purposes, the portfolio’s

inception date is July 31, 2017. Indices are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of

this presentation regarding the returns and index shown above.

Source: FactSet*Annualized



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

City of Oakland Russell 2000 Growth Attribution Analysis

GICS Sector

Avg.

Port. Wt.

Port.

Return

Port. 

Contrib.

Avg.

Bmrk. Wt.

Bmrk. 

Return

Bmrk. 

Contrib.

Alloc. 

Effect

Select 

Effect

Total 

Effect

Total 100.00 7.78 7.78 100.00 4.84 4.84 1.59 1.35 2.94

Communication Services 9.99 21.80 2.05 2.46 11.95 0.29 0.49 0.91 1.40

Energy -- -- -- 6.82 -8.36 -0.57 0.97 -- 0.97

Industrials 15.47 11.84 1.64 18.36 5.56 0.92 -0.06 0.99 0.93

Consumer Discretionary 12.08 16.38 1.75 11.35 11.63 1.21 0.10 0.48 0.59

Financials 8.02 7.70 0.50 5.87 0.74 0.04 -0.05 0.52 0.47

Real Estate -- -- -- 2.15 -3.43 -0.06 0.18 -- 0.18

Information Technology 20.85 2.76 0.78 19.87 1.91 0.41 -0.02 0.16 0.14

Utilities -- -- -- 1.71 0.04 0.02 0.09 -- 0.09

[Cash] 3.79 1.53 0.06 -- -- -- -0.03 -- -0.03

Materials 2.37 1.85 0.02 4.63 5.86 0.27 -0.01 -0.11 -0.12

Consumer Staples 1.36 -19.22 -0.21 4.49 9.90 0.44 -0.26 -0.38 -0.63

Health Care 26.07 3.62 1.19 22.29 8.20 1.87 0.17 -1.23 -1.06

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

City of Oakland Russell 2000 Growth Attribution Analysis

GICS Sector

Avg.

Port. Wt.

Port.

Return

Port. 

Contrib.

Avg.

Bmrk. Wt.

Bmrk. 

Return

Bmrk. 

Contrib.

Alloc. 

Effect

Select 

Effect

Total 

Effect

Total 100.00 2.09 2.09 100.00 0.72 0.72 0.19 1.17 1.36

Financials 7.65 23.84 1.42 6.10 -4.81 -0.35 -0.05 1.93 1.89

Health Care 25.45 18.26 4.97 23.01 11.32 3.11 0.21 1.37 1.57

Communication Services 9.12 12.29 1.31 2.48 -8.55 -0.21 -0.50 1.89 1.39

Real Estate -- -- -- 2.31 -28.49 -0.86 0.85 -- 0.85

Industrials 15.07 8.27 1.00 17.80 5.28 0.70 -0.12 0.46 0.34

Materials 2.25 19.77 0.31 4.39 3.97 0.11 -0.05 0.29 0.24

[Cash] 3.49 3.41 0.12 -- -- -- 0.17 -- 0.17

Consumer Discretionary 13.08 0.85 -0.10 11.54 1.27 -0.26 0.11 0.00 0.11

Utilities -- -- -- 1.54 4.49 0.00 0.07 -- 0.07

Energy -- -- -- 6.33 -1.30 -0.10 0.04 -- 0.04

Telecommunication Services -- -- -- 0.10 5.16 0.03 -0.02 -- -0.02

Consumer Staples 2.43 -45.80 -1.43 4.45 15.46 0.72 -0.32 -1.78 -2.10

Information Technology 21.45 -21.67 -5.51 19.95 -10.50 -2.18 -0.18 -2.99 -3.17

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.







¹ 5-year Earnings Per Share (EPS) growth, compounded annually.

² ROIC = Return on Invested Capital.

Relative performance compares individual Russell® 2000 constituent performance vs. an equal-weighted index (Russell 2000) return. Only the Russell 2000 constituents

(as of 12/31/2021) with 5 years of measurable history (EPS, ROIC and Performance) were used in the study. The index return is calculated using the combined equal-

weighted 5 year return of these Russell 2000 constituents as of 12/31/2021. The Russell® 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap segment of the U.S.

equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index is a subset of the Russell 3000® Index representing approximately 10% of the total market capitalization of that index. It includes

approximately 2000 of the smallest securities based on a combination of their market cap and current index membership. The Russell 2000 is constructed to provide a

comprehensive and unbiased small-cap barometer and is completely reconstituted annually to ensure larger stocks do not distort the performance and characteristics of

the true small-cap opportunity set. The index is calculated on a total-return basis with dividends reinvested. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this

presentation.

.

Sources: FactSet & FTSE Russell



























































►

ROIC = Return on Invested Capital, EV/EBITDA = Enterprise Value to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, & Amortization.  Please refer to 

disclosures at the end of this presentation for complete definitions.



►



































►





















The above is provided for informational purposes only and should not be considered investment advice or a recommendation to buy or sell any securities. Holdings are subject to change

at any time and are based on a model portfolio. Holdings of individual client accounts may differ from those shown above. Sector weightings may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

The sectors referenced herein are determined based on the Global Industry Classification Standard (“GICS”) methodology. A complete list of portfolio holdings and specific securities

transactions for the preceding 12 months is available upon request. It should not be assumed that recommendations made in the future will be profitable or will equal the performance of

securities in this article. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC, or one or more of its officers, may have a position in the securities discussed herein and may purchase or sell such

securities from time to time. Please refer to the important information at the end of this presentation for additional sector information.

Sources: FactSet & S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC



Sector weightings and market capitalizations are subject to change at any time and are based on a model portfolio. Sector weightings and market capitalizations

of individual client portfolios in the strategy may differ from those shown above. Sector weightings and market capitalization ranges may not add up to 100% due to

rounding. Please see important disclosure information at the end of this presentation regarding the index and sector classifications shown above.

Sources: FactSet & GICS Sector Classification



*P/E Ratio calculation excludes companies with negative earnings.

Portfolio characteristics are subject to change at any time and are based on a model portfolio. Portfolio characteristics of individual client portfolios in the strategy

may differ from those shown above. Please see important disclosure information at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.

Source: FactSet



*Annualized

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Composite returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. Please refer to important disclosures at the end

of this presentation regarding the returns and index shown above.

Source: FactSet



Past performance does not guarantee future results. Composite returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. RHJ’s GIPS Report is located at the end of this

presentation as well as other important disclosure information regarding the returns and index shown above.

Source: FTSE Russell















Sources: eVestment Analytics & FactSet



Index Definition Source: FTSE Russell

Source: S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC

Source: CFA Institute



N/A1 - Information is not statistically meaningful due to an insufficient number of portfolios in the composite for the entire calendar year (five or fewer).

*Results shown for the year 1994 represent partial period performance from October 10 through December 31, 1994.



N/A1 - Performance presented prior to September 30, 2008, occurred while the portfolio management team was affiliated with another firm. Firm and strategy assets 

prior to 2008 are not presented because the composite was not part of the firm.

*Assets Under Management + Advisory-Only Assets totals may differ from Total Assets Under Management and Total Advisory-Only Assets due to rounding.



The RHJ Small Cap Opportunities Composite contains all fully discretionary, tax-exempt, institutional, and high net worth portfolios invested in small cap companies that have three primary

characteristics: high earnings growth, high or improving return-on-invested capital, and sustainable competitive advantages. The composite was created on April 1, 1999, and the inception date is

October 10, 1994. The performance presented prior to October 1, 2008, represents that of a prior firm and was known as the Small Cap Growth Institutional Composite. The portfolio management

team members were the only individuals responsible for selecting securities to buy and sell. The minimum account size for this composite is $1 million. From January 1, 1996 to March 31, 2004,

the minimum account size was $5 million. Prior to January 1, 1996, there was no minimum. For comparison purposes the composite is measured against the Russell 2000 Growth index.

Results are based on fully discretionary accounts under management, including those accounts no longer with the firm. As of January 1, 2005, composite policy requires the temporary removal of

any portfolios incurring a client initiated significant cash inflow or outflow of 50% or greater of portfolio assets. The temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the month in

which the significant cash flow occurs and the account re-enters the composite the month after the cash flow is fully invested. From January 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006, the temporary removal of

such an account occurred at the beginning of the month in which the significant cash flow occurred and the account is re-entered into the composite the month after the cash flow. From July 1,

2006 to September 30, 2008, the temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the quarter in which the significant cash flow occurs and the account re-enters the composite

the second calendar quarter after the cash flow. As of September 30, 2008, the temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the month in which the significant cash flow

occurred and the account is re-entered into the composite the month after the cash flow. Additional information regarding the treatment of significant cash flows is available upon request. Past

performance is not indicative of future results.

Founded in 1974, Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC is an SEC registered investment adviser. The firm is 100% employee owned.

The U.S. Dollar is the currency used to express performance. Returns are presented gross and net of management fees, and include the reinvestment of all income. Net of fee performance was

calculated using actual management fees. The annual composite dispersion presented is an asset-weighted standard deviation calculated for the gross returns of accounts in the composite the

entire year. Additional information regarding policies for valuing investments, calculating performance, and preparing GIPS Reports are available upon request. The firm maintains a complete list

of pooled funds and composite descriptions, which is available upon request.

Indices are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and other

characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends, and do not reflect transaction costs,

management, or other fees. The Russell 2000® Growth Index measures the performance of the small-cap growth segment of the U.S. equity universe. It includes those Russell 2000 companies

with higher price-to-value ratios and higher forecasted growth values. The Russell 2000 Growth Index is constructed to provide a comprehensive and unbiased barometer for the small-cap growth

segment. The Index is completely reconstituted annually to ensure larger stocks do not distort the performance and characteristics of the true small-cap opportunity set and that the represented

companies continue to reflect growth characteristics.

The management fee schedule is as follows: 1.0% flat rate. Actual investment advisory fees incurred by clients may vary. This composite does not include any non-fee paying accounts.

Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC claims compliance with the Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS®) and has prepared and presented this report in compliance with the GIPS

standards. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC has been independently verified for the periods January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. A firm that claims compliance with the GIPS

standards must establish policies and procedures for complying with all the applicable requirements of the GIPS standards. Verification provides assurance on whether the firm's policies and

procedures related to composite and pooled fund maintenance, as well as the calculation, presentation, and distribution of performance, have been designed in compliance with the GIPS

standards and have been implemented on a firm-wide basis. The RHJ Small Cap Opportunities Composite has had a performance examination for the periods October 1, 2008 through

December 31, 2021. The verification and performance examination reports are available upon request at the following address: 600 West Broadway, Suite 1000, San Diego, California 92101.

GIPS® is a registered trademark of CFA Institute. CFA Institute does not endorse or promote this organization, nor does it warrant the accuracy or quality of the content contained herein.

Index Definition Source: FTSE Russell



 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  Rice Hall James—Manager Update 

 

Manager: Rice Hall James 

Inception Date:  July 2017 OPFRS AUM (4/30/2023): $14.3 million 

Strategy:  Small Cap Opportunities Firm-wide AUM (3/31/2023):  $1.8 billion 

Benchmark:   Russell 2000 Growth Strategy AUM (3/31/2023): $1.0 billion 

Summary & Recommendation 

Rice Hall James has managed a part of OPFRS’s small cap equity portfolio since July 2017. As of 

4/30/2023, the portfolio is approximately $14.3 million or about 3.5% of OPFRS’s total plan.  

The strategy was put on the Watch status in May 2019 for performance concerns, as Rice Hall James 

experienced poor relative performance in 2019 and 2020.  

As of the last review in October 2022 and thereafter, Rice Hall James has performed within expectations 

and guidelines for the portfolio. No major organizational changes or personnel turnover in the portfolio 

management team have been observed since the last review.  

Therefore, from investment management process and performance perspective, Meketa does not have any 

major concerns with Rice Hall James and the Small Cap Opportunities strategy, and recommends that it 

be removed from the Watch status. 

Investment Performance Review Summary 

As of 4/30/2023, Rice Hall James’s Small Cap Opportunities strategy has outperformed the benchmark 

Russell 2000 Growth Index on gross-of-fees basis over all the trailing time periods measured. On 

net-of-fees basis, the strategy outperformed the benchmark across all periods except in the trailing 

5-year period, where it slightly underperformed. Since inception in July 2017, the strategy has 

generated an annualized net-of-fees investment return of 6.0% and has outperformed the benchmark. 

In comparison with the other US small cap growth managers, the portfolio ranks in the first quartile 

year-to-date (through April) and above the 1- and 3-year trailing periods. Reflecting the past 

underperformance in 2019 and 2020, the strategy ranks below average for the longer time periods, 

namely the 5-year trailing period and since inception in July 2017.  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 2 of 5 

 

OPFRS Portfolio Annualized Returns (as of 4/30/2023) 1 

Portfolio 

Market Value 

($000) YTD 1 YR 3 YR 5 YR 

Since 

Inception 

Inception 

Date 

Rice Hall James (Gross) 14,336 7.8 2.0 11.5 4.8 7.1 7/2017 

Russell 2000 Growth --- 4.8 0.7 7.8 4.0 5.7 --- 

Excess Return (Gross) --- 3.0 1.3 3.7 0.8 1.4 --- 

Rice Hall James (Net) --- 7.4 0.9 10.4 3.7 6.0 --- 

Russell 2000 Growth --- 4.8 0.7 7.8 4.0 5.7 --- 

Excess Return (Net) --- 2.6 0.2 2.6 (0.3) 0.3 --- 

Peer Group Ranking2 --- 20 32 48 91 88 --- 

Reference: Median Net Return --- 4.4 (2.3) 10.0 7.9 9.3  

Product and Organization Review Summary 

Rice Hall James  Areas of Potential Impact 

 
Level of 

Concern 

Investment 

process 

(Client 

Portfolio) 

Investment 

Team 

Performance Track 

Record 

Team/ 

Firm 

Culture 

Product      

Key people changes None     

Changes to team 

structure/individuals’ roles 
None     

Product client gain/losses None     

Changes to the investment 

process 
None     

Personnel turnover None     

Organization      

Ownership changes None     

Key people changes None     

Firm wide client gain/losses None     

Recommended Action None - X  Watch Status Termination 

A review of Rice Hall James and the Small Cap Opportunities strategy revealed no concerning 

organizational issues or changes since last review in October 2022. 

  

 
1 Performance is annualized for periods longer than one year. 
2 Peer group is eVestment US Small Cap Growth Equity Managers Net. 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 3 of 5 

 

Investment Philosophy & Process, per Manager 

The Small Cap Opportunities strategy employs a fundamental, bottom-up analytical process to identify 

companies that meet three primary criteria: high earnings growth, high or improving 

return-on-invested capital (“ROIC”), and sustainable competitive advantages.  

RHJ’s philosophy is rooted in historical analysis indicating the high relative return potential of these 

factors in combination. They believe that superior results can be achieved by owning companies that 

exhibit not only high earnings growth, but also the ability to sustainably generate high ROIC over long 

periods of time. RHJ’s investment universe consists of companies with market capitalizations between 

$100 million and $4 billion at the time of purchase. 

The heart of RHJ’s process is fundamental, bottom-up analysis at the company level. The portfolio 

managers conduct all research on every company held in the portfolio. As generalists, each with over 

twenty years of investment experience, both portfolio managers bring to bear extensive knowledge of 

the companies they own or follow, understanding of industries, and general expertise on the small cap 

landscape in various market environments. Cornerstones of the bottom-up fundamental investment 

process include: 

→ Clear understanding of a firm’s competitive context and advantages 

→ Assessment of the sustainability characteristics of the underlying business 

→ Emphasis on high or improving ROIC; a clear sense of the future direction of ROIC 

→ Estimation of ability to generate and grow free cash flow over life of the investment 

→ Valuation that affords a reasonable return over investment horizon 

→ Scrutiny of company management, ability to identify/ execute on the right plan 

Idea generation begins with an analysis of companies within the FactSet universe with market caps 

ranging from $100 million to $4 billion, with an emphasis on growth-oriented industries comprised of 

companies that feature high earnings growth and high ROIC criteria. Health Care, Technology, and 

Consumer traditionally have been rich with such companies. They also look for new or emerging 

industries that can support high growth companies going forward. While these types of investments 

typically carry more risk, certain areas of the internet and biotechnology, for example, management 

believes they can create space for attractive long-term growth characteristics. 

Finally, RHJ looks for catalysts within industries that are not typically associated with growth 

characteristics, seeking to capitalize on tactical growth opportunities that arise due to demographic, 

regulatory and supply/demand issues. Cyclical industries can provide the landscape for attractive 

growth opportunities to crop up due to such changes. 

  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 4 of 5 

 

Investment Philosophy & Process, per Manager (continued) 

At the company level, RHJ focuses on businesses that can generate above-average earnings and free 

cash flow relative to the benchmark. Management favors companies that they believe can achieve 

these results in tandem with sustained high ROIC, or that can increase their returns to above-average 

levels over the relevant investment horizon. It is essential that a company can protect these attributes 

through a well-defined, competitive position, which will protect growth, margins and returns.  

Since strong relative results tend to manifest over longer holding periods, RHJ focuses on long-term 

sustainability factors rather than short-term data points and market movements; as such, low turnover 

is a notable characteristic of the portfolio. 

DS/PN/JLC/mn  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 5 of 5 

 

Disclosure 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED 

RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND 

THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. ANY OPINIONS OR 

RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF 

THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK. THERE 

CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE 

SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, 

CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN 

PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN.   

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING 

STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” 

“SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” 

OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 

TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, 

OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY 

ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 

DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS 

PRESENTATION.  

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE 

IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS. 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) Asset Class Benchmark Update 

 

Background 

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) adopted the Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) asset 

class as part of the asset allocation policy in 2017. This asset class serves to diversify both the equity 

risk and nominal interest rate risk of the total portfolio. Thus, it is structured as a combination of multiple 

underlying components, so that the aggregate class exhibits uncorrelated returns and characteristics. 

In the OPFRS portfolio, this class is implemented with a mix of Long Duration fixed income, Systematic 

Trend Following, and Alternative Risk Premia elements, each having one-third of the total CRO assets 

as the allocation target. 

Current & Recommended Benchmarks 

In the latest revision of the Investment Policy Statement (IPS) in March 2022, Société Générale (SG) 

Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index was established as the benchmark for the CRO asset class as all of 

its underlying components had not been fully implemented. 

Since then, the CRO asset class has been fully implemented with all three components. Thus, we 

recommend that the asset class benchmark for CRO is updated as the following to better reflect its 

components and measure the asset class’s performance against its intended purpose: 33.34% SG 

Trend Index, 33.33% Bloomberg US Gov Long Index, and 33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia 

Index. 

We also recommend that the recommended benchmark be retroactively applied to the CRO asset class 

starting January 1, 2023. 

 2023 Q1 1 Year 3 Years 

Crisis Risk Offset 0.0 -6.5 -8.7 

Current Benchmark 1.1 6.4 2.1 

Recommended Benchmark 0.1 5.3 1.7 

In the following pages, the sections of the IPS (Revised March 2022) which will be updated upon 

adoption of this recommendation are presented in a red-lined version. 



INVESTMENT POLICY Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 

- 10 - 

E. ASSET ALLOCATION 

1) Asset Classes to be Used 

The Board has considered and adopted the use of three significant asset classes: 

a) Domestic Stocks, 

b) International Stocks, and 

c) Fixed Income instruments to include: U.S. Treasury Notes and Bonds, U.S. Government 

Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities*, U.S. Corporate Notes and Bonds, Collateralized 

Mortgage Obligations, Yankee Bonds, High Yield Bonds/Bank Loans, and Non-U.S. 

issued fixed income securities denominated in foreign currencies 

There will be a negligible permanent allocation to cash equivalents.  

2) Long-Term Target Allocations 

In March 1996, Oakland voters passed Measure E which amended Article XXVI, Section 2601(e) 

of the Oakland City Charter to increase the percentage of the invested funds of the System that 

may be invested in common stocks and mutual funds from forty percent (40%) to fifty percent 

(50%). 

In November 2006, Oakland voters passed Measure M which further amended Article XXVI of 

the Oakland City Charter to allow the OPFRS Board to make investments solely in accordance 

with the prudent person standard as required by the California Constitution, Article XVI, Section 

17 (a). 

Long-Term Asset class targets as adopted by the Board in 4Q 2017 are as follows: 

Investment Class 

Phase 1 
Interim Policy 

Targets (%) 

Phase 2 
Long-Term 

Policy 
Targets (%) 

Benchmark 

Domestic Equity 40 40 Russell 3000 Index 

International Equity 12 12 MSCI ACWI ex US Index 

Fixed Income 31 21 Bloomberg US Universal Index 

Credit 2 2 Bloomberg US High Yield Index 

Covered Calls 5 5 
CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index 
(BXM) 

Crisis Risk Offset 10 20 

33.34% SG Trend Index, 33.33% 
Bloomberg US Gov Long Index, 
33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk 
Premia Index SG Multi Alternative Risk 
Premia Index 

Cash 0 0 90-day T-Bills 

 

* Includes Non-Agency issues, which are fully collateralized by Agency paper. 



INVESTMENT POLICY Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 

- 15 - 

F. PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES 

1) Overall Investment Goal 

The overall investment goal of the retirement system is to generate a long-term oriented rate of return 

for the total portfolio that equals or exceeds the actuarial investment rate assumption. This objective 

will primarily emanate from the overall asset allocation policy of the Plan. The Board will maintain a 

long-term investment horizon and will monitor on a routine periodic basis the investment performance 

of the total fund, various asset classes, and investment managers (see Monitoring Procedures).  

2) Performance Benchmarks and Targets for the Total Fund and Fund Asset Classes 

Total Fund performance is evaluated against two benchmarks: (i) a Policy Index (a weighted 

average of performance using policy targets by asset class), and (ii) an Asset Allocation Index (a 

weighted average of performance using actual allocations by asset class). By doing so, the Board 

is able to determine whether Fund performance is due to active decisions by its investment 

managers and/or differences between the target policy allocation and actual asset allocation. 

In addition, the Board will compare performance of each asset class against a benchmark that 

has characteristics representative of a broad market and indicative of the investment managers 

comprising that asset class.  

Asset Class Benchmark* 

Domestic Equity Russell 3000 Index 

International Equity MSCI ACWI ex US Index 

Fixed Income Bloomberg US Universal Bond Index 

Credit Bloomberg US High Yield Index 

Covered Calls CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index (BXM) 

Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) 

33.34% SG Trend Index, 33.33% Bloomberg 

US Gov Long Index, 33.33% SG Multi 

Alternative Risk Premia Index SG Multi 

Alternative Risk Premia Index 

 

* Reported asset class benchmark returns may contain results of prior benchmarks (a blended benchmark) 



INVESTMENT POLICY Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 

- 35 - 

M. CRISIS RISK OFFSET (CRO) AND PORTFOLIO COMPONENT DEFINITIONS 

In accordance with the objectives of the Statement of Investment Policy and Procedures of the 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (the “System” or “OPFRS”), the System has created 

a CRO strategic class. The role of the CRO class is to mitigate the effects of growth risk on the 

portfolio by focusing on investment strategies that further enhance asset diversification within the 

portfolio with strategies that exhibit lower correlations with equities and fixed income.  

This class can include investments in commingled funds, interests in the following categories:  

• Long Duration Treasury Bonds 

• Systematic Trend Following 

• Alternative Risk Premia  

1) Objective 

The CRO Class is to be structured as a combination of multiple underlying assets and/or vehicles, 

so that the aggregate class exhibits uncorrelated returns and characteristics. The objective of this 

class is to diversify both the equity risk and nominal interest rate risk of the total portfolio.  

2) Benchmark 

Performance of the CRO asset class is measured against the SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia 

Index.a custom benchmark composed of 33.34% SG Trend Index, 33.33% Bloomberg US Gov 

Long Index, and 33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index. 

3) Eligible Investment Approaches 

a) Long Duration 

i) Portfolios of long-dated (maturities in excess of 10 years) high-quality bonds 

(Treasuries and Government-backed high-quality agencies). 

ii) Portfolios of cash-collateralized derivatives that mirror the performance of long-dated 

high-quality bonds. 

b) Systematic Trend Following 

i) Long-short portfolios using both cash and derivatives-based instruments to capture 

both periodic appreciation and periodic depreciation trends that evolve and dissipate 

across a very wide array of liquid global markets. Risk/volatility is calibrated to a pre-

determined level using cash and derivatives-based leverage. 

c) Alternative Risk Premia 

i) Long-short portfolios using both cash and derivatives-based instruments to capture 

well-researched/documented non-market risk premia (e.g., momentum, carry, value, 

low-volatility, etc.) on a continuous basis, using an array of liquid global markets. 

Risk/volatility is calibrated to a pre-determined level using cash and derivatives-based 

leverage. 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

April 2023 Report 

 

Economic and Market Update 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Commentary 

→ Most asset classes added to first quarter gains in April as investors remained focused on slowing inflation and a 

potential end to rate hikes.  

• The Fed increased interest rates for the tenth time after month-end, to a range of 5.0% - 5.25%, with this action 

largely expected to be their final hike. 

• Political struggles over the debt ceiling led to a significant increase in short-term rates and a historically high 

price of the cost to insure against defaults on US Treasuries. 

• US equity markets (Russell 3000) rose in April (+1.1%) adding to YTD gains (+8.3%). Some of the largest 

technology names drove positive results, with lingering issues in the banking sector (e.g., First Republic) 

weighing on parts of the equity markets. 

• Non-US developed equity markets also rallied in April (MSCI EAFE +2.8%) extending the outperformance 

relative to the US so far in 2023 (+11.5% versus +8.3%). 

• Emerging market equities fell in April (-1.1%) driven by declines in China (-5.2%). They significantly trail 

developed market equities YTD returning +2.8% partly due to higher US-China tensions. 

• After a strong March driven by the issues in the banking sector, bonds had more subdued gains in April, with 

the broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) gaining 0.6% for the month. 

→ This year, the path of inflation and monetary policy, slowing global growth, and the war in Ukraine, as well as 

recent pressures in regional banks and the looming debt ceiling breach in the US, will all be key.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

11.5%

9.2%

8.8%

8.3%

6.1%

4.6%

3.6%

3.5%

3.5%

2.8%

2.4%

0.9%

-6.1%

MSCI EAFE

S&P 500

MSCI ACWI

Russell 3000

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Bloomberg High Yield

Bloomberg Aggregate

FTSE NAREIT Equity

Bloomberg US TIPS

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Russell 2000

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Index Returns1 

→ After a particularly difficult 2022, most public market assets are up in 2023, building on gains from the 

fourth quarter of last year. 

→ Risk sentiment has been supported by expectations that policy tightening could be ending soon, as inflation 

continues to fall and growth has slowed. 

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg and FactSet. Data is as of April 30, 2023. 

2022                                                                                    YTD 

 
16.1%

-2.7%

-11.2%

-11.7%

-11.8%

-13.0%

-14.5%

-18.1%

-18.4%

-19.2%

-20.1%

-20.4%

-24.4%

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Bloomberg High Yield

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Aggregate

MSCI EAFE

S&P 500

MSCI ACWI

Russell 3000

MSCI Emerging Markets

Russell 2000

FTSE NAREIT Equity



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Domestic Equity Returns1 

Domestic Equity 

April 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

S&P 500 1.6 7.5 9.2 2.7 14.5 11.4 12.2 

Russell 3000 1.1 7.2 8.3 1.5 14.1 10.6 11.7 

Russell 1000 1.2 7.5 8.8 1.8 14.2 11.1 12.0 

Russell 1000 Growth 1.0 14.4 15.5 2.3 13.6 13.8 14.5 

Russell 1000 Value 1.5 1.0 2.5 1.2 14.4 7.7 9.1 

Russell MidCap -0.5 4.1 3.5 -1.7 13.8 8.0 9.9 

Russell MidCap Growth -1.4 9.1 7.6 1.6 9.2 9.0 10.8 

Russell MidCap Value 0.0 1.3 1.3 -3.5 15.8 6.4 8.7 

Russell 2000 -1.8 2.7 0.9 -3.6 11.9 4.1 7.9 

Russell 2000 Growth -1.2 6.1 4.8 0.7 7.8 4.0 8.4 

Russell 2000 Value -2.5 -0.7 -3.1 -8.0 15.5 3.7 7.0 

US Equities: Russell 3000 Index rose 1.1% in April and 8.3% YTD.   

→ US stocks rose in April as optimism over the Fed potentially ending its rate hiking campaign was mitigated by 
lingering concerns in the banking sector and slowing growth. Year-to-date gains in the US equity market remain 
strong though. 

→ Most sectors in the Russell 3000 index rose during the month, led by consumer staples and communication 
services. Growth stocks have significantly outperformed value stocks across the market capitalization spectrum 
this year, particularly in the large cap space due to technology stocks.   

→ The resurgence of large cap technology stocks is also driving the outperformance of the large cap indices versus 
the small cap indices. Weakness in the performance of small cap bank stocks is also contributing to results.    

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Foreign Equity Returns1 

Foreign Equity 

April 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

MSCI ACWI ex. US 1.7 6.9 8.7 3.0 9.8 2.5 4.0 

MSCI EAFE 2.8 8.5 11.5 8.4 11.7 3.6 4.8 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) 2.3 7.5 9.9 7.7 13.5 5.8 7.1 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap 2.0 4.9 7.0 -1.2 9.2 1.0 5.7 

MSCI Emerging Markets -1.1 4.0 2.8 -6.5 4.3 -1.0 1.8 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) -0.7 3.8 3.1 -3.9 5.5 1.5 5.0 

MSCI China -5.2 4.7 -0.7 -5.8 -6.3 -5.0 2.7 

Foreign Equity: Developed international equities (MSCI EAFE) rose 2.8% in April and 11.5% YTD. Emerging market 

equities (MSCI EM) fell -1.1%. for the month but rose 2.8% YTD.  

→ Non-US equities had mixed results in April with developed markets (MSCI EAFE) gaining and outpacing 

US equities (2.8% versus 1.1%) for the month, while emerging markets (MSCI Emerging Markets) were the one 

area that declined (-1.1%). 

→ Developed market equity gains were broad-based across European sectors, while financials and energy were 

strong in the UK. In Japan, further weakness in the yen continued to boost market sentiment. 

→ The decline in emerging market equities (-1.1%) was driven largely by China (-5.2%). An escalation in US-China 

tensions and mixed results from the reopening of their economy weighed on shares. Taiwan also experienced 

marked declines over geopolitical concerns and weakness in semiconductors, while India was a bright spot.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 

April 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

Current 

Yield 

(%) 

Duration 

(Years) 

Bloomberg Universal 0.6 2.9 3.6 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.8 6.3 

Bloomberg Aggregate 0.6 3.0 3.6 -0.4 -3.2 1.2 1.3 4.4 6.5 

Bloomberg US TIPS 0.1 3.3 3.5 -4.0 0.9 3.0 1.4 4.0 7.0 

Bloomberg Short-term TIPS 0.2 2.2 2.4 -0.1 3.1 3.0 1.6 4.6 2.6 

Bloomberg High Yield 1.0 3.6 4.6 1.2 4.7 3.3 4.0 8.5 4.2 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD) 0.9 5.2 6.1 6.6 -0.1 -1.6 -1.8 7.0 5.0 

Fixed Income: The Bloomberg Universal rose 0.6% in April and 3.6% YTD as global sovereign debt yields generally 

declined for major economies.    

→ As issues in the banking sector from March eased, the US bond market had a calm April, with interest rates, 

outside of the very shortest maturities, remaining stable.  

→ The TIPS index and short-term TIPS index had gains for the month but trailed the broad US bond market 

(Bloomberg Aggregate). 

→ High yield bonds (+1.0%) had the best results for the month as they particularly benefited from support for the 

banking sector. 

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. JPM GBI-EM data is from InvestorForce. Data is as of April 30, 2023. The yield and duration data from Bloomberg is defined as the index’s yield to worst and modified duration respectively. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

 
 

→ Volatility in equities (VIX) continued to decline in April, reaching levels not seen since late 2021 as investors 

anticipate the end of the Fed’s policy tightening.  

→ In comparison, the bond market remains on edge after last year’s historic losses and continued volatility in 

interest rates this year due to policy uncertainty and issues in the banking sector. The MOVE (fixed income 

volatility) remains well above its long-run average, but off its recent peak during the heart of the banking crises. 

  

 
1 Equity and Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income markets. Data is as of April 2023. The average line 

indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and April 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

→ After its dramatic decline last year the US equity price-to-earnings ratio remains above its long-run (21st century) 

average. 

→ International developed market valuations are slightly below their own long-term average, with those for 

emerging markets the lowest and well under the long-term average. 

  

 
1 US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically Adjusted P/E – Source: MSCI and 

Bloomberg. Earnings figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of April 2023. The average line is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from December 1999 to the 
recent month-end respectively.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Yield Curve1 

 

→ Interest rates have declined this year for maturities two years and beyond, given expectations for peaking policy, 

while the rates on the very shortest maturities increased due to debt ceiling concerns.  

→ During April, interest rates at the very front-end of the yield curve rose significantly as the debt ceiling debate 

continued while other maturities remained largely flat.  

→ After hitting -1.07% in early March, the yield spread between two-year and ten-year Treasuries finished the month 

largely unchanged at -0.59%. The more closely watched measure (by the Fed) of three-month and ten-year 

Treasuries remained inverted. Inversions in the yield curve have often preceded recessions.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

12/31/2021 12/30/2022 4/30/2023



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

→ Inflation continued to decline in April, with the year-over-year reading falling from 5.0% to 4.9% (slightly below 

expectations). The month-over-month rate of price increases was 0.4% (matching expectations), with food prices 

remaining flat, energy prices slightly increasing (0.6%), and all other areas rising 0.4% in aggregate. 

→ Core inflation – excluding food and energy - fell slightly (5.6% to 5.5%) but remained stubbornly high as the cost 

for shelter continued to rise. 

→ Inflation expectations (breakevens) declined very slightly for the month as investors continue to expect inflation 

to track back toward the Fed’s 2% target.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from August 1998 to the present month-end, respectively. Breakeven values represent month-end values for comparative 

purposes.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

→ Spreads (the added yield above a comparable maturity Treasury) were stable in April as concerns over the 

banking sector subsided and government and corporate bonds had similar gains. 

→ High yield spreads remain below the long-term average. Investment grade spreads and emerging market 

spreads are narrower than high yield spreads and close to their respective long-term averages.  

 
1 Sources: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from August 2000 to the recent month-end, respectively.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Global Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Growth1 

 

→ Global economies are expected to slow this year compared to 2022, with risks of recession increasing given 

persistently high inflation and related tighter monetary policy.  

→ The delicate balancing act of central banks trying to reduce inflation without dramatically depressing growth will 

remain key.   

 
1 Source: Oxford Economics (World GDP, US$ prices & PPP exchange rate, real, % change YoY). Updated April 2023.  

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Projected

Global 

Growth



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Central Bank Response1 

Policy Rates Balance Sheet as % of GDP 

  

→ In 2022, many central banks aggressively reduced pandemic-era policy support in the face of high inflation, with 
the US taking the most aggressive approach. Slowing inflation and recent signs of instability in the banking sector 
have led to expectations for the slowing of policy tightening going forward.  

→ Since month-end, the Fed remained committed to fighting inflation despite pressures in the banking sector, 
raising rates another 25 basis points to a range of 5.0% to 5.25% at its early May meeting. This is largely expected 
to be the Fed’s last rate hike in this cycle. 

→ China’s central bank is a notable exception. They are expected to maintain an accommodative monetary stance 
to support the economy.  

→ Looking ahead the risk remains for a policy error as central banks attempt to balance bringing down inflation, 
maintaining financial stability, and growth. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Policy rate data is as of April 30, 2023. China policy rate is defined as the medium-term lending facility 1 year interest rate. Balance sheet as % of GDP is based on quarterly data and is as of March 31, 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

→ Inflation pressures continued to decline globally due to the easing of supply chain issues from the pandemic, 

declining energy prices, and tighter monetary policy. 

→ In the US, inflation fell to 4.9% at month-end, while eurozone inflation increased slightly (7.0% versus 6.9%) a level 

well off its peak. Despite 2023’s declines in the US and Europe, inflation levels remain elevated. 

→ Inflation remains relatively lower in China and Japan and has also declined recently. In China, inflation levels 

approached 0% at month-end as the reopening of their economy has led to an uneven economic recovery.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as April 30, 2023. The most recent Japanese inflation data is as of March 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Unemployment1 

 

→ Labor markets have significantly improved from the pandemic as economies have largely reopened. 

→ Despite slowing growth and high inflation, the US labor market remains a particular bright spot. Unemployment 
in the US, which experienced the steepest rise, recently returned to pre-pandemic levels. Broader measures of 
unemployment (U-6) remain higher at 6.6% but also declined dramatically from their peak. 

→ The strong labor market and higher wages, although beneficial for workers, motivates the Fed’s efforts to fight 
inflation, likely leading to higher unemployment. 

→ Unemployment in Europe has also declined but remains higher than the US, while levels in Japan have been 
relatively flat through the pandemic given less layoffs.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as April 30, 2023, for the US. The most recent data for Eurozone and Japanese unemployment is as of March 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Dollar versus Broad Currencies1 

 

→ The dollar finished 2022 much higher than it started, due to the increased pace of policy tightening, stronger 

relative growth, and safe-haven flows.  

→ Late last year and into early this year, the dollar has fallen, as weaker economic data and declining inflation led 

to investors anticipating the end of Fed tightening.  

→ This year, the track of inflation across economies and the corresponding monetary policies will likely be key 

drivers of currency moves.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data as of April 30, 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Summary 

Key Trends:  

→ The impacts of still relatively high inflation will remain key, with bond market volatility likely to stay high. 

→ Recent issues related to the banking sector have created a delicate balance for central banks to continue to fight 

inflation but also to try to maintain financial stability. 

→ Global monetary policies could diverge in 2023. The risk of policy errors remains elevated as central banks try 

to reduce persistent inflation while not tipping their economies into recession. 

→ Growth is expected to slow globally this year, with many economies forecast to tip into recession. Inflation, 

monetary policy, and the war will all be key. 

→ In the US, the end of many fiscal programs is expected to put the burden of continued growth on consumers. 

Costs for shelter, medical care, and education could continue to rise, keeping ‘sticky price’ inflation at elevated 

levels. 

→ The key for US equities going forward will be whether earnings can remain resilient if growth continues to slow. 

→ Equity valuations remain lower in both emerging and developed markets, but risks remain, including potential 

continued strength in the US dollar, higher inflation weighing particularly on Europe, and China’s rushed exit from 

COVID-19 restrictions and on-going weakness in the real estate sector.



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

 

April Flash Report 

 

 

 

 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

May 31, 2023 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Allocation vs. Targets and Policy

Current
Balance

Current
Allocation

Policy Difference Policy Range
Within

IPS
Range?

_

Domestic Equity $168,855,784 40.9% 40.0% 0.9% 30.0% - 50.0% Yes

International Equity $54,859,867 13.3% 12.0% 1.3% 8.0% - 14.0% Yes

Fixed Income $105,807,574 25.6% 31.0% -5.4% 25.0% - 40.0% Yes

Covered Calls $21,377,752 5.2% 5.0% 0.2% 5.0% - 10.0% Yes

Credit $9,033,784 2.2% 2.0% 0.2% 0.0% - 100.0% Yes

Crisis Risk Offset $39,661,106 9.6% 10.0% -0.4% 5.0% - 15.0% Yes

Cash $13,204,305 3.2% 0.0% 3.2% 0.0% - 5.0% Yes

Total $412,800,173 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Page 2 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Page 3 of 13 



Asset Class Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

OPFRS Total Plan 412,800,173 100.0 0.8 5.3 6.1 0.9 7.6 5.4 7.0 6.6 Dec-88

OPFRS Policy Benchmark   1.0 6.2 7.4 1.6 6.6 5.4 6.7 7.8 Dec-88

Excess Return    -0.2 -0.9 -1.3 -0.7 1.0 0.0 0.3  -1.2  

Domestic Equity 168,855,784 40.9 0.5 5.7 8.9 1.3 13.9 9.6 11.4 8.7 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)   1.1 8.3 10.9 1.5 14.1 10.6 11.7 8.9 Jun-97

Excess Return    -0.6 -2.6 -2.0 -0.2 -0.2 -1.0 -0.3  -0.2  

International Equity 54,859,867 13.3 1.3 10.2 14.7 4.6 10.3 3.5 5.4 5.3 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)   1.7 8.7 11.9 3.0 9.7 2.5 4.0 5.0 Jan-98

Excess Return    -0.4 1.5 2.8 1.6 0.6 1.0 1.4  0.3  

Fixed Income 105,807,574 25.6 0.7 4.2 1.5 0.1 -1.2 1.7 1.9 4.8 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   0.6 3.6 1.2 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.6 Dec-93

Excess Return    0.1 0.6 0.3 0.4 1.3 0.4 0.3  0.2  

Credit 9,033,784 2.2 1.4 5.2 6.8 0.2 10.1 3.6 -- 5.1 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR   1.0 4.6 8.3 1.2 4.7 3.3 4.0 4.2 Feb-15

Excess Return    0.4 0.6 -1.5 -1.0 5.4 0.3   0.9  

Covered Calls 21,377,752 5.2 1.8 8.1 10.5 4.3 14.0 9.3 -- 8.8 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.6 0.9 4.7 5.4 3.0 4.9   3.3  

Crisis Risk Offset 39,661,106 9.6 0.7 0.7 -4.1 -4.8 -8.2 -8.1 -- -8.5 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   1.3 2.4 4.9 4.6 2.9 -- -- 0.0 Aug-18

Excess Return    -0.6 -1.7 -9.0 -9.4 -11.1    -8.5  

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

 Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 4 of 13 



Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Cash 13,204,305 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.7 0.6 Mar-11

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR   0.4 1.5 2.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 0.9 0.7 Mar-11

Excess Return    -0.4 -1.5 -2.9 -3.0 -1.1 -0.5 -0.2  -0.1  
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 5 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

OPFRS Total Plan 412,800,173 100.0 -- 0.8 5.3 6.1 0.9 7.6 5.4 7.0 6.6 Dec-88

OPFRS Policy Benchmark    1.0 6.2 7.4 1.6 6.6 5.4 6.7 7.8 Dec-88

Excess Return    -0.2 -0.9 -1.3 -0.7 1.0 0.0 0.3  -1.2  

Domestic Equity 168,855,784 40.9 40.9 0.5 5.7 8.9 1.3 13.9 9.6 11.4 8.7 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)    1.1 8.3 10.9 1.5 14.1 10.6 11.7 8.9 Jun-97

Excess Return    -0.6 -2.6 -2.0 -0.2 -0.2 -1.0 -0.3  -0.2  

Northern Trust Russell 1000 75,873,985 18.4 44.9 1.2 8.8 11.3 1.5 14.1 11.0 11.9 12.9 Jun-10

Russell 1000    1.2 8.8 11.3 1.8 14.2 11.1 12.0 13.0 Jun-10

Excess Return    0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.3 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1  -0.1  

EARNEST Partners 45,006,350 10.9 26.7 -1.4 3.2 4.9 -0.7 15.4 10.6 12.5 10.0 Apr-06

Russell MidCap    -0.5 3.5 9.1 -1.7 13.8 8.0 9.9 8.4 Apr-06

Excess Return    -0.9 -0.3 -4.2 1.0 1.6 2.6 2.6  1.6  

Wellington Select Quality Equity 22,975,674 5.6 13.6 2.7 3.5 10.8 4.4 -- -- -- 4.4 May-22

Russell 1000    1.2 8.8 11.3 1.8 14.2 11.1 12.0 1.8 May-22

Excess Return    1.5 -5.3 -0.5 2.6     2.6  

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 10,664,172 2.6 6.3 -1.8 -2.1 8.3 2.9 -- -- -- 0.5 Apr-21

Russell 2000 Value    -2.5 -3.1 0.2 -8.0 15.4 3.7 7.0 -6.1 Apr-21

Excess Return    0.7 1.0 8.1 10.9     6.6  

Rice Hall James 14,335,604 3.5 8.5 0.7 7.8 6.6 2.0 11.5 4.8 -- 7.1 Jul-17

Russell 2000 Growth    -1.2 4.8 9.4 0.7 7.8 4.0 8.4 5.7 Jul-17

Excess Return    1.9 3.0 -2.8 1.3 3.7 0.8   1.4  

 Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 6 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

International Equity 54,859,867 13.3 13.3 1.3 10.2 14.7 4.6 10.3 3.5 5.4 5.3 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)    1.7 8.7 11.9 3.0 9.7 2.5 4.0 5.0 Jan-98

Excess Return    -0.4 1.5 2.8 1.6 0.6 1.0 1.4  0.3  

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 15,524,341 3.8 28.3 2.6 10.9 15.7 6.8 12.2 -- -- 7.1 Sep-19

FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD    2.6 10.5 16.3 5.6 12.1 3.8 5.2 7.3 Sep-19

Excess Return    0.0 0.4 -0.6 1.2 0.1    -0.2  

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 39,335,525 9.5 71.7 0.8 9.9 14.2 3.7 9.8 -- -- 3.2 Dec-19

MSCI ACWI ex USA    1.7 8.7 11.9 3.0 9.7 2.5 4.0 3.8 Dec-19

Excess Return    -0.9 1.2 2.3 0.7 0.1    -0.6  

Fixed Income 105,807,574 25.6 25.6 0.7 4.2 1.5 0.1 -1.2 1.7 1.9 4.8 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)    0.6 3.6 1.2 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.6 Dec-93

Excess Return    0.1 0.6 0.3 0.4 1.3 0.4 0.3  0.2  

Ramirez 71,828,220 17.4 67.9 0.7 4.1 1.1 -0.2 -1.2 1.6 -- 1.8 Jan-17

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR    0.6 3.6 0.5 -0.4 -3.1 1.2 1.3 1.1 Jan-17

Excess Return    0.1 0.5 0.6 0.2 1.9 0.4   0.7  

Wellington Core Bond 6,806,698 1.6 6.4 0.6 4.3 1.1 -0.7 -- -- -- -4.4 Apr-21

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR    0.6 3.6 0.5 -0.4 -3.1 1.2 1.3 -4.0 Apr-21

Excess Return    0.0 0.7 0.6 -0.3     -0.4  

Reams 27,172,656 6.6 25.7 0.8 4.5 2.5 1.3 -0.8 4.0 2.9 5.2 Feb-98

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)    0.6 3.6 1.2 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.2 Feb-98

Excess Return    0.2 0.9 1.3 1.6 1.7 2.7 1.3  1.0  

 
Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Though Vanguard Developed Markets ETF is a passive strategy, short-term performance may appear to diverge from the index it tracks more than what would be expected. This is due to Fair Value Pricing (FVP) adjustments that address the pricing 

discrepancies that may arise from time-zone differences among global securities markets. The resulting temporary divergence is expected to correct itself when the foreign markets reopen."

Page 7 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Credit 9,033,784 2.2 2.2 1.4 5.2 6.8 0.2 10.1 3.6 -- 5.1 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR    1.0 4.6 8.3 1.2 4.7 3.3 4.0 4.2 Feb-15

Excess Return    0.4 0.6 -1.5 -1.0 5.4 0.3   0.9  

Polen Capital 9,033,784 2.2 100.0 1.4 5.2 6.8 0.2 10.1 3.6 -- 5.1 Feb-15

ICE BofA High Yield Master TR    0.9 4.7 8.1 1.0 4.9 3.1 3.9 4.1 Feb-15

Excess Return    0.5 0.5 -1.3 -0.8 5.2 0.5   1.0  

Covered Calls 21,377,752 5.2 5.2 1.8 8.1 10.5 4.3 14.0 9.3 -- 8.8 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.6 0.9 4.7 5.4 3.0 4.9   3.3  

Parametric BXM 10,740,176 2.6 50.2 1.6 6.8 8.1 4.1 12.0 6.9 -- 7.0 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.4 -0.4 2.3 5.2 1.0 2.5   1.5  

Parametric DeltaShift 10,637,577 2.6 49.8 2.1 9.4 13.0 4.5 15.6 11.4 -- 10.7 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.9 2.2 7.2 5.6 4.6 7.0   5.2  

Page 8 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

 Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Crisis Risk Offset 39,661,106 9.6 9.6 0.7 0.7 -4.1 -4.8 -8.2 -8.1 -- -8.5 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index    1.3 2.4 4.9 4.6 2.9 -- -- 0.0 Aug-18

Excess Return    -0.6 -1.7 -9.0 -9.4 -11.1    -8.5  

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 10,454,824 2.5 26.4 1.8 6.5 10.2 5.8 -- -- -- 4.4 Feb-22

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index    1.3 2.4 4.9 4.6 2.9 -- -- 5.1 Feb-22

Excess Return    0.5 4.1 5.3 1.2     -0.7  

Versor Trend Following 14,596,620 3.5 36.8 0.0 -8.6 -12.1 -8.8 -- -- -- -2.5 Apr-22

SG Trend Index    2.8 -4.7 -5.8 3.0 13.6 9.4 5.2 9.4 Apr-22

Excess Return    -2.8 -3.9 -6.3 -11.8     -11.9  

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 14,609,662 3.5 36.8 0.5 7.4 -4.2 -7.4 -11.7 -- -- -3.4 Jul-19

Bloomberg US Govt Long TR    0.5 6.7 -4.1 -7.3 -11.7 0.1 1.1 -3.4 Jul-19

Excess Return    0.0 0.7 -0.1 -0.1 0.0    0.0  

Cash 13,204,305 3.2 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.7 0.6 Mar-11

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR    0.4 1.5 2.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 0.9 0.7 Mar-11

Excess Return    -0.4 -1.5 -2.9 -3.0 -1.1 -0.5 -0.2  -0.1  

Cash - Money Market 4,102,305 1.0 31.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.1 0.8 0.6 Mar-11

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR    0.4 1.5 2.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 0.9 0.7 Mar-11

Excess Return    -0.4 -1.5 -2.9 -3.0 -0.9 -0.4 -0.1  -0.1  

Cash - Treasury 9,102,000 2.2 68.9          
XXXXX

Page 9 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Cash Flow Summary

Month to Date

Beginning
Market Value

Net Cash Flow
Net Investment

Change
Ending

Market Value
_

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value $10,865,239 $0 -$201,067 $10,664,172

Cash - Money Market $3,868,100 $234,205 $0 $4,102,305

Cash - Treasury $8,737,000 $365,000 $0 $9,102,000

EARNEST Partners $45,658,799 $0 -$652,448 $45,006,350

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia $10,273,004 $0 $181,820 $10,454,824

Northern Trust Russell 1000 $74,942,881 $0 $931,104 $75,873,985

Parametric BXM $11,572,026 -$1,000,000 $168,149 $10,740,176

Parametric DeltaShift $11,421,217 -$1,000,000 $216,360 $10,637,577

Polen Capital $8,909,576 $0 $124,209 $9,033,784

Ramirez $71,307,125 $0 $521,094 $71,828,220

Reams $26,955,387 $0 $217,269 $27,172,656

Rice Hall James $14,239,905 $0 $95,699 $14,335,604

Securities Lending Northern Trust $0 -$9,368 $9,368 $0

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity $39,015,100 $0 $320,425 $39,335,525

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF $15,125,852 $0 $398,489 $15,524,341

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF $14,571,848 $0 $37,814 $14,609,662

Versor Trend Following $14,592,261 $0 $4,359 $14,596,620

Wellington Core Bond $6,763,874 $0 $42,824 $6,806,698

Wellington Select Quality Equity $22,362,811 $0 $612,863 $22,975,674

Total $411,182,005 -$1,410,163 $3,028,331 $412,800,173
XXXXX

Page 10 of 13 



Benchmark History

As of April 30, 2023
_

OPFRS Total Plan

6/1/2022 Present
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA / 31% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 10% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index / 2%
Bloomberg US High Yield TR

1/1/2019 5/31/2022
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 33% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 6.7% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index / 3.3% Bloomberg US Treasury Long TR

5/1/2016 12/31/2018 48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 20% CBOE BXM

10/1/2015 4/30/2016
43% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 15% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

1/1/2014 9/30/2015
48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 10% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

3/1/2013 12/31/2013 40% Russell 3000 / 10% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 17% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 33% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

8/1/2012 2/28/2013 20% Russell 3000 / 7% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 18% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 55% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

10/1/2007 7/31/2012 53% Russell 3000 / 17% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 30% Bloomberg US Universal TR

4/1/2006 9/30/2007 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Universal TR

1/1/2005 3/31/2006 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 10% Russell 1000 / 20% Russell 1000 Value / 5% Russell MidCap / 15% MSCI EAFE

12/1/1988 3/31/1998 40% S&P 500 / 55% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 5% FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Page 11 of 13 



Benchmark History

As of April 30, 2023
_

Domestic Equity

1/1/2005 Present Russell 3000

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 28.57% Russell 1000 / 57.14% Russell 1000 Value / 14.29% Russell MidCap

6/1/1997 3/31/1998 S&P 500

International Equity

1/1/2005 Present MSCI ACWI ex USA

1/1/1998 12/31/2004 MSCI EAFE Gross

Fixed Income

4/1/2006 Present Bloomberg US Universal TR

12/31/1993 3/31/2006 Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

Covered Calls

4/1/2014 Present CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD

Crisis Risk Offset

8/1/2018 Present SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index

Cash

3/1/2011 Present FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Page 12 of 13 



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

Page 13 of 13 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

Quarterly Performance Report 

as of March 31, 2023 

 

 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Table of Contents 

 

 

Agenda 

1. Executive Summary 

2. Economic and Market Update as of March 31, 2023 

3. Quarterly Performance as of March 31, 2023 

4. Manager Monitoring / Probation Status 

5. Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

Page 2 of 61 



 

Executive Summary 

Page 3 of 61 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

Executive Summary | As of March 31, 2023 

 

 

Total Portfolio Review 

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (OPFRS) finished the quarter with a market value of $411.2 million.  

→ This represents a $18.1 million capital appreciation after $5.4 million in net outflows over the quarter.  

→ Over the past 12-months, the OPFRS Total Portfolio faced a $24.8 million depreciation, after withdrawals totaling 

$13.4 million for net outflows including benefit payments.  

→ As of 03/31/2023, all the asset classes were within acceptable allocation ranges relative to policy targets.1 

Investment Performance 

→ During the most recent quarter, the OPFRS portfolio generated an absolute return of 4.5%, gross of fees, 

underperforming its policy benchmark2 by (-0.6%).  

→ The portfolio underperformed the benchmark slightly over the trailing 1-year period while outperforming it over 

the 3-year period. Over the longer 5-year trailing period, the portfolio matched with the Policy Benchmark. 

 Quarter FYTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 

Total Portfolio (Gross) 4.5 5.3 (-5.5) 9.9 5.3 

Policy Benchmark  5.1 6.3 (-5.4) 8.6 5.3 

Excess Return (-0.6) (-1.0) (-0.1) 1.3 0.0 

Reference: Total Portfolio (Net) 3 4.5 5.1 (-5.7) 9.6 5.0 

 
1 Asset allocation as of 03/31/2023. Target weightings reflect the interim phase (where Crisis Risk Offset component is set to 10%) of the Plan’s previously approved asset allocation (effective 5/31/2017). 
2 Evolving Policy Benchmark consists of 40% Russell 3000, 12% MSCI ACWI ex U.S., 33% Bloomberg Universal, 5% CBOE BXM, 6.7% SG Multi Asset Risk Premia, 3.3% Bloomberg Long Treasury from 1/1/2019 through 5/31/2022; and 40% 

Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA / 31% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 10% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index / 2% Bloomberg US High Yield thereafter. 
3 Longer-term (>1 year) Net of fee returns include estimates based on OPFRS manager fee schedule (approximately 34 bps). 
 Fiscal year beings on July 01. 

Page 4 of 61 



 
 

  

 

 

 

Peer Comparison 

→ In comparison to its peer group1, the portfolio has outperformed the median fund’s return over the quarter while 

lagging in the trailing 1-, 3-, and 5-year periods. 

→ Similarly, in the most recent quarter, OPFRS ranks in the 25th percentile; over the longer periods, it falls in the 

third quartile in the universe of Public Defined Benefit Plans with $250 million to $1 billion in assets.  

 

 Quarter FYTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 

Total Portfolio (Gross) 4.5 5.3 (-5.5) 9.9 5.3 

Peer Group Median Fund Return  4.1 5.5 (-4.9) 11.0 6.0 

OPFRS vs. Peer Median Fund 0.4 (-0.2) (-0.6) (-1.1) (-0.7) 

Percentile Rank 25 63 71 73 67 

Reference: Total Portfolio (Net) 2 4.5 5.1 (-5.7) 9.6 5.0 

 

  

 
1 Source: Investment Metrics peer universe, Public Defined Benefit plans with $250 million to $1 billion in assets as of 03/31/2023. 
2 Longer-term (>1 year) Net of fee returns include estimates based on OPFRS manager fee schedule (approximately 34 bps). 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Executive Summary | As of March 31, 2023

Total Portfolio Review (continued)

Page 5 of 61 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

Executive Summary | As of March 31, 2023 

 

 

Asset Class & Manager Highlights 

→ Domestic equity underperformed the Russell 3000 Index over the quarter and in the 5-year period. All the active 

managers, except Wellington Select Quality, outperformed their respective benchmarks in the quarter as well as 

almost all other available time periods.1 

→ International equity outperformed the MSCI ACWI ex US Index for all time periods measured. The Plan’s active 

international equity manager, SGA MSCI ACWI ex US, outperformed its benchmark over the quarter and the 

1-year period, while slightly underperforming in the 3-year trailing period.1The passive Vanguard posted small 

variation1 from the tracked benchmark over the periods measured. 

→ Fixed income outperformed the Bloomberg Universal Index across all time periods measured. The underlying 

managers also outperformed their respective benchmarks in all time periods, except for 

Wellington Core Bond’s underperformance over the 1-year trailing period. 

→ The Credit segment, with Polen Capital as its only manager, outperformed the asset class’s benchmark, 

Bloomberg US High Yield Index, in Q1, and over the 1- and 3-year periods, while matching it over the 5-year period. 

→ Covered Calls and the active DeltaShift strategy outperformed the CBOE S&P 500 Buy-Write Index across all 

periods measured. The passive BXM strategy outperformed the Index in all periods except over the quarter. 

→ The Crisis Risk Offset segment trailed its benchmark SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index across all time 

periods measured. Please note that the segment’s current benchmark does not accurately reflect its 

components; a recommendation for suitable modification is presented along with this report. 

 
1 Wellington Select Quality has less than 1-year of performance history and Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value has less than 3-year of performance history. SGA MSCI ACWI ex US and Vanguard Developed Markets ETF have less than 5-year of 

performance history. Due to Vanguard’s fair-value pricing methodology and timing of the international markets, the strategy’s returns may deviate from its tracked index in the short-term that are expected to equalize over the longer term. 

Page 6 of 61 



 

 

 

 

Economic and Market Update

Data as of March 31, 2023

Page 7 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Commentary 

→ It was a volatile quarter for most asset classes driven by evolving monetary policy expectations and high-profile 

bank failures. Ultimately, investors remained focused on slowing inflation and potentially peaking rate hikes 

leading to positive results across most asset classes for the quarter.  

• The Fed’s, and others’, quick responses to pressures in the banking sector brought confidence back to the 

markets in March with the crisis driving the terminal policy rate expectations lower.  

• US equity markets (Russell 3000) rallied in March (+2.7%) finishing the first quarter in strongly positive 

territory (+7.2%). Growth significantly outperformed value for the quarter, driven by the technology sector.  

• Non-US developed equity markets (MSCI EAFE +2.5%) also posted positive returns in March. They returned 

8.5% for the quarter, finishing ahead of US equities. 

• Emerging market equities had positive returns for the month (+3.0%) supported by Chinese equities (+4.5%) 

and a weaker US dollar. They trailed developed market equities for the quarter partly due to higher US-China 

tensions. 

• On expectations for lower inflation and concerns over the banking sector, bonds rallied in March, with the 

broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) rising 2.5%. For the quarter, the broad US bond market was 

up 3.0%. 

→ This year, the path of inflation and monetary policy, slowing global growth, and the war in Ukraine, as well as 

recent pressures in small- and medium-sized regional banks in the US, will all be key.  

Page 8 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Index Returns1 

Q1 2023 

 

→ Despite volatility during the quarter, public markets, except commodities, finished the first quarter of 2023 in 

positive territory adding to the strong gains from the fourth quarter of last year.  

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg and FactSet. Data is as of March 31, 2023. 

8.5%

7.5%

7.3%

7.2%

5.2%

4.0%

3.6%

3.3%

3.0%

2.7%

2.7%

2.2%

-5.4%

MSCI EAFE

S&P 500

MSCI ACWI

Russell 3000

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg High Yield

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Aggregate

Russell 2000

FTSE NAREIT Equity

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Page 9 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Domestic Equity Returns1 

Domestic Equity 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

S&P 500 3.7 7.5 -7.7 18.6 11.2 12.2 

Russell 3000 2.7 7.2 -8.6 18.5 10.4 11.7 

Russell 1000 3.2 7.5 -8.4 18.6 10.9 12.0 

Russell 1000 Growth 6.8 14.4 -10.9 18.6 13.6 14.6 

Russell 1000 Value -0.5 1.0 -5.9 17.9 7.5 9.1 

Russell MidCap -1.5 4.1 -8.8 19.2 8.0 10.0 

Russell MidCap Growth 1.4 9.1 -8.5 15.2 9.1 11.2 

Russell MidCap Value -3.1 1.3 -9.2 20.7 6.5 8.8 

Russell 2000 -4.8 2.7 -11.6 17.5 4.7 8.0 

Russell 2000 Growth -2.5 6.1 -10.6 13.4 4.3 8.5 

Russell 2000 Value -7.2 -0.7 -13.0 21.0 4.5 7.2 

US Equities: Russell 3000 Index rose 2.7% in March and 7.2% in Q1.   

→ US stocks rose in aggregate for the month and quarter as investors were optimistic that the Federal Reserve 
may end its policy tightening earlier than expected. However, turmoil in the regional banking industry weighed 
on segments of the market.  

→ The small cap and value indices were more exposed to the banking turmoil and underperformed their broad 
market indices by significant margins.  

→ Large cap stocks were driven higher by the continued strength of the technology and communication services 
sectors. This same dynamic contributed to the continued outperformance of growth stocks against their value 
counterparts across the capitalization spectrum.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023.  

Page 10 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Foreign Equity Returns1 

Foreign Equity 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

MSCI ACWI ex. US 2.4 6.9 -5.1 11.8 2.5 4.2 

MSCI EAFE 2.5 8.5 -1.4 13.0 3.6 5.0 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) 0.5 7.5 3.8 14.6 6.3 7.3 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap -0.2 4.9 -9.8 12.1 0.9 5.8 

MSCI Emerging Markets 3.0 4.0 -10.7 7.8 -0.9 2.0 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) 2.2 3.8 -6.6 8.8 1.9 5.0 

MSCI China 4.5 4.7 -4.7 -2.6 -4.0 3.4 

Foreign Equity: Developed international equities (MSCI EAFE) rose 2.5% in March and 8.5% for the quarter. Emerging 

market equities (MSCI EM) rose 3.0%. for the month and 4.0% in the first quarter.  

→ Non-US equities also recovered in March with developed markets (MSCI EAFE) outpacing US equities 

(8.5% versus 7.2%) for the quarter and emerging markets (MSCI Emerging Markets) trailing (4.0% versus 7.2%). 

→ Developed market equities also benefited from expectations that monetary policy may be peaking on declining 

inflation. The continued weakness in the US dollar also added to the quarterly results (+1%) for US investors. 

→ Emerging market equities started the year with optimism over the reopening of China’s economy, but the 

escalation of US-China tensions and the broader banking crisis led to weaker relative results compared to 

developed markets. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. 

Page 11 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

Current 

Yield 

(%) 

Duration 

(Years) 

Bloomberg Barclays Universal 2.3 2.9 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 1.6 4.8 6.3 

Bloomberg Barclays Aggregate 2.5 3.0 -4.8 -2.8 0.9 1.4 4.4 6.5 

Bloomberg Barclays US TIPS 2.9 3.3 -6.1 1.8 2.9 1.5 4.1 7.0 

Bloomberg Short-term TIPS 1.9 2.2 -0.3 3.5 3.0 1.5 4.6 2.5 

Bloomberg Barclays High Yield 1.1 3.6 -3.3 5.9 3.2 4.1 8.5 4.2 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD) 4.1 5.2 -0.7 0.9 -2.4 -1.5 7.1 5.1 

Fixed Income: The Bloomberg Universal rose 2.3% in March and 2.9% in Q1 as global sovereign debt yields fell on 

monetary policy expectations.    

→ Anecdotal reports suggest bouts of flight-to-quality flows during the peak of interest rate volatility connected to 

the banking sector pushed sovereign debt yields lower. These concerns largely outweighed continued inflation 

concerns and caused investors to adjust their policy expectations. 

→ The broad TIPS index outperformed the broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) in March and for the 

quarter. 

→ High yield bonds had the weakest results in March driven by banking sector weakness but outperformed the 

broad US bond market for the quarter.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. JPM GBI-EM data is from InvestorForce. Data is as of March 31, 2023. The yield and duration data from Bloomberg is defined as the index’s yield to worst and modified duration respectively. 

Page 12 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

  

→ Volatility in equities (VIX) remained subdued through the end of March as investors continued to anticipate the 

end of the Fed’s policy tightening.  

→ In comparison, the bond market remains on edge with the more policy sensitive MOVE (fixed income volatility) 

remaining well above its long-run average. During the quarter it hit the highest level since the Global Financial 

Crisis as the banking sector issues created uncertainty over how the Fed would balance fighting inflation and 

maintaining financial stability.  

 
1 Equity and Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income markets. Data is as of March 2023. The average line 

indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and March 2023. 

Page 13 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

→ After its dramatic decline last year the US equity price-to-earnings ratio remains above its long-run (21st century) 

average. 

→ International developed market valuations are slightly below their own long-term average, with those for 

emerging markets the lowest and well under the long-term average. 

  

 
1 US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically Adjusted P/E – Source: MSCI and 

Bloomberg. Earnings figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of March 2023. The average line is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from December 1999 to 
the recent month-end respectively.  

Page 14 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Yield Curve1 

 

→ It was a volatile quarter for interest rates, particularly shorter-dated maturities. Except for the shortest maturities, 

rates largely declined across the yield curve in the first quarter on expectations of peaking policy.  

→ After hitting -1.07% in early March, the yield spread between two-year and ten-year Treasuries finished the 

quarter at -0.55% as policy-sensitive rates at the front-end of the curve declined faster than longer maturities. 

The more closely watched measure by the Fed of three-month and ten-year Treasuries also remained inverted. 

Inversions in the yield curve have often preceded recessions. 

→ The Fed remained committed to fighting inflation, despite pressures in the banking sector, raising rates another 

25 basis points to a range of 4.75% to 5.0% at its March meeting.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

12/31/2021 12/30/2022 3/31/2023

Page 15 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

→ Inflation continued to decline in March with the year-over-year reading falling from 6.0% to 5.0% and coming in 

slightly below the 5.1% expectations. The rate of price increases also slowed on a month-over-month basis 

(0.1% versus 0.4%), with food prices only slightly higher and energy prices declining. 

→ Core inflation – excluding food and energy - rose (5.6% versus 5.5%) mostly driven by transportation and housing.   

→ Inflation expectations (breakevens) were volatile over the month and declined on net, but nonetheless ended the 

month at 2.3% (roughly where it started the quarter).  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from August 1998 to the present month-end, respectively. Breakeven values represent month-end values for comparative 

purposes.  

Page 16 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

→ Spreads (the added yield above a comparable maturity Treasury) experienced a significant spike in March 

during the banking crisis but subsequently declined as the Fed and others stepped in to provide support. 

→ High yield spreads rose from 4.1% to a peak of 5.2% in March before finishing the quarter at 4.5% (lower than the 

start of the quarter by 0.2%). Investment grade spreads also spiked in March (1.2% to 1.6%) but also fell from their 

peak to 1.4%. Emerging market spreads finished the quarter at 3.6% experiencing the largest decline (-0.9%).  

 
1 Sources: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from August 2000 to the recent month-end, respectively.  

Page 17 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Global Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Growth1 

 
→ Global economies are expected to slow in 2023 compared to 2022, with risks of recession increasing given 

persistently high inflation and related tighter monetary policy.  

→ The delicate balancing act of central banks trying to reduce inflation without dramatically impacting growth will 

remain key.   

 
1 Source: Oxford Economics (World GDP, US$ prices & PPP exchange rate, real, % change YoY). Updated March 2023.  

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Projected

Global 

Growth

Page 18 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Central Bank Response1 

Policy Rates Balance Sheet as % of GDP 

  

→ In 2022, many central banks aggressively reduced pandemic-era policy support in the face of high inflation with 
the US taking the most aggressive approach. Slowing inflation and recent signs of instability in the banking sector 
have led to expectations for the slowing of policy tightening going forward.  

→ In March, the Fed, FDIC, and Treasury provided deposit guarantees after high profile bank failures revealed bank 
capital losses on US Treasurys related to higher interest rates and lax risk management. 

→ China’s central bank is one notable exception. They are expected to maintain an accommodative monetary 
stance to support the economy. They cut bank reserves requirements to improve bank liquidity and banks have 
also securitized over $390 billion in non-performing loans to improve loan quality ratios.  

→ Looking ahead the risk remains for a policy error as central banks attempt to balance bringing down inflation, 
maintaining financial stability, and growth. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Policy rate data is as of March 31, 2023. China policy rate is defined as the medium-term lending facility 1 year interest rate. Balance sheet as % of GDP is based on quarterly data and is as of December 31, 2022. 

Page 19 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

→ Inflation increased dramatically from the lows of the pandemic, particularly in the US and Eurozone where it 

reached levels not seen in many decades. 

→ Inflation pressures are slowly declining in the US as supply issues ease, but they remain elevated, while in Europe 

they have also started to fall as energy prices have eased. 

→ Lingering supply issues related to the pandemic, record monetary and fiscal stimulus, strict COVID-19 restrictions 

in China, and higher commodity prices driven by the war in Ukraine have been key global drivers of inflation. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as March 31, 2023. The most recent Japanese inflation data is as of February 2023. 

Page 20 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Unemployment1 

 

→ Labor markets have significantly improved from the pandemic as economies have largely reopened. 

→ Despite slowing growth and high inflation, the US labor market remains a particular bright spot. Unemployment 

in the US, which experienced the steepest rise, recently has returned to pre-pandemic levels. Broader measures 

of unemployment (U-6) remain higher at 6.7% but have also declined dramatically from their peak. 

→ The strong labor market and higher wages, although beneficial for workers, motivates the Fed’s efforts to fight 

inflation, likely leading to higher unemployment. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as March 31, 2023, for the US. The most recent data for Eurozone and Japanese unemployment is as of February 2023. 

Page 21 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Dollar versus Broad Currencies1 

 

→ The dollar finished 2022 much higher than it started, due to the increased pace of policy tightening, stronger 

relative growth, and safe-haven flows. Late last year and into early this year, the dollar experienced some 

weakness though as investors anticipated the end of Fed tightening.  

→ Overall, the US dollar depreciated in March and finished the quarter slightly lower than where it started as weaker 

economic data and bank turmoil drove interest rates lower in the US. 

→ This year, the track of inflation across economies and the corresponding monetary policies will likely be key 

drivers of currency moves.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data as of March 31, 2023. 

Page 22 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Summary 

Key Trends:  

→ The impacts of record high inflation will remain key, with market volatility likely to stay high. 

→ Recent issues related to the banking sector have created a delicate balance for central banks to continue to fight 

inflation but also try to maintain financial stability. 

→ Global monetary policies could diverge in 2023 with the Fed pausing and others continuing to tighten. The risk of 

policy errors remains elevated given persistent inflation pressures and a strong US labor market. 

→ Growth is expected to slow globally this year, with many economies forecast to tip into recession. Inflation, 

monetary policy, and the war will all be key. 

→ In the US, the end of many fiscal programs is expected to put the burden of continued growth on consumers. 

Costs for shelter, medical care, and education could continue to rise, keeping ‘sticky price’ inflation at elevated 

levels. 

→ The key for US equities going forward will be whether earnings can remain resilient if growth continues to slow. 

→ Outside the US, equity valuations remain lower in both emerging and developed markets, but risks remain, 

including potential continued strength in the US dollar, higher inflation particularly weighing on Europe, and 

China’s rushed exit from COVID-19 restrictions and on-going weakness in the real estate sector. 

Page 23 of 61 



 

1Q 2023 Performance 

as of March 31, 2023 

Page 24 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan | As of March 31, 2023

YTD Ending March 31, 2023

 Total Return
Anlzd

Standard
Deviation

_

OPFRS Total Plan 4.5% 13.3%

OPFRS Policy Benchmark 5.1% 12.2%

1 Year Ending March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd

Standard
Deviation

_

OPFRS Total Plan -5.5% 15.1%

OPFRS Policy Benchmark -5.4% 15.4%

Summary of Cash Flows
  Quarter-To-Date One Year

_

Beginning Market Value $398,501,201 $449,373,445

Net Cash Flow -$5,442,419 -$13,425,368

Capital Appreciation $18,123,266 -$24,766,028

Ending Market Value $411,182,049 $411,182,049
_

Performance shown is Gross-of-Fees.

Page 25 of 61 



Market Value
($)

QTD
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

7 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

_

OPFRS Total Plan 411,182,049 4.5 5.3 -5.5 9.9 5.3 7.5 7.0

OPFRS Policy Benchmark  5.1 6.3 -5.4 8.6 5.3 7.1 6.7

Excess Return  -0.6 -1.0 -0.1 1.3 0.0 0.4 0.3

InvMetrics Public DB $250mm-$1B
Gross Median

 4.1 5.5 -4.9 11.0 6.0 7.6 7.1

Domestic Equity 168,069,634 5.2 8.4 -7.2 18.6 9.5 11.7 11.5

Russell 3000 (Blend)  7.2 9.7 -8.6 18.5 10.4 12.0 11.7

Excess Return  -2.0 -1.3 1.4 0.1 -0.9 -0.3 -0.2

International Equity 54,140,952 8.7 13.2 -3.9 12.2 3.6 7.2 5.7

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)  6.9 10.0 -5.1 11.8 2.5 5.9 4.2

Excess Return  1.8 3.2 1.2 0.4 1.1 1.3 1.5

Fixed Income 105,026,387 3.4 0.7 -4.2 -0.6 1.4 1.8 1.9

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)  2.9 0.5 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 1.2 1.6

Excess Return  0.5 0.2 0.4 1.4 0.4 0.6 0.3

Credit 8,909,576 3.7 5.2 -3.1 10.4 3.2 6.3 --

Bloomberg US High Yield TR  3.6 7.2 -3.3 5.9 3.2 5.1 --

Excess Return  0.1 -2.0 0.2 4.5 0.0 1.2  

Covered Calls 22,993,243 6.2 8.5 -4.7 16.6 9.1 9.7 --

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD  6.0 4.6 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.9 --

Excess Return  0.2 3.9 2.2 4.3 4.7 3.8  

Crisis Risk Offset 39,437,113 0.0 -4.7 -6.5 -8.7 -8.2 -- --

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index

 1.1 3.6 6.4 2.1 -- -- --

Excess Return  -1.1 -8.3 -12.9 -10.8    

Cash 12,605,144 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.7

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR  1.1 2.5 2.6 1.0 1.4 1.2 0.9

Excess Return  -1.1 -2.5 -2.6 -1.0 -0.4 -0.2 -0.2
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Asset Class Performance (gross of fees) | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 26 of 61 



QTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

2021
(%)

2022
(%)

_

OPFRS Total Plan 4.5 5.3 -5.5 9.9 5.3 -4.8 21.1 9.7 14.1 -14.5

OPFRS Policy Benchmark 5.1 6.3 -5.4 8.6 5.3 -5.0 19.6 12.1 11.8 -14.5

InvMetrics Public DB $250mm-$1B Gross Median 4.1 5.5 -4.9 11.0 6.0 -4.1 18.6 13.1 13.6 -13.4
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Portfolio Relative Performance Results | As of March 31, 2023

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 27 of 61 



Asset Allocation vs. Target

As Of March 31, 2023

Current % Policy Difference*
_

Domestic Equity $168,069,634 40.9% 40.0% 0.9%

International Equity $54,140,952 13.2% 12.0% 1.2%

Fixed Income $105,026,387 25.5% 31.0% -5.5%

Covered Calls $22,993,243 5.6% 5.0% 0.6%

Credit $8,909,576 2.2% 2.0% 0.2%

Crisis Risk Offset $39,437,113 9.6% 10.0% -0.4%

Cash $12,605,144 3.1% 0.0% 3.1%

Total $411,182,049 100.0% 100.0%

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Asset Allocation | As of March 31, 2023

Target weightings reflect the Plan's evolving asset allocation (effective 5/31/2017.)

Cash account market value includes cash balances held in ETF accounts at the custodian and risiduals from terminated managers.

Page 28 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Domestic Equity 168,069,634 100.0 5.2 -7.2 18.6 9.5 8.7 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)   7.2 -8.6 18.5 10.4 8.9 Jun-97

Excess Return   -2.0 1.4 0.1 -0.9 -0.2  

Northern Trust Russell 1000 74,942,881 44.6 7.5 -8.7 18.4 10.8 12.9 Jun-10

Russell 1000   7.5 -8.4 18.6 10.9 13.0 Jun-10

Excess Return   0.0 -0.3 -0.2 -0.1 -0.1  

EARNEST Partners 45,658,799 27.2 4.7 -6.0 20.9 11.0 10.1 Apr-06

Russell MidCap   4.1 -8.8 19.2 8.1 8.4 Apr-06

Excess Return   0.6 2.8 1.7 2.9 1.7  

eV US Mid Cap Core Equity Gross Rank   50 62 39 17 34 Apr-06

Wellington Select Quality Equity 22,362,811 13.3 0.7 -- -- -- 1.6 May-22

Russell 1000   7.5 -- -- -- 0.6 May-22

Excess Return   -6.8    1.0  

eV US Large Cap Core Equity Gross Rank   94 -- -- -- 46 May-22

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 10,865,239 6.5 -0.3 -2.3 -- -- 1.4 Apr-21

Russell 2000 Value   -0.7 -13.0 -- -- -5.2 Apr-21

Excess Return   0.4 10.7   6.6  

eV US Small Cap Value Equity Gross Rank   86 24 -- -- 32 Apr-21

Rice Hall James 14,239,905 8.5 7.1 -7.7 18.6 4.2 7.1 Jul-17

Russell 2000 Growth   6.1 -10.6 13.4 4.3 6.0 Jul-17

Excess Return   1.0 2.9 5.2 -0.1 1.1  

eV US Small Cap Growth Equity Gross Rank   51 28 38 95 90 Jul-17
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 29 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

International Equity 54,140,952 100.0 8.7 -3.9 12.2 3.6 5.3 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)   6.9 -5.1 11.8 2.5 5.0 Jan-98

Excess Return   1.8 1.2 0.4 1.1 0.3  

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 15,125,852 27.9 8.0 -3.0 13.8 -- 6.5 Sep-19

FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD   7.7 -3.8 13.9 -- 6.6 Sep-19

Excess Return   0.3 0.8 -0.1  -0.1  

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 39,015,100 72.1 9.0 -4.3 11.7 -- 3.0 Dec-19

MSCI ACWI ex USA   6.9 -5.1 11.8 -- 3.4 Dec-19

Excess Return   2.1 0.8 -0.1  -0.4  

eV ACWI ex-US All Cap Core Eq Gross Rank   22 57 80 -- 92 Dec-19
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 30 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Fixed Income 105,026,387 100.0 3.4 -4.2 -0.6 1.4 4.8 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   2.9 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 4.6 Dec-93

Excess Return   0.5 0.4 1.4 0.4 0.2  

Ramirez 71,307,125 67.9 3.3 -4.3 -0.6 1.3 1.7 Jan-17

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR   3.0 -4.8 -2.8 0.9 1.0 Jan-17

Excess Return   0.3 0.5 2.2 0.4 0.7  

eV US Core Fixed Inc Gross Rank   24 36 12 67 34 Jan-17

Wellington Core Bond 6,763,874 6.4 3.6 -5.3 -- -- -4.9 Apr-21

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR   3.0 -4.8 -- -- -4.5 Apr-21

Excess Return   0.6 -0.5   -0.4  

eV US Core Fixed Inc Gross Rank   5 89 -- -- 98 Apr-21

Reams 26,955,387 25.7 3.7 -3.5 0.6 3.7 5.2 Feb-98

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   2.9 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 4.2 Feb-98

Excess Return   0.8 1.1 2.6 2.7 1.0  

eV US Core Plus Fixed Inc Gross Rank   15 15 25 2 39 Feb-98
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 31 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Credit 8,909,576 100.0 3.7 -3.1 10.4 3.2 5.0 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR   3.6 -3.3 5.9 3.2 4.1 Feb-15

Excess Return   0.1 0.2 4.5 0.0 0.9  

Polen Capital 8,909,576 100.0 3.7 -3.1 10.4 3.2 5.0 Feb-15

ICE BofA High Yield Master TR   3.7 -3.6 5.8 3.1 4.0 Feb-15

Excess Return   0.0 0.5 4.6 0.1 1.0  

eV US High Yield Fixed Inc Gross Rank   32 65 4 75 14 Feb-15
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 32 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Covered Calls 22,993,243 100.0 6.2 -4.7 16.6 9.1 8.6 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   6.0 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.4 Apr-14

Excess Return   0.2 2.2 4.3 4.7 3.2  

Parametric BXM 11,572,026 50.3 5.2 -3.4 13.4 6.8 6.8 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   6.0 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.4 Apr-14

Excess Return   -0.8 3.5 1.1 2.4 1.4  

Parametric DeltaShift 11,421,217 49.7 7.2 -5.9 19.3 11.1 10.6 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   6.0 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.4 Apr-14

Excess Return   1.2 1.0 7.0 6.7 5.2  

eV US Large Cap Core Equity Gross Rank   28 44 29 40 61 Apr-14
XXXXX

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 33 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Crisis Risk Offset 39,437,113 100.0 0.0 -6.5 -8.7 -8.2 -8.8 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   1.1 6.4 2.1 -- -0.2 Aug-18

Excess Return   -1.1 -12.9 -10.8  -8.6  

Versor Trend Following 14,592,261 37.0 -8.7 -2.7 -- -- -2.7 Apr-22

SG Trend Index   -7.3 7.2 -- -- 7.2 Apr-22

Excess Return   -1.4 -9.9   -9.9  

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 14,571,848 36.9 6.8 -16.3 -11.5 -- -3.6 Jul-19

Bloomberg US Govt Long TR   6.2 -15.9 -11.3 -- -3.6 Jul-19

Excess Return   0.6 -0.4 -0.2  0.0  

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 10,273,004 26.0 4.6 5.8 -- -- 3.1 Feb-22

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   1.1 6.4 -- -- 4.3 Feb-22

Excess Return   3.5 -0.6   -1.2  
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 34 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Total Portfolio 5-Year Performance | As of  March 31, 2023

The actuarial expected rate of return was 8% through 6/30/2009, 7.5% through 6/30/2010, 7% through 6/30/2011, 6.75% through 6/30/2014, 6.5% through 2/31/2017 and 6.0% currently

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 35 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Plan Sponsor Peer Group Analysis | As of  March 31, 2023

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 36 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Domestic Equity | As of March 31, 2023

Page 37 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Northern Trust Russell 1000 | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Northern Trust Russell 1000 12.9% 15.0% 0.0% 1.0 -0.6 0.2% 98.5% 100.0%

     Russell 1000 13.0% 15.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 38 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

EARNEST Partners | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

EARNEST Partners 9.1% 17.9% 0.1% 1.0 0.2 3.6% 94.2% 99.3%

     Russell MidCap 8.4% 18.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 39 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Rice Hall James | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Rice Hall James 6.3% 22.3% 0.1% 0.9 0.0 7.8% 83.3% 94.8%

     Russell 2000 Growth 6.0% 23.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 40 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 0.5% 20.0% 0.4% 0.9 1.2 4.8% 104.3% 88.6%

     Russell 2000 Value -5.2% 21.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 41 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Wellington Select Quality Equity | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception. Annualized Return is not available for managers without a history longer than one year.

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Wellington Select Quality Equity 1.6% 18.0% 0.1% 0.7 0.1 10.2% 69.7% 72.4%

     Russell 1000 0.6% 23.1% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 42 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

International Equity | As of March 31, 2023

Page 43 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 6.5% 20.0% 0.0% 1.0 -0.1 2.6% 104.2% 102.3%

     FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD 6.6% 19.7% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 44 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 2.3% 18.8% -0.1% 1.0 -0.3 3.5% 92.2% 99.1%

     MSCI ACWI ex USA 3.4% 19.3% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 45 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Fixed Income | As of March 31, 2023

Fixed Income Fixed Income Characteristics

vs. Bloomberg US Universal TR

Portfolio Index

Q1-23 Q1-23
 

Fixed Income Characteristics

Yield to Maturity 4.94 5.10

Average Duration 6.18 6.25

Average Quality AA AA

Weighted Average Maturity 9.19 12.25

Page 46 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Ramirez | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Ramirez 1.4% 5.6% 0.0% 1.0 0.1 2.6% 113.1% 105.1%

     Bloomberg US Aggregate TR 1.0% 5.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 47 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Reams | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Reams 5.0% 5.6% 0.0% 1.1 0.2 3.8% 124.9% 100.1%

     Bloomberg Universal (Blend) 4.2% 3.9% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 48 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Wellington Core Bond | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Wellington Core Bond -5.0% 7.9% 0.0% 1.1 -0.6 0.9% 105.7% 107.1%

     Bloomberg US Aggregate TR -4.5% 7.3% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 49 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Polen Capital | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Polen Capital 4.3% 7.9% 0.1% 0.8 0.1 4.3% 76.0% 77.1%

     ICE BofA High Yield Master TR 4.0% 8.1% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 50 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Covered Calls | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Covered Calls 8.3% 11.8% 0.2% 1.0 0.7 4.1% 145.8% 103.0%

     CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD 5.4% 10.8% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Parametric BXM 6.6% 9.7% 0.2% 0.9 0.4 3.3% 96.3% 91.6%

     CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD 5.4% 10.8% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Parametric DeltaShift 10.2% 14.1% 0.3% 1.2 0.8 6.2% 210.3% 111.4%

     CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD 5.4% 10.8% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 51 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Crisis Risk Offset | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Crisis Risk Offset -10.20% 11.26% -0.82% 0.56 -0.88 11.07% -30.22% 98.01%

     SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index -0.49% 5.93% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

     SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index -0.49% 5.93% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Versor Trend Following -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

     SG Trend Index 11.16% 13.27% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF -3.63% 15.13% 0.00% 1.02 -0.04 1.19% 102.56% 101.12%

     Bloomberg US Govt Long TR -3.58% 14.86% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 52 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan | As of March 31, 2023

Benchmark History

As of March 31, 2023
_

OPFRS Total Plan

6/1/2022 Present
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA / 31% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 10% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index / 2%
Bloomberg US High Yield TR

1/1/2019 5/31/2022
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 33% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 6.7% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index / 3.3% Bloomberg US Treasury Long TR

5/1/2016 12/31/2018 48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 20% CBOE BXM

10/1/2015 4/30/2016
43% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 15% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

1/1/2014 9/30/2015
48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 10% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

3/1/2013 12/31/2013 40% Russell 3000 / 10% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 17% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 33% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

8/1/2012 2/28/2013 20% Russell 3000 / 7% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 18% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 55% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

10/1/2007 7/31/2012 53% Russell 3000 / 17% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 30% Bloomberg US Universal TR

4/1/2006 9/30/2007 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Universal TR

1/1/2005 3/31/2006 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 10% Russell 1000 / 20% Russell 1000 Value / 5% Russell MidCap / 15% MSCI EAFE

12/1/1988 3/31/1998 40% S&P 500 / 55% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 5% FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Page 53 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan | As of March 31, 2023

Benchmark History

As of March 31, 2023
_

Domestic Equity

1/1/2005 Present Russell 3000

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 28.57% Russell 1000 / 57.14% Russell 1000 Value / 14.29% Russell MidCap

6/1/1997 3/31/1998 S&P 500

International Equity

1/1/2005 Present MSCI ACWI ex USA

1/1/1998 12/31/2004 MSCI EAFE Gross

Fixed Income

4/1/2006 Present Bloomberg US Universal TR

12/31/1993 3/31/2006 Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

Covered Calls

4/1/2014 Present CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD

Crisis Risk Offset

8/1/2018 Present SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index

Cash

3/1/2011 Present FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Page 54 of 61 



  

 

 

 

Manager Monitoring / Probation Status 

Page 55 of 61 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

Manager Monitoring / Probation List | As of March 31, 2023  

 

 

Manager Monitoring/Probation Status 

Return vs. Benchmark since Corrective Action 

Investment Performance Criteria for Manager Monitoring/Probation Status 

Asset Class 

Short-term 

(Rolling 12 months) 

Medium-term 

(Rolling 36 months) 

Long-term 

(60 + months) 

Active Domestic Equity 
Fund return < benchmark return 

by 3.5% 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 1.75% for 6 consecutive months 
VRR3 < 0.97 for 6 consecutive months 

Active International Equity 
Fund return < benchmark return 

by 4.5% 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 2.0% for 6 consecutive months 
VRR < 0.97 for 6 consecutive months 

Passive International Equity Tracking Error > 0.50% 
Tracking Error > 0.45% for 6 consecutive 

months 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 0.4% for 6 consecutive months 

Fixed Income 
Fund return < benchmark return 

by 1.5% 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 1.0% for 6 consecutive months 
VRR < 0.98 for 6 consecutive months 

 

 
1 Annualized performance if over one year. Performance shown is gross-of-fees. 
2 Approximate date based on when the Board voted to either monitor a manager at a heightened level or place it on probation. 
3 VRR (Value Relative Ratio) is calculated as manager cumulative return/ benchmark return. 

Portfolio Status 

Concern Triggering  

the Watch Status 

Months Since  

Corrective Action 

Performance1 Since  

Corrective Action 

Peer Group  

Percentile Rank 

Date of  

Corrective Action2 

Rice Hall James On Watch 
Performance/ 

Organization 
45 7.6 70 5/29/2019 

Russell 2000 Growth    5.9   

Page 56 of 61 



Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 
 

Page 57 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  

Page 58 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

Credit Risk:  Refers to the risk that the issuer of a fixed income security may default (i.e., the issuer will be unable to make timely principal and/or interest payments on the security.) 

Duration:  Measure of the sensitivity of the price of a bond to a change in its yield to maturity.  Duration summarizes, in a single number, the characteristics that cause bond prices to 

change in response to a change in interest rates.  For example, the price of a bond with a duration of three years will rise by approximately 3% for each 1% decrease in its yield to maturity.  

Conversely, the price will decrease 3% for each 1% increase in the bond’s yield.  Price changes for two different bonds can be compared using duration.  A bond with a duration of six years 

will exhibit twice the percentage price change of a bond with a three-year duration.  The actual calculation of a bond’s duration is somewhat complicated, but the idea behind the calculation 

is straightforward.  The first step is to measure the time interval until receipt for each cash flow (coupon and principal payments) from a bond.  The second step is to compute a weighted 

average of these time intervals.  Each time interval is measured by the present value of that cash flow.  This weighted average is the duration of the bond measured in years. 

Information Ratio:  This statistic is a measure of the consistency of a portfolio’s performance relative to a benchmark.  It is calculated by subtracting the benchmark return from the 

portfolio return (excess return), and dividing the resulting excess return by the standard deviation (volatility) of this excess return.  A positive information ratio indicates outperformance 

versus the benchmark, and the higher the information ratio, the more consistent the outperformance. 

Jensen’s Alpha:  A measure of the average return of a portfolio or investment in excess of what is predicted by its beta or “market” risk.  Portfolio Return- [Risk Free Rate+Beta*(market 

return-Risk Free Rate)]. 

Market Capitalization:  For a firm, market capitalization is the total market value of outstanding common stock.  For a portfolio, market capitalization is the sum of the capitalization of 

each company weighted by the ratio of holdings in that company to total portfolio holdings; thus it is a weighted-average capitalization.  Meketa Investment Group considers the largest 

65% of the broad domestic equity market as large capitalization, the next 25% of the market as medium capitalization, and the smallest 10% of stocks as small capitalization. 

Market Weighted:  Stocks in many indices are weighted based on the total market capitalization of the issue.  Thus, the individual returns of higher market-capitalization issues will more 

heavily influence an index’s return than the returns of the smaller market-capitalization issues in the index. 

Maturity:  The date on which a loan, bond, mortgage, or other debt/security becomes due and is to be paid off. 

Prepayment Risk:  The risk that prepayments will increase (homeowners will prepay all or part of their mortgage) when mortgage interest rates decline; hence, investors’ monies will be 

returned to them in a lower interest rate environment.  Also, the risk that prepayments will slow down when mortgage interest rates rise; hence, investors will not have as much money as 

previously anticipated in a higher interest rate environment.  A prepayment is any payment in excess of the scheduled mortgage payment. 

Price-Book Value (P/B) Ratio:  The current market price of a stock divided by its book value per share.  Meketa Investment Group calculates P/B as the current price divided by Compustat's 

quarterly common equity.  Common equity includes common stock, capital surplus, retained earnings, and treasury stock adjusted for both common and nonredeemable preferred stock.  

Similar to high P/E stocks, stocks with high P/B’s tend to be riskier investments. 

  

Page 59 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

Price-Earnings (P/E) Ratio:  A stock’s market price divided by its current or estimated future earnings.  Lower P/E ratios often characterize stocks in low growth or mature industries, 

stocks in groups that have fallen out of favor, or stocks of established blue chip companies with long records of stable earnings and regular dividends.  Sometimes a company that has 

good fundamentals may be viewed unfavorably by the market if it is an industry that is temporarily out of favor.  Or a business may have experienced financial problems causing investors 

to be skeptical about is future.  Either of these situations would result in lower relative P/E ratios.  Some stocks exhibit above-average sales and earnings growth or expectations for above 

average growth.  Consequently, investors are willing to pay more for these companies’ earnings, which results in elevated P/E ratios.  In other words, investors will pay more for shares of 

companies whose profits, in their opinion, are expected to increase faster than average.  Because future events are in no way assured, high P/E stocks tend to be riskier and more volatile 

investments.  Meketa Investment Group calculates P/E as the current price divided by the I/B/E/S consensus of twelve-month forecast earnings per share. 

Quality Rating:  The rank assigned a security by such rating services as Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard & Poor’s.  The rating may be determined by such factors as (1) the likelihood of 

fulfillment of dividend, income, and principal payment of obligations; (2) the nature and provisions of the issue; and (3) the security’s relative position in the event of liquidation of the 

company.  Bonds assigned the top four grades (AAA, AA, A, BBB) are considered investment grade because they are eligible bank investments as determined by the controller of the 

currency. 

Sharpe Ratio:  A commonly used measure of risk-adjusted return.  It is calculated by subtracting the risk free return (usually three-month Treasury bill) from the portfolio return and 

dividing the resulting excess return by the portfolio’s total risk level (standard deviation).  The result is a measure of return per unit of total risk taken.  The higher the Sharpe ratio, the 

better the fund’s historical risk adjusted performance. 

STIF Account:  Short-term investment fund at a custodian bank that invests in cash-equivalent instruments.  It is generally used to safely invest the excess cash held by portfolio managers. 

Standard Deviation:  A measure of the total risk of an asset or a portfolio.  Standard deviation measures the dispersion of a set of numbers around a central point (e.g., the average return).  

If the standard deviation is small, the distribution is concentrated within a narrow range of values.  For a normal distribution, about two thirds of the observations will fall within one standard 

deviation of the mean, and 95% of the observations will fall within two standard deviations of the mean. 

Style:  The description of the type of approach and strategy utilized by an investment manager to manage funds.  For example, the style for equities is determined by portfolio 

characteristics such as price-to-book value, price-to-earnings ratio, and dividend yield.  Equity styles include growth, value, and core. 

Tracking Error:  A divergence between the price behavior of a position or a portfolio and the price behavior of a benchmark, as defined by the difference in standard deviation.  

  

Page 60 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

Yield to Maturity:  The yield, or return, provided by a bond to its maturity date; determined by a mathematical process, usually requiring the use of a “basis book.”  For example, a 5% bond 

pays $5 a year interest on each $100 par value.  To figure its current yield, divide $5 by $95—the market price of the bond—and you get 5.26%.  Assume that the same bond is due to 

mature in five years.  On the maturity date, the issuer is pledged to pay $100 for the bond that can be bought now for $95.  In other words, the bond is selling at a discount of 5% below par 

value.  To figure yield to maturity, a simple and approximate method is to divide 5% by the five years to maturity, which equals 1% pro rata yearly.  Add that 1% to the 5.26% current yield, 

and the yield to maturity is roughly 6.26%. 

 

5% (discount) 
= 

1% pro rata, plus 

5.26% (current yield) 
= 6.26% (yield to maturity) 

5 (yrs. to maturity) 

Yield to Worst: The lowest potential yield that can be received on a bond without the issuer actually defaulting.  The yield to worst is calculated by making worst-case scenario assumptions 

on the issue by calculating the returns that would be received if provisions, including prepayment, call, or sinking fund, are used by the issuer. 

NCREIF Property Index (NPI):  Measures unleveraged investment performance of a very large pool of individual commercial real estate properties acquired in the private market by 

tax-exempt institutional investors for investment purposes only.  The NPI index is capitalization-weighted for a quarterly time series composite total rate of return. 

NCREIF Fund Index - Open End Diversified Core Equity (NFI-ODCE):  Measures the investment performance of 28 open-end commingled funds pursuing a core investment strategy that 

reflects funds' leverage and cash positions.  The NFI-ODCE index is equal-weighted and is reported gross and net of fees for a quarterly time series composite total rate of return. 

Sources:  Investment Terminology, International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans, 1999. 

 The Handbook of Fixed Income Securities, Fabozzi, Frank J., 1991 

The Russell Indices®, TM, SM are trademarks/service marks of the Frank Russell Company. 

Throughout this report, numbers may not sum due to rounding. 

Returns for periods greater than one year are annualized throughout this report. 

Values shown are in millions of dollars, unless noted otherwise. 

Page 61 of 61 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  Annual Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion (DEI) Questionnaire Results 

 

This memorandum provides the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) with the data 

collected from OPFRS’s investment managers regarding their diversity representation as of 

December 31, 2022. OPFRS requested Meketa to collect this information at the December 2020 Board 

meeting as part of the discussion on minority representation at a specific manager, and to present as 

a recurring annual report. 

In the same year in 2020, Meketa launched a formal initiative to gather data from public and private 

market asset management firms within our proprietary database to evaluate asset management 

firms’ efforts on diversity, equity, and inclusion matters more thoroughly within their organizations. 

In March 2023, the third Annual Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion Questionnaire results were published to 

report on the managers’ work in this area. In this questionnaire, 923 firms—including OPFRS’s thirteen 

managers—were requested for information; 528 firms responded with at least some information.1 

The data collected from OPFRS’s thirteen investment managers along with the aggregate findings from 

the questionnaire are summarized in the following section. Please note that response bias is likely in 

the averages derived from all the responded firms, with firms which have focused more on 

DEI initiatives opting to respond to the questionnaire. 

 
1 Please note that not every firm responded to every question. 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Race & Ethnicity 

All Firm 

Average 

(439)1 Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James 

Strategic 

Global 

Advisors Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 856 45 46 634 799 210 28 37 27 23 18000 10 3384 

African/Black 5% 9% 21% 2% 10% 4% 4% 14% -- -- 4% 8% 10% 6% 

Asian 13% 7% 21% 20% 10% 18% 9% 14% 3% 7% 26% 12% 40% 28% 

Latino/Hispanic 5% 2% -- 4% 7% 4% 5% 18% 3% 4% -- 5% 10% 4% 

White 68% 79% 58% 72% 70% 70% 76% 54% 91% 85% 70% 73% 40% 55% 

Other 4% 3% -- 2% 3% 4% 6% -- 3% 4% -- 2% -- 2% 

Not Disclosed 5% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

Investment Team 

Average 

(412) Brown2 Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Investment 

Team Employees  
-- 74 15 23 381 187 37 10 16 15 12 -- 4 836 

African/Black 3% 1% 20% -- 9% 2% 5% 10% -- -- -- 2% -- 5% 

Asian 15% 16% 27% 17% 10% 16% 8% 30% 6% -- 42% 22% 50% 26% 

Latino/Hispanic 4% -- -- 4% 7% 3% -- 10% 6% -- -- 3% -- 4% 

White 65% 82% 53% 75% 72% 75% 82% 50% 82% 93% 58% 70% 50% 61% 

Other 4% 1% -- 4% 2% 4% 5% -- 6% 7% -- 3% -- -- 

Not Disclosed 9% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 4% 

  

 
1 Number in the parenthesis after “Average” represents the number of firms which provided data for the question. 
2 Brown noted that the number of investment team employees includes only the investment professionals in the institutional business. 

Page 2 of 4 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Race & Ethnicity (Continued) 

Sr Organization 

Management 

Average 

(410) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Sr Org 

Mgmt Employees  
-- 25 8 5 44 10 11 4 1 11 5 -- 8 662 

African/Black 3% 8% 13% -- 5% 10% -- 25% -- -- -- -- 13% 2% 

Asian 9% -- 25% -- 20% 10% -- 25% -- 9% -- -- 38% 15% 

Latino/Hispanic 3% -- -- -- -- 10% -- 25% -- -- -- -- -- 3% 

White 77% 92% 62% 100% 70% 70% 91% 25% 100% 91% 100% 75% 49% 76% 

Other 3% -- -- -- 5% -- 9% -- -- -- -- -- -- 1% 

Not Disclosed 5% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 3% 

 

While Vanguard did not provide detailed breakdown of employee composition by race and ethnicity information for this employee population, it 

noted that in the US, non-white individuals represent 23% of leaders, 21% of officers, 25% of executive management, and 18% of the board of directors. 

Executive management data is applied to this table to derive the percentage of white employees in the senior organization management population.  

Page 3 of 4 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Gender 

All Firm 

Average 

(460) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 856 45 46 634 799 210 28 37 27 23 18000 10 3384 

Women  36% 45% 40% 17% 38% 36% 40% 32% 41% 30% 44% 40% 40% 45% 

Men 63% 55% 60% 83% 62% 64% 60% 68% 59% 70% 57% 60% 60% 55% 

Non-Binary -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Not Disclosed 1% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

Investment 

Team 

Average 

(431) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Investment 

Team Employees  
-- 74 15 23 381 187 37 10 16 15 12 -- 4 836 

Women  21% 31% 20% -- 32% 24% 19% 46% 13% 20% 25% 23% 25% 31% 

Men 77% 69% 80% 100% 68% 77% 81% 60% 87% 80% 75% 77% 75% 69% 

Non-Binary -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Not Disclosed 3% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

Sr Organization 

Management 

Average 

(422) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Sr Org 

Mgmt Employees  
-- 25 8 5 44 10 11 4 1 11 5 -- 8 662 

Women  24% 32% 13% -- 30% 30% 18% 25% -- 36% 40% 64% 63% 28% 

Men 75% 68% 88% 100% 70% 70% 82% 75% 100% 64% 60% 36% 38% 72% 

Non-Binary -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Not Disclosed 1% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Vanguard noted that globally, women represent: 44% of leaders, 39% of officers, 25% of executive management, and 27% of the board of directors.

Page 4 of 4 





PAGE 2 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Meketa has a longstanding commitment to Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI). We 

believe that DEI is a key differentiator in the marketplace, which can lead to better 

social and investment outcomes.  

We also have considerable experience with and are dedicated to selecting, 

evaluating, and monitoring diverse and emerging managers in every asset class to 

bring the strongest investment opportunities to our clients. In 2017, we began hosting 

an emerging and diverse manager event to broaden our exposure to small and 

diverse firms. These emerging manager events are organized and hosted by our 

Emerging and Diverse Manager Committee in conjunction with manager research 

and consulting teams in the fall and spring each year.  

In 2020 as a next step in our commitment to DEI, Meketa launched a formal initiative 

to gather data from public and private market asset management firms within our 

proprietary database. The initiative focused on evaluating asset management firm’s 

efforts to understand DEI more thoroughly within their organizations. 2022 marks 

the third year in a row we have asked firms to complete our questionnaire to report 

on their work in this area.  

As the asset management industry continues its focus on improving DEI, we believe 

an increase in transparency and reporting, more clarity on policies and internal 

initiatives, and a better understanding of employee conduct and regulations provides 

the industry with more information to enhance the chances of success to create long-

lasting results. 

This report summarizes the results of our third annual DEI questionnaire. Of 923 

firms surveyed, 528 firms responded. The 2022 response rate is a 5% increase 

from managers compared to 2021 and a 55% increase from 2020. (Please note, not 

every firm responded to every question.) The construction of the questionnaire is 

in three sections: (1) Transparency and Reporting, (2) Policies and Initiatives, and 

(3) Employee Conduct. In this report, we will summarize our findings from the 

questionnaire and conclude with recommendations for asset managers that could 

serve as differentiators in the future.

** Note that respondent bias is likely in the results, with firms focusing more on DEI 

initiatives opting to respond to the questionnaire. The following analysis summarizes 

key findings from the responses received.

INTRODUCTION

*  Information regarding the methodology and 

DEI-related terms specific to this questionnaire 

can be found in the appendix. 





PAGE 4 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

KEY 

TAKEAWAYS

Figure 1
KEY TAKEAWAYS 

Source: Meketa Investment Group 

2022 Questionnaire.

Firm Composition  

by Race and Gender

New Hires, Promotions,  

and Turnover Rates Reporting

 → 439 organizations reported 

total firm diversity statistics, with 

only 229 reporting diversity 

statistics for their Board, and 

255 reporting diversity statistics 

for equity ownership. It is worth 

noting that not all firms have a 

Board in place.

 → On trend with past years, 

women continue to be the 

least represented in portfolio 

management positions (21%) 

while diverse employees are 

least represented on the board 

of directors (25%).

 → Lower-level positions are the 

most diverse by racial and 

gender measures. (Operations 

top quartile > 40% diverse and 

>56% female. Admin top quartile 

> 46% diverse and >82% female.) 

 → Veteran, disabled, and 

LGBTQIA+ employee 

representation was <2% across 

all categories.

 → 28% of firms reported planning 

to expand diversity. 

 → Over half (53%) of firms 

reported tracking and 

measuring the levels and 

time to promotion across 

diverse groups. 

 → Nearly 60% of new hires 

and promotions were 

given to non-racially 

diverse people. Asian 

Americans were next at 

14%, with all other diverse 

groups offered jobs or 

promotions in the single 

digits. 

 → Women made up 

40% of new hires and 

promotions. 

 → The turnover rate was 

16% higher for men than 

women in 2022, starkly 

contrasting the prior 

year, which was 4% higher 

for women. Over half of 

the resignations were 

from non-racially diverse 

people.

 → Regarding reporting, 

74% of firms released 

annual diversity 

statistics to their clients, 

followed closely by the 

consultants covering 

the firm at 70%, their 

prospects at 58%, and 

regulators at 23%. 

 → Excluding reporting to 

regulators, firms have 

increased reporting 

diversity statistics by 

20% compared to last 

year.  

 







PAGE 7 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Figure 7
2022 TURNOVER RATE BY 

DIVERSITY 

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire.

Figure 8
2022 TURNOVER RATE BY 

GENDER

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire.



PAGE 8 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

REPORTING

Figure 9
RECIPIENTS OF ANNUAL 

DIVERSITY STATISTICS REPORT 

FROM ASSET MANAGERS 

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire. 





PAGE 10 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

KEY 

TAKEAWAYS

Figure 10
KEY TAKEAWAYS 

Source: Meketa Investment Group 

2022 Questionnaire.

Recruitment and Retention

LGBTQIA+ and  

Family Planning

Service Providers  

and  DEI

 → From our research we found 

a 4% increase in  firms that 

have a formal DEI policy in 

place, from 78% to 82%. An 

additional 4% have committed 

to implementing a policy in 

the next 12 months. 

 → Over two-thirds of firms 

reported that members of 

senior management partake 

in the firm’s Diversity and 

Inclusion committee or group.

 → There was a 6% increase 

in the number of firms that 

reported using diversity 

targets compared to 2021. 

 → While 54% of firms define 

goals and measure diversity 

outcomes at all levels of the 

organization and across 

departments, only 42% 

of senior management 

has included DEI in their 

performance objectives over 

the past year. This statistic is 

up 6% from 36% in 2021. 

 → Over three-quarters of 

firms reported that diversity 

statistics were regularly 

reviewed by the Executive 

Committee or Board in the 

last 12 months. 

 → 80% of firms reported 

engaging with 

organizations or 

programs that promote 

the recruitment and 

retention of diverse 

groups However, formal 

mentorship, sponsorship, 

or employer affinity 

programs for women or 

diverse groups is less 

common at 56%. Only 30% 

offer LGBTQIA+ employee 

resource groups. 

 

 → 45% of firms offer health 

coverage that covers 

transitioning costs. 34% 

do not cover transitioning 

costs and 21% did not 

respond. 

 → An average of 40% 

of firms offer family 

formation benefits: in-vitro 

fertilization, infertility 

treatment coverage, 

and adoption assistance 

regardless of sex. 28% 

provide cryopreservation, 

22% provide foster care 

assistance and 21% offer 

surrogacy benefits. 

 → There was a slight 

increase (1%) in the 

number of firms that 

have written policies 

in place to ensure 

equal pay for equal 

work. However, there 

was a significant 11%, 

increase of firms that 

monitor gender pay gap 

disparities and a 12% 

increase in those that 

monitor racial pay gap 

disparities. 

 → The percentage of 

firms that partner with 

Minority, Women, and 

Disadvantaged Business 

Enterprises (“MWDBE”) 

increased at a third 

of the rate from the 

previous year. 

 







PAGE 13 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

RECRUITMENT 

AND RETENTION

Figure 17 

DOES THE FIRM’S HEALTH 

COVERAGE COVER 

TRANSITIONING COSTS?

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire. 

Figure 18 

PERCENTAGE OF FIRMS THAT 

OFFER FAMILY FORMATION 

BENEFITS REGARDLESS OF SEX 

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire. 













PAGE 19 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Across the asset management industry, we saw small but increasing numbers of 

female and diverse individuals in equity ownership, senior management, and 

portfolio management. We are encouraged by the series of actions taken to achieve 

better results with respect to creating more diverse, equitable, and inclusive firms. 

Our 2022 DEI survey was more expansive as we continue to refine our approach.  

Whether refining our questions on recruitment and retention or adding questions on 

healthcare and employee resource groups, our continuing improvements bolster our 

efforts around improving clarity and  transparency in our DEI survey efforts. As we 

continue our annual surveys, we anticipate more progress to be made and we look 

forward to increased efforts made by asset management firms.

We acknowledge that fully integrating DEI into the teams and cultures of firms will 

not happen overnight. Firms will need time, resources, and buy-in to sustainably 

evolve into more diverse organizations. Asset management firms may continue to 

differentiate themselves by focusing on the following areas:

  Establish a plan to add more representation to key decision-making positions

  Continue to measure how the firm’s policies and committees contribute to the 

firm’s overall DEI strategy

  Mentorship is to recruitment as sponsorship is to retention. Consider increasing 

sponsorship opportunities to elevate underrepresented groups

  Evaluate service providers’ DEI policies to ensure an alignment of values

SUMMARY 

CONCLUSIONS



PAGE 20 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Definitions: Below are definitions of the DEI-related terms specific to this questionnaire:

  Diverse groups are defined on the basis of the following factors: race/ethnicity, 

LGBTQIA+ identity, veteran status and disability.

  Racial/Ethnic Minorities are defined as non-white minorities.

  Other Diverse Groups refer to those who identify as LGBTQIA+, Veterans and 

Persons with Disabilities.

  Diversity is defined as the inclusion of Women and Diverse groups while Inclusion is 

defined as the practice of equal recognition, respect, and merit-based evaluation.

  The use of the term Diverse is meant to represent a numerical minority.

Methodology: The questionnaire was distributed to all public and private markets 

asset management firms in November 2022. Asset managers completed the 

questionnaire with best available data. All responses were collected from November 

29, 2022 through February 1, 2023. 

APPENDIX

Asset Manager: Includes public and private managers in Meketa’s database as of 

November 2022.

Clients: Current clients of asset managers who responded to the questionnaire.

Consultants: Oversee asset managers who responded to the questionnaire. 

Prospects: Potential clients of an asset manager who responded to the questionnaire.

Regulators: Bodies established by governments or other organizations that oversee 

the functioning and fairness of financial markets and the firms that engage in financial 

activity.

Service Providers: Third-party suppliers, vendors, or subcontractors of asset 

managers who responded to the questionnaire.



PAGE 21 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

If you want to learn more, or access Meketa’s library of white papers and economic 

research, please contact us or visit https://meketa.com/thought-leadership/.

CONTACT

US

MIAMI

5200 Blue Lagoon Drive 

Suite 120

Miami, FL 33126

P: 305.341.2900

LONDON

25 Green Street

London  W1K 7AX

P: 011 +44 0203.841.6255

BOSTON

80 University Ave.

Westwood, MA 02090

P: 781.471.3500

F: 781.471.3411

CHICAGO

1 East Wacker Drive 

Suite 1210

Chicago, IL 60601

P: 312.474.0900

F: 312.474.0904

NEW YORK

48 Wall Street

11th Floor

New York, NY  10005

P: 212.918.4783

F:212.918.4549

PORTLAND

2175 NW Raleigh Street

Suite 300A

Portland, OR 97210

P: 503.226.1050

F:503.226.7702

SAN DIEGO

5796 Armada Drive 

Suite 110

Carlsbad, CA 92008 

P: 760.795.3450

F:760.795.3445

DISCLOSURE

THIS CONTAINS CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF MEKETA 

INVESTMENT GROUP AND IS INTENDED FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE PARTIES 

TO WHOM IT WAS PROVIDED BY MEKETA. ITS CONTENT MAY NOT BE MODIFIED, 

SOLD, OR OTHERWISE PROVIDED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR 

ENTITY WITHOUT MEKETA’S PRIOR WRITTEN PERMISSION.



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh St 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (OPFRS) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (Meketa) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  2023 Ongoing Strategic Investment Agenda 

 

On an ongoing (monthly) basis, Meketa develops a list of projects that we expect to work closely with 

OPFRS to complete over throughout the calendar year (see table below). In an attempt to coordinate 

the scheduling of these tasks, this memo details a Preliminary Investment Project Agenda by 

calendaring and prioritizing the expected tasks and deliverables that would be required to fulfill the 

Agenda. Meketa welcomes any suggestions and/or modifications to the proposed timeline. 

2023 Preliminary Investment Project Agenda 

Expected Completion Date Task 

June 2023 

Flash Performance Report (2023 May) 

Cash Flow Report (3Q 2023) 

Informational Item: TBD 

Manager Update: Brown Advisory 

July 2023 
Flash Performance Report (2023 Jun) 

Manager Update: Wellington; Northern Trust 

August 2023 

Flash Performance Report (2023 Jul) 

Quarterly Performance Report (2Q 2023) 

Manager Update: Kepos 

September 2023 

Flash Performance Report (2023 Aug) 

Cash Flow Report (4Q 2023) 

Asset Class Review: Credit 

Thermal Coal List Update: 2023 

October 2023 

Flash Performance Report (2023 Sep) 

Informational Item: TBD 

Manager Update: Versor 

Manager Update & Contract Renewal: Parametric 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 2 of 3 

Expected Completion Date Task 

November 2023 

Flash Performance Report (2023 Oct) 

Quarterly Performance Report (3Q 2023) 

Manager Update: Strategic Global Advisors 

December 2023 

Flash Performance Report (2023 Nov) 

Cash Flow Report (1Q 2024) 

Manager Update: Ramirez 

Informational Item: TBD 

This agenda includes only major strategic items. Meketa also expects to work with the Staff and Board 

to complete more routine tasks and projects, as expected. 

DS/PN/JLC/mn 

  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 3 of 3 

Disclosure 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED 

RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND 

THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. ANY OPINIONS OR 

RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF 

THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK. THERE 

CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE 

SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, 

CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN 

PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN.   

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING 

STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” 

“SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” 

OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 

TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, 

OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY 

ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 

DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS 

PRESENTATION.  

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE 

IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS. 

 



Page 1 of 5 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 31, 2023 
11:30 AM 

ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM 1 
  OAKLAND, CA  94612 

OBSERVE 

▪ To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link:   
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983 at the noticed meeting time.  

▪ To listen to the meeting by phone, please call the numbers below at the noticed meeting time: 
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):  

▪ iPhone one-tap: US: +16699006833, 82880493983# or +13462487799, 82880493983# 

▪ US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 
6799 or +1 929 205 6099  

▪ International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax 

▪ Webinar ID: 828 8049 3983. 

▪ If asked for a participant ID or code, press #. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There are two ways to submit public comments.  

▪ Speaker Card:  All persons wishing to address the Board must complete a speaker’s card, stating 
their name and the agenda item they wish to address, including “Open Forum”. 

▪ eComment:  To send your comment directly to staff BEFORE the meeting starts, please email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov with “PFRS Board Meeting Public Comment” in the subject line for the 
corresponding meeting.  Please note that eComment submission closes two (2) hours before 
posted meeting time.  

If you have any questions, please email Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II at 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, California 94612 

 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEMBERS 

Walter L. Johnson, Sr. 
President 

Jaime T. Godfrey 
Vice President 

Martin J. Melia 
Member 

Robert W. Nichelini 
Member 

John C. Speakman 
Member 

R. Steven Wilkinson 
Member 

Erin Roseman 
Member 

 

REGULAR MEETING of the BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

AGENDA 

Due to the termination of the 
statewide COVID-19 State of 
Emergency by the Governor of 
California, effective March 1, 2023, 
all meetings of the Oakland Police 
& Fire Retirement System Board 
and its Committees will be 
conducted in person. 

Meetings are held in wheelchair 
accessible facilities. 

The Board may take action on 
items not on the agenda only if 
findings pursuant to the Sunshine 
Ordinance and Brown Act are 
made that the matter is urgent or 
an emergency. 

For additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling (510) 
238-7295. or send an email to 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov
mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 5 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS  

   
   

A. Subject: POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) BOARD OF 
ADMINISTRATION MEETING MINUTES 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE the March 29, 2023 PFRS Board of Administration Meeting 
Minutes 

   
B. Subject: INFORMATIONAL REPORT REGARDING ACTUARIAL FUNDING 

 From: Cheiron, Inc., PFRS Plan Actuary 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding actuarial funding as it relates 
to the July 1, 2026 Actuarial Funding Date 

   
   

C. AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MAY 31, 2023 
  

C1. Subject: ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding PFRS administrative expenses 

as of March 31, 2023 
   
   

C2. Subject: ELECTION OF 5-YR RETIRED POLICE REPRESENTATIVE TO THE 
PFRS BOARD 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the election of the 5-Year 

Retired Police Representative for the PFRS Board seat currently held 
by member Robert W. Nichelini 

   
   

C3. Subject: RESOLUTION NO.8078 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: APPROVE of Resolution No. 8078 ratifying the Board President’s 

approval of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Trustee R. 
Steven Wilkinson’s request to attend the Milken Institute Global 
Conference from April 30, 2023 Through May 3, 2023  in Beverly Hills, 
CA, and authorizing reimbursement of travel-related expenses in an 
amount not to exceed Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000.00) 

   
   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 5 

D. INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE AGENDA –  MAY 31, 2023 
  

D1. Subject: INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE UPDATE – RICE HALL 
JAMES & ASSOCIATES 

 From: Rice Hall James & Associates 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding a firm overview and 

managerial assessment; diversity and inclusion policy and practices; 
and investment strategy and portfolio performance of Rice Hall James 
& Associates, a PFRS’ Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth 
Investment Strategy Manager 

   
D2. Subject: INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE REVIEW – RICE HALL 

JAMES & ASSOCIATES 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT  Meketa Investment Group’s review and evaluation of Rice 

Hall James & Associates, a PFRS Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth 
Investment Strategy Manager, regarding a firm overview and 
managerial assessment; investment portfolio performance; peer 
ranking, watch status update; and recommendation to 
maintain/terminate the current professional services agreement.  
DISCUSS and APPROVE the Committees course of action with regard 
to Rice Hall James & Associates 

   
   

D3. Subject: BENCHMARK REVIEW: CRISIS RISK OFFSET INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Crisis Risk Offset 

Investment Strategy Benchmark Review and Meketa’s 
recommendation to update the strategy’s policy benchmark and for the 
change to be reflected in the PFRS Investment Policy Strategy. 
DISCUSS and APPROVE of the Committee’s course of action with 
regard to updating the Credit Risk Offset policy benchmark. 

   
   

D4. Subject: INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW AS OF APRIL 30, 2023 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Global Investment Markets 

as of April 30, 2023  
   
   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 5 

D5. Subject: PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS 
OF APRIL 30, 2023 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Preliminary Investment 

Fund Performance Update as of February 28, 2023 
   
   

D6. Subject: INVESTMENT FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS 
OF MARCH 31, 2023 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT Investment Fund Quarterly Performance Update as of                 

March 31, 2023 
   
   

D7. Subject: 2023 ANNUAL DIVERSITY SURVEY RESULTS:  CURRENT PFRS 
INVESTMENT MANAGERS AND ANNUAL INDUSTRY REPORT 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT  informational report regarding the diversity representation of 

current PFRS Investment Managers and across the industry as of 
December 31, 2022 

   
E. Subject: MEMBER RESOLUTIONS NOS. 8076 – 8077 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: APPROVE Member Resolution Nos. 8076 – 8077 
   

E1. RESOLUTION 
NO. 8076 

Resolution fixing the monthly allowance of surviving spouse of the 
following retired member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 
System in the amount indicated: 
 Deceased Member Surviving Spouse Monthly Allowance 

▪ Harold D. Pendergrass Sharon K. Pendergrass $ 4,288.67 

 

E2. RESOLUTION 
NO. 8077 

Resolution approving death benefit payments and directing warrants 
thereunder in the total sum of $1,000.00 payable to the beneficiary of 
the following deceased member of the Oakland Police and Fire 
Retirement System: 

▪ Norbert F. Banach 
▪ George S. Eberhardt 
▪ Clyde Walker 

 

   
   
   
   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MAY 31, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 

F. Subject: MANNER AND FREQUENCY OF PFRS BOARD AND COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS 

 From: PFRS Legal Counsel 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT public legal opinion regarding the manner and frequency of 

PFRS Board and Committee meetings; DISCUSS legal opinion and 
recommendation for reduction in frequency of meetings; and 
APPROVE change to Article 5, section 5.2 of the PFRS Rules and 
Regulations by 1) reading recommended proposed rule change from 
public legal opinion into the record (first reading) or 2) by directing staff 
to return with a recommendation for a change to Article 5, section 5.2(b) 
of the PFRS Rules and Regulations consistent with the Board’s 
recommendation and discussion. 

   
G. PENDING ITEMS: NONE 

H. NEW BUSINESS: REQUEST/RECOMMENDATION to schedule a Board Agenda Item 
regarding requirements to initiate and conduct hybrid meetings to 
engage with presenters and facilitate public comment via virtual 
participation 

I. OPEN FORUM 

J. FUTURE SCHEDULING 

K. ADJOURNMENT 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 1 OF 4 

 

A MEETING OF THE OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) BOARD 

OF ADMINISTRATION was held on Wednesday, March 29, 2023 at One Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, 

Hearing Room 1, Oakland, CA. 

Board Members: ▪ Walter L. Johnson President  

 ▪ Jaime T. Godfrey Vice President (EXCUSED) 

 ▪ Martin J. Melia Member (EXCUSED) 

 ▪ Robert W. Nichelini  Member 
 ▪ Erin Roseman Member 

 ▪ John C. Speakman Member 

 ▪ R. Steven Wilkinson Member  

Additional Attendees: ▪ David F. Jones PFRS Secretary & Plan Administrator 

 ▪ Téir Jenkins PFRS Investment & Operations Manager 

 ▪ Maxine Visaya PFRS Staff Member 

 ▪ Selia Warren PFRS Legal Counsel 

 ▪ David Sancewich Meketa Investment Group 

 ▪ Paola Nealon Meketa Investment Group 

The meeting was called to order at 11:41 a.m. Pacific 

A. PFRS BOARD MEETING MINUTES – Member Speakman made a motion to approve the           
February 22, 2023 Board of Administration Meeting Minutes, second by Member Wilkinson. 
Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

Plan Administrator & Secretary Jones welcomed the Board back to in-person meetings and made introductions of 

Erin Roseman, Selia Warren, and Maxine Visaya as they had not previously attended an in-person meeting.               

D. Jones also thanked the Board for their support and staff for making the transition to Zoom seamless and 

productive. 

B. AUDIT AND OPERATIONS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MARCH 29, 2023 

B1. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES REPORT – Investment & Operations Manager Jenkins 

presented an informational report on PFRS’ administrative expenditures as of January 31, 2023.  

PFRS has an approved annual budget of approximately $3.6 million and have expensed 

approximately $1.1 million to date for fiscal year 2022/2023.  Membership consisted of 671 retired 

members, which included 415 Police Members and 256 Fire Members. 

MOTION:  Member Speakman made a motion to accept the informational report  regarding the 

Administrative Expenses Report presented by Investment & Operations Manager, second by 

Member Nichelini. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 2 OF 4 

 

B2. PFRS 2-YEAR ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEARS 2023/2024 AND 2024/2025 – 

Investment & Operations Manager Jenkins presented the proposed PFRS 2-Year Administrative 

Budget for Fiscal Years 2023/2024 and 2024/2025.  T. Jenkins noted the current budget is 

approximately $3.6 million and Staff proposed a slight increase of 4% to $3.8 million. Projected 

increases include staff salaries due to the recent MOU between the City and Local 21 which 

granted a 5% Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) and contractual increases to our Audit and Actuary 

services. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion made a motion to approve the proposed PFRS          

2-Year Administrative Budget for Fiscal Years 2023/2024 and 2024/2025, second by Member 

Speakman. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 
 

B3. PFRS Annual Report for Year Ended June 30, 2022 – PFRS Investment & Operations Manager 

Jenkins presented the proposed PFRS Annual Report for year ended June 30, 2022. T. Jenkins 

and Plan Administrator Jones acknowledged all the hard work that goes into producing the annual 

report and thanked both internal and external contributors, as well as the retirees for all they bring 

to the report. Plan Administrator Jones also welcomed member feedback to provide for 

enhancements and suggestions for additional content they would like to see incorporated into 

future reports. 

MOTION:  Member Speakman made a motion to accept the proposed PFRS Annual Report for 

year ended June 30, 2022 and approve for printing and distribution, second by Member Nichelini. 

Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 
 

C. INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MARCH 29, 2023  

C1. INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE REVIEW – POLEN CAPITAL CREDIT – David 

Sancewich of Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) presented an overview memo regarding a 

performance review, evaluation, and watch status update of Polen Capital Credit (“Polen”), a 

PFRS High Yield Fixed Income Investment Strategy Manager. D. Sancewich recommended 

taking Polen off watch status as their performance has improved and the organization has settled 

down following the merger.  Meketa has no concerns from an investment standpoint, however it 

was noted Meketa will review the credit allocation, as part of PFRS total plan, to determine if this 

strategy continues to be a good fit within the PFRS portfolio. 

MOTION:  Member Wilkinson made a motion to accept Meketa’s performance review regarding 

Polen and the recommendation to remove Watch Status, second by Member Nichelini. Motion 

Passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 3 OF 4 

 

C2. INVESTMENT MARKET OVERVIEW AS OF FEBRUARY 28, 2023 – Paola Nealon of Meketa 

presented an informational report regarding the Investment Market Overview as of February 28, 

2023 and highlighted Index Returns and current factors impacting outcomes. 

MOTION:  Member Wilkinson made a motion to accept the informational report provided by 

Meketa regarding the Investment Market Overview as of February 28, 2023, second by Member 

Speakman. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

C3. PRELIMINARY INVESTMENT FUND PERFORMANCE UPDATE AS OF FEBRIUARY 28, 2023 

Paola Nealon of Meketa presented the Preliminary Investment Fund Performance Update as of 

February 28, 2023 and highlighted Allocation vs. Targets and Policy and the Asset Class 

Performance Summary and current factors impacting outcomes. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept the informational report provided by 

Meketa regarding the Preliminary Investment Fund Performance Update as of February 28, 2023, 

second by Member Speakman. Motion Passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

C4. $14.2 MILLION DRAWDOWN FOR MEMBER RETIREMENT ALLOWANCES (FISCAL YEAR 

2022/2023; QUARTER ENDING JUNE 30, 2023) – David Sancewich of Meketa presented an 

informational report and recommendation for a $14.2 million drawdown; which includes an $8.2 

Million contribution from the City of Oakland and a $6.0 Million contribution from the PFRS 

Investment Fund, to be used to pay the April 1, 2023 through June 30, 2023 Member Retirement 

Allowances and PFRS contribution be drawn from the Earnest Partners portfolio. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Meketa’s recommendation regarding a 

$14.2 Million Drawdown to fund Member Retirement Allowances and PFRS contribution be drawn 

from the Earnest Partners portfolio, second by Member Speakman. Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

C5. 2023 10-YEAR CAPITAL MARKET ASSUMPTIONS REVIEW – David Sancewich of Meketa 

presented an informational report regarding Investment Return Expectations and 2023 10-year 

Capital Market Assumptions. D. Sancewich noted Meketa will continue to de-risk the portfolio as 

we near the 2026 Actuarial Funding Date. 

MOTION:  Member Wilkinson made a motion to accept the informational report provided by 

Meketa regarding Investment Return Expectations and 2023 10-Year Capital Market 

Assumptions Review, second by Member Speakman. Motion Passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 



PFRS BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 29, 2023 
PAGE 4 OF 4 

 

D. PENDING ITEMS – Plan Administrator Jones provided a review of the Board pending item to 

review options regarding the frequency and manner of Committee and Board Meetings.  

President Johnson requested a written legal opinion on the matter and to bring forward for 

discussion at the next meeting. 

E. NEW BUSINESS – None 

F. OPEN FORUM – President Johnson noted food must be served in a different space and, in the 

interest of time, suggested lunch be provided after the conclusion of the Board meeting.  The 

Board consented. 

G. FUTURE SCHEDULING – The next Regular Board Meeting will be held in-person and is 

tentatively scheduled to occur April 26, 2023. 

H. ADJOURNMENT –Member Nichelini made a motion to adjourn, second by Member Speakman. 

Motion passed. 

[JOHNSON: Y / GODFREY: EXCUSED / MELIA: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: Y / SPEAKMAN: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / ABSENT: 0 / ABSTAIN: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

The meeting adjourned at 12:11 p.m.  

 

 
 

              

    DAVID F. JONES                     DATE 
           PLAN ADMINISTRATOR 



 

Via Electronic Mail 

 

May 23, 2023 

 

City of Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System Board 

150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 

Oakland, CA 94612 

 

Re:  Issues Related to the Wind-Down of the Plan 

 

Dear Members of the Board: 

 

This memo provides an overview of the key issues related to the wind-down of the City of Oakland 

Police and Fire Retirement Plan (PFRS) in accordance with Article XXVI of the Oakland City 

Code. It discusses the meaning of "actuarially funding all liabilities," the challenges in determining 

the funding status by the deadline, and the considerations for de-risking the plan's assets. 

Additionally, it highlights the ongoing experience study being conducted by Cheiron to review the 

Plan’s assumptions. 

 

Background 

 

As per Article XXVI of the Oakland City Code, the City of Oakland is required to "actuarially 

fund all liabilities for all members prior to July 1, 1976, by July 1, 2026." This memo aims to 

provide guidance on the necessary steps and challenges involved in meeting this requirement and 

successfully winding down the PFRS. 

 

To actuarially fund all liabilities means that the plan's assets must exceed or match its liabilities. 

In simpler terms, the plan should have sufficient funds to cover all present and future benefits 

owed to its members. Actuaries use various assumptions to estimate the amount required, including 

life expectancy, retirement age, and investment returns. Meeting this requirement ensures that all 

members receive their promised benefits and that the plan remains financially stable. 

 

Challenges in Determining Funding Status by the Deadline 

 

Determining whether the PFRS is fully funded by the July 1, 2026 deadline poses several 

challenges. An actuarial valuation, which measures the plan's assets and liabilities, cannot be 

completed until several months after the deadline. This is due to the time needed to gather and 

analyze data, such as investment performance, member data, and changes in actuarial assumptions. 

 

Furthermore, there is currently a 12-month delay between the valuation date and the contribution 

effective date, in order to provide time to incorporate the required contribution into the City’s 

budget. As a result, the contribution expected to be made during Fiscal Year 2025-2026, which is 

the last contribution prior to the required full funding date, will be based on the actuarial valuation 

performed as of July 1, 2024. Consequently, under current practices, any changes that occur 



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 2 

 

 

between July 1, 2024 and June 30, 2026 will not affect the contributions until after July 1, 2026. 

This delay in incorporating updated information could lead to potential discrepancies between the 

plan's actual funding status and the projected funding status based on the July 1, 2024 valuation. 

 

As a result, it will not be possible to determine with certainty whether the plan has met the funding 

requirement by the specified deadline. Instead, the trustees must make decisions based on the most 

recent actuarial valuation and ongoing monitoring of the plan's financial status. One possible 

approach for increasing the likelihood of the Plan being fully funded as of July 1, 2026 would be 

to target a funded status above 100%, and using that margin as a buffer in case there are actuarial 

losses in the future (i.e., investment returns below the assumed return, or benefit payments 

exceeding expectations). 

 

Maintaining Full Funding Status After 2026 

 

While the statute does not explicitly mention the requirements for the plan after the July 1, 2026 

deadline, it is essential to consider how the plan can remain fully funded in the long term. As asset 

and liability gains and losses will inevitably occur after the full funding date, there is a possibility 

that the plan's funding status will drop below 100% in a future valuation. 

 

If the plan's funding status drops below 100%, it raises the question of whether the resulting 

unfunded liabilities need to be paid off immediately or can be amortized over a period of time. 

While the statute does not provide specific guidance on this matter, it is generally advisable for 

the trustees to establish a funding policy that addresses potential fluctuations in the plan's funding 

status. 

 

Actuarial vs. Market Assets  

 

In addition to the challenges discussed above related to the timing of funded status measurements 

vs. the calculation and implementation of contributions, there is another issue that must be 

addressed when determining whether the Plan is considered fully funded related to the 

measurement of the assets. There are two asset measurements that can be used to determine the 

funded status: the Market Value of Assets and the (smoothed) Actuarial Value of Assets. The plan 

has traditionally used the smoothed asset value and the resulting Unfunded Actuarial Liability (the 

UAL) – calculated as the difference between the Actuarial Value of Assets and the Plan’s Actuarial 

Liability, or funding target – to determine the contributions to the plan. In contrast, the financial 

statements of the Plan report the unfunded liability, known as the Net Pension Liability, using the 

market value, as required under governmental accounting standards. 

 

The actuarially smoothed value of assets defers the recognition of a portion of prior-years’ 

investment gains or losses until future years. As a result, the plan could appear fully funded on an 

actuarial basis but still have an unfunded liability if measured on a market basis (or vice versa), 

particularly if the plan has recently experienced a period of investment returns below the assumed 

rate of return. 



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 3 

 

 

When determining whether the PFRS is fully funded, a decision will need to be made as to whether 

the definition of full funding should be based on the actuarial and/or market value asset 

measurements. We note that retaining the use of the actuarial value (as has been past practice) 

would confer a significant advantage with respect to the volatility in future funded status and 

contribution amounts, as will be shown in the projections which follow. 

 

Projections 

 

The sample projections that follow illustrate the difficulty of attaining full actuarial funding with 

absolute certainty at a specific date. The chart on the left side of these projections shows the 

expected funded status of PFRS. The gray bars represent the Actuarial Liability (AL) on July 1 of 

each valuation year. The green line represents the Market Value of Assets, while the orange line 

represents the (smoothed) Actuarial Value of Assets. The percentages above each column show 

the Actuarial Funded Ratio which is calculated by dividing the Actuarial Value of Assets by the 

Actuarial Liability. 

 

The chart on the right shows the expected Actuarially Determined Contribution (the ADC) amount 

for PFRS each fiscal year. The red line represents projected contributions based on the assumptions 

and data used for the valuation in the legend of each chart. The gold bars represent the expected 

contributions under each scenario based on the July 1, 2022 Actuarial Valuation. Unless noted, all 

assumptions, methods, and data used are the same as those disclosed in our July 1, 2022 Actuarial 

Valuation Report for PFRS. 

 

Under the funding policy set by the PFRS Board, the annual ADC amounts for PFRS are equal to 

the payment necessary to amortize the Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) plus expected 

Administrative Expenses for each fiscal year. The amortization period is set so that the projected 

unfunded liability is expected to be fully amortized by July 1, 2026. For the purposes of these 

projections, we have assumed that any unfunded liability existing on or after July 1, 2026 is 

expected to be amortized in a single year. 

 

Baseline Scenario: Investment Returns Equal to the Expected Return for all Years 

 

 
 

32.7

40.8
44.0

48.8

4.7 4.2 3.9 3.5 3.3 3.0 2.8

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

2023 2025 2027 2029 2031 2033

M
il

li
o

n
s

Fiscal Year End

City Contribution 2021 AVR Projected Contribution

76% 79%
84%

91% 99% 99%
100%

100%
100%100%

100%

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032

M
il
li
o

n
s

Valuation Year

Actuarial Liability Actuarial Assets Market Assets



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 4 

 

 

The first scenario shows the baseline contribution projections from the two most recent actuarial 

valuations, the July 1, 2021 actuarial valuation (with the contributions shown in the red line in the 

right-hand graph) and the July 1, 2022 actuarial valuation (with the contributions shown in the 

gold bars in the same graph): 

• The July 1, 2021 actuarial valuation expected a funded ratio of 101% as of July 1, 2026, 

and anticipated that no contributions would need to be made for FYE 2027 onward, as the 

UAL has been fully amortized, and the expected Administrative Expenses are completely 

offset by the amortization of a negative (surplus) UAL.  

• Lower than expected returns for FYE 2022 resulted in a significantly different scenario for 

the projected contributions in the July 1, 2022 valuation, causing the FYE 2024 

contribution to increase from $30.8 million to $40.8 million for FYE 2024, and increasing 

further to $44.0 million and $48.8 million over the next two years. These contributions 

were expected to get the Plan nearly back to being fully funded as of July 1, 2026 (assuming 

all assumptions are met subsequent to the July 1, 2022 actuarial valuation), but there is a 

small residual unfunded liability due to the asset smoothing method, as can be seen by the 

fact that the funded ratio only reaches 99% in 2026. A contribution must also be made to 

cover the Plan’s ongoing administrative expenses. 

 

For the next scenario, we review the impact of a modest actuarial investment loss occurring during 

the current fiscal year. 

 

Scenario A: 0% Return in FYE 2023, Expected Return Thereafter 

 

 
 

Scenario A shows the expected funded ratios and ADC amounts for PFRS if the return on 

investments is 0% for the FYE 2023. The expected contribution for FYE 2025 increases from 

$44.0 million to $48.7 million if there is no investment return in FYE 2023 and all other 

assumptions are met exactly. Under this scenario, the assets are again expected to approach – but 

not quite exceed – the liabilities because of the mechanics of the asset smoothing policy (which 

continuously defers recognition of a portion of the investment returns different than the assumption 

to future years). In this scenario, the funded ratio is not expected to reach 100% until 2035. 

32.7

40.8

48.7

57.1

7.6 6.7 6.0 5.3 4.8 4.3 3.8

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

2023 2025 2027 2029 2031 2033

M
il

li
o
n

s

Fiscal Year End

City Contribution 2022 AVR Projected Contribution

76% 78%
82%

89% 99% 99%
99%

99%
99% 99%

99%

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032

M
il
li
o
n
s

Valuation Year

Actuarial Liability Actuarial Assets Market Assets



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 5 

 

 

The next two scenarios start from the same baseline and add in a more significant loss in the year 

leading up to the full funding requirement. These scenarios illustrate the extreme level of volatility 

in the contributions which could result if the Plan is held to a strict standard to fully fund and 

maintain a 100% funded ratio at every measurement date following July 1, 2026. 

 

Scenario B: 0% Return in FYE 2023 and -10% Return in FYE 2026, Expected Return all 

Other Years 

 

 
 

Scenario B considers the expected contributions and funded ratios should there be a 0% return on 

investments in FYE 2023 and -10% return on investments in 2026. Under current practice, a loss 

occurring during FYE 2026 won’t affect the contributions until FYE 2028, so there is no possibility 

that an additional contribution could be made to bring the funded status to 100% on July 1, 2026. 

Under this scenario PFRS would be just 88% funded as of June 1, 2026. In addition, a significant 

contribution – almost $66 million – would be needed to bring the expected funded status back to 

approach full funding. 

 

Scenario C: Scenario B with Funded Ratios and Contributions Calculated using MVA from 

the 2026 Valuation Year Onward 

 

 

32.7

40.8

48.7

57.1

7.6

65.9

8.8 7.7 6.7 5.9 5.2

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

2023 2025 2027 2029 2031 2033

M
il

li
o
n

s

Fiscal Year End

City Contribution 2022 AVR Projected Contribution

76% 78%
82%

89% 88% 86%
98%

99%
99% 99%

99%

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032

M
il
li
o
n
s

Valuation Year

Actuarial Liability Actuarial Assets Market Assets

32.7
40.8

48.7
57.1

7.6

98.8

1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

2023 2025 2027 2029 2031 2033

M
il

li
o
n

s

Fiscal Year End

City Contribution 2022 AVR Projected Contribution

76% 78%
82%

89% 80% 79%
100%

100%
100%100%

100%

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032

M
il
li
o

n
s

Valuation Year

Actuarial Liability Actuarial Assets Market Assets



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 6 

 

 

Scenario C mirrors Scenario B (0% in FYE 2023 and -10% 2026) but calculates the funded ratios 

and contributions based on the Market Value of Assets from the 2026 valuation year onward, rather 

than using the smoothed Actuarial Valuation of Assets. In this scenario the asset losses occurring 

during FYE 2026 are recognized immediately in the July 1, 2026 actuarial valuation instead of 

being smoothed over a 5-year period leading to a $32.9 million increase in FYE 2028 when 

compared to Scenario B. A massive spike in the contribution – nearing $100 million – would be 

necessary to bring the funded status back to 100% by July 1, 2028.  

 

De-risking the Plan's Assets 

 

De-risking the plan's assets is one option for reducing the likelihood of future shortfalls and to help 

ensure that the plan remains fully funded. This process involves adjusting the plan's investment 

portfolio to reduce its exposure to market volatility and other risks. The investment return 

assumptions used in the actuarial valuations since 2014 have included an assumption that the Plan 

will begin gradually de-risking after 2026, with the assumed rate of return currently expected to 

drop from the current rate of 6.00% to an ultimate rate of 3.25% over a 10-year period beginning 

after the July 1, 2026 actuarial valuation. 

 

Strategies for de-risking may include shifting the asset allocation towards more conservative 

investments, such as bonds or cash, implementing liability-driven investment strategies (which 

focus on matching the plan's assets with its liabilities) or transferring the liabilities to an insurance 

company. However, the latter option may be difficult to implement, due to the post-retirement 

Cost-of-Living Adjustments promised to the members, which are tied to changes in the salaries 

paid to the City of Oakland Police and Fire current active employees. 

 

If the Board decides to pursue a de-risking approach, it is crucial for the trustees to work closely 

with their investment consultant and managers to develop an appropriate strategic asset allocation 

that balances risk reduction with the need to achieve sufficient returns and other investment 

considerations (such as liquidity needs). 

 

Experience Study and Assumption Review 

 

As your actuarial consultant, Cheiron is currently performing an experience study to review all 

assumptions used in estimating the plan's liabilities, including a review of the investment return, 

cost-of-living adjustment, and mortality assumptions. This process is critical for ensuring that the 

Plan's funding status is accurately assessed. The experience study may result in adjustments to 

assumptions, which could impact the Plan's funding status and the actions needed to meet the 

funding requirement by the deadline. 

 

It is important to note that while changes in the assumptions could lead to changes in the funding 

targets and contributions; changes in the financing plan – including any expected modifications to 

the target asset allocation – could conversely result in the actuary making changes to the 

assumptions. As such, it would be best to integrate the discussions of the funding and investment 

policy with the experience study to the extent possible. 

 



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 7 

 

 

By closely aligning the experience study with the funding and investment policy discussions, the 

trustees can ensure that any changes in assumptions or financial strategies are mutually supportive 

and consistent with the plan's long-term objectives. This integrated approach will help maintain 

the plan's financial stability and better position it to meet the full funding requirement before and 

after the specified deadline. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Winding down the City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement Plan in accordance with  

Article XXVI of the Oakland City Code presents several challenges, including determining the 

funding status by the deadline, reviewing the potential and appropriateness of de-risking the plan's 

assets, updating actuarial assumptions, and maintaining full funding status after 2026. To navigate 

these challenges, it is essential for the trustees to: 

 

• Establish a clear funding policy that addresses potential fluctuations in the plan's funding 

status, including setting target funding levels, determining the appropriate amortization 

period, and outlining contingency plans for significant fluctuations, 

• Consider both actuarial and market value measurements when determining the funding 

status, 

• Consider whether to develop and implement an appropriate de-risking strategy that 

balances risk reduction with the need to achieve sufficient returns, 

• Align the experience study with the funding and investment policy discussions to ensure 

that any changes in assumptions or financial strategies are mutually supportive and 

consistent with the plan's long-term objectives, and 

 

By proactively addressing these challenges and regularly monitoring the plan's financial status, the 

trustees can ensure the plan remains financially stable and capable of meeting its obligations to 

members both in the short term and well beyond the July 1, 2026 deadline. 

 

Disclosures 

 

The purpose of this letter is to present issues related to the wind-down of the plan. This letter is 

for the use of the Retirement Board. Other users of this letter are not intended users as defined in 

the Actuarial Standards of Practice, and Cheiron assumes no duty or liability to such other users. 

The assumptions used in this letter were the same as those used in PFRS' July 1, 2022 Actuarial 

Valuation Report unless otherwise noted. 

 

The funding ratios in this letter are for the purpose of establishing contribution rates. These 

measures are not appropriate for assessing the sufficiency of plan assets to cover the estimated cost 

of settling the plan’s benefit obligations. 

 

Cheiron utilizes ProVal actuarial valuation software leased from Winklevoss Technologies 

(WinTech) to calculate liabilities and project benefit payments. We have relied on WinTech as the 

developer of ProVal. We have a basic understanding of ProVal and have used ProVal in 



City of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board 

May 23, 2023 

Page 8 

 

 

accordance with its original intended purpose. We have not identified any material inconsistencies 

in the assumptions or output of ProVal that would affect this valuation. 

 

Deterministic projections in this valuation report were developed using P-scan, a proprietary tool 

used to illustrate the impact of changes in assumptions, methods, plan provisions, or actual 

experience (particularly investment experience) on the future financial status of the Plan. P-scan 

uses standard roll-forward techniques. Because P-scan does not automatically capture how 

changes in one variable affect all other variables, some scenarios may not be consistent. We relied 

on Cheiron colleagues for the development of the model.  

 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements due to such 

factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or 

demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; and, changes in 

plan provisions or applicable law. 

 

This letter and its contents have been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and 

accepted actuarial principles and practices and our understanding of the Code of Professional 

Conduct and applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice set out by the Actuarial Standards Board 

as well as applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, as credentialed actuaries, we meet the 

Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the opinion contained in 

this letter. This letter does not address any contractual or legal issues. We are not attorneys, and 

our firm does not provide any legal services or advice. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cheiron 

 

 

 

Graham A. Schmidt, ASA, EA, FCA, MAAA  Timothy S. Doyle, ASA, EA, MAAA 

Consulting Actuary      Associate Actuary 

703-893-1456, x1137      703-893-1456, x1140 

gschmidt@cheiron.us      tdoyle@cheiron.us 

 

 

 

 

Anne D. Harper, FSA, EA, MAAA  

Principal Consulting Actuary      

703-893-1456, x1107      

aharper@cheiron.us      

 

 

mailto:gschmidt@cheiron.us
mailto:tdoyle@cheiron.us
mailto:aharper@cheiron.us


Table 1

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Administrative Budget Spent to Date (Preliminary)

As of March 31, 2023

Approved

Budget March 2023 FYTD Remaining Percent Remaining

Internal Administrative Costs
PFRS Staff Salaries 1,330,000$          111,216$                        874,808$                        455,192$                        34.2%

Board Travel Expenditures 52,500                 -                                  -                                  52,500                            100.0%

Staff Training 20,000                 -                                  -                                  20,000                            100.0%

Staff Training  - Tuition Reimbursement 7,500                   -                                  -                                  7,500                              100.0%

Board Hospitality 3,600                   240                                 240                                 3,360                              93.3%

Payroll Processing Fees 40,000                 -                                  -                                  40,000                            100.0%

Miscellaneous Expenditures 45,000                 2,015                              28,762                            16,238                            36.1%

Internal Service Fees (ISF) 88,000                 -                                  47,884                            40,116                            45.6%

Contract Services Contingency 50,000                 -                                  1,500                              48,500                            97.0%

Internal Administrative Costs Subtotal : 1,636,600$          113,471$                        953,195$                        683,405$                        41.8%

Actuary and Accounting Services
Audit 50,500$               -$                                33,883$                          16,617$                          32.9%

Actuary 47,900                 1,241                              24,409                            23,491                            49.0%

Actuary and Accounting Subtotal: 98,400$               1,241$                            58,292$                          40,108$                          40.8%

Legal Services
City Attorney Salaries 194,000$             -$                                28$                                 193,972$                        100.0%

Legal Contingency 150,000               -                                  -                                  150,000                          100.0%

Legal Services Subtotal: 344,000$             -$                                28$                                 343,972$                        100.0%

Investment Services
Money Manager Fees 1,353,000$          52,167$                          560,811$                        792,189$                        58.6%

Custodial Fee 124,000               60,250                            60,250                            63,750                            51.4%

Investment Consultant 100,000               25,000                            75,000                            25,000                            25.0%

Investment Subtotal: 1,577,000$          137,417$                        696,061$                        880,939$                        55.9%

Total Operating Budget 3,656,000$   252,129$               1,707,575$            1,948,425$            53.29%

 



Table 2

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Cash in Treasury (Fund 7100) - Preliminary

As of March 31, 2023

 

March 2023

Beginning Cash as of 3/1/2023 8,516,695$                              

Additions:

City Pension Contribution - March 2,726,000$                              

Investment Draw 2,000,000$                              

Misc. Receipts -                                           

Total Additions: 4,726,000$                              

Deductions:

Pension Payment (February Pension Paid on 3/1/2023) (4,218,535)                               

Expenditures Paid (307,649)                                  

Total Deductions (4,526,184)$                             

Ending Cash Balance as of 3/31/2023* 8,716,511$                              

 

* On 4/3/2023, March pension payment of appx $4,199,000 will be made leaving a cash balance of $4,518,000.



Table 3

CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Census

As of March 31, 2023

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Retiree 286 165 451

Beneficiary 124 90 214

Total Retired Members 410 255 665

Total Membership: 410 255 665

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Service Retirement 275 127 402

Disability Retirement 125 117 242

Death Allowance 10 11 21

Total Retired Members: 410 255 665

Total Membership as of March 31, 2023: 410 255 665

Total Membership as of June 30, 2022: 422 264 686

Annual Difference: -12 -9 -21



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 FYTD

Police 598 581 558 545 516 492 475 460 439 422 410

Fire 445 425 403 384 370 345 323 308 284 264 255

Total 1043 1006 961 929 886 837 798 768 723 686 665

598

581

558
545

516

492

475
460

439

422
410

445

425

403

384
370

345

323
308

284

264
255

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System
Pension Plan Membership Count

As of March 31, 2023 (FY 2013 - FY 2023)



Attachment (1):  Rules & Regulations – Excerpt of Election 
Attachment (2):  Nomination Form – 5-Year Position (Police) 

Agenda Item   C2 
PFRS Board Meeting 

May 31, 2023 

A G E N D A  R E P O R T

TO: Oakland Police and Fire 
Retirement System Board 
(PFRS) 

FROM:  David F. Jones 
Secretary and Plan 
Administrator  

SUBJECT: Election of 5-Year Police 
Department Representative 
Board Position   

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

SUMMARY 

The 5-year police representative board seat currently held by Robert W. Nichelini is set 
to expire on August 31, 2023.  Pursuant to the PFRS election guidelines outlined in 
Article 11 of the PFRS Rules and Regulations, an election for this board seat will be 
conducted by the Staff of the PFRS board with the assistance of the City Clerk’s office. 

BACKGROUND 

Robert W. Nichelini, a retired PFRS Police Member, was elected to the 5-year elected term 
as the PFRS 5-year member.  Member Nichelini's board seat is set to expire on 
August 31, 2023, and a 5-year police member will need to be elected to this seat from 
the retired police membership. 

Following the PFRS rules & regulations section 11.2, the PFRS staff will inform the Retired 
Oakland Police Officers Association (ROPOA) of the upcoming board vacancy and deliver 
to them the election schedules and nomination forms. 

Should no more than one ( l ) nomination form be received by the nomination form 
submission deadline of 5 pm, July 19, 2023, then the single nominee will be 
automatically elected to the nominated position; an election would otherwise follow on 
August 23, 2023.  The elected board member will begin the new term at the September 
2023 Board Meeting. 



To:         Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board (PFRS) 
Subject:  Election of 5-Year Police Department Representative Board Position 
Date:      May 24, 2023 Page 2 

Attachment (1):  Rules & Regulations – Excerpt of Election 
Attachment (2):  Nomination Form – 5-Year Position (Police) 

Agenda Item   C2 
PFRS Board Meeting 

May 31, 2023 

The following timeline shows the due dates for nominees and PFRS staff during this 
election cycle: 

▪ Last day for furnishing the ROPOA a notice stating that nominating

papers may be obtained from the Retirement Systems office…….. June 1, 2023 

▪ Last day for filing nominees to submit nominating papers to the

City Clerk's Office…………………………………………………….… July 19, 2023 

▪ Last day for City Clerk to certify to Office of the PFRS Board the

names of members nominated………………………………………... July 19, 2023 

▪ Last day for mailing of ballots to members………………….……… August 14, 2023 

▪ Last day for delivering to City Clerk the Roster of Police

Department……………………………………………………………… August 14, 2023 

▪ Ballots due to City Clerk no later than 10 am……………….………. August 23, 2023 

▪ Day for counting of ballots by City Clerk……………………………. August 23, 2023 

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Secretary and Plan Administrator 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 



ATTACHMENT 1 

Rules & Regulations 
Excerpt of Election 

Article 11 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Excerpt from the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Rules and Regulations 
Article 11:  Election of Members of the Board Representing Retired Members of the Retirement System 
Effective June 27, 2018  

Article 11: ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD REPRESENTING RETIRED MEMBERS 
OF THE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

Section 11.1:   Day for Counting of Ballots 

The fourth Wednesday in August of the year in which such election is required to be held is 
hereby he day for counting of ballots. 

In the event of a vacancy of one or more of the elected PFRS Retirement Board seats before the 
completion of the full term, the day for counting ballots for the election to fill the vacant PFRS 
Retirement Board seat shall be the fourth Wednesday of the month that follows 90 days after the 
date of being informed of the vacancy. 

Section 11.2:  Notice of Nomination 

On or before the first business day in June of each year in which an election is required, the office of 
the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send a notice stating that nomination papers may be 
obtained at the office of said Police and Fire Retirement Board, the place where nomination papers 
shall be filed and the final date of filing thereof, the date when ballots will be counted and such other 
information as may be appropriate to the following organizations: 

• Retired Oakland Police Officers’ Association (ROPOA)

• International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 55 (IAFF Local 55)

In the event of a vacancy of one of the elected PFRS Retirement Board seats before the completion 
of the full term, the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board shall send notice as stated above 
no later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of being informed of the vacancy. 

Section 11.3:  Nomination for Membership 

Nomination for membership on the Police and Fire Retirement Board from the retired membership of 
the Police and Fire Department shall be in writing on forms supplied by the office of said Police 
and Fire Retirement Board upon request.  Nomination papers shall be substantially in the form shown 
in Appendix A. Nomination papers shall be signed by at least ten retired members of the Police or Fire 
Department, as the case may be, who are members of the POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT 
SYSTEM, other than the person nominated. Each signatory of a nominating paper shall write the date 
of his/her signature at the end of the line opposite his/her signature.  Beneficiaries of deceased 
members are not eligible to vote in elections. 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Excerpt from the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Rules and Regulations 
Article 11:  Election of Members of the Board Representing Retired Members of the Retirement System 
Effective June 27, 2018  

Section 11.4:  Date of Filing Nomination Papers 

Nominating papers shall be filed in the Office of the Oakland City Clerk, Room 306 of the Oakland City 
Hall, not less than thirty-five days before the day of counting ballots. If said date falls on a non-business 
day for the City of Oakland, it shall be filed on the next business day. 

Section 11.5:  Determination of Sufficiency of Nominating Papers 

The City Clerk of the City of Oakland will determine when a member is nominated and for this purpose 
shall have access to the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board the names of those retired 
members of the respective departments determined by him to have been nominated. 

Section 11.6:  Winner by Default 

In the event that only one person is nominated in accordance with this Article 11 as a member of the 
Board, that person shall be declared a winner. 

Section 11.7:   Mailing of Ballots 

Not less than fifteen days before the day for the counting of the ballots that shall be prepared by and 
mailed for the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board to each retired member of the Police 
Department of Fire Department who is a member of the Police and Fire Retirement System a ballot 
addressed to his or her address as shown by the records of the Police and Fire Retirement Board. 
The Ballots shall contain the names in alphabetical order of the candidates certified by the City Clerk 
as nominated.  Such ballot, sealed in a blank envelope provided for this purpose, which shall be 
enclosed in another envelope, also provided for such purpose, upon which the voter shall place his 
or her name, may be returned to the City Clerk not later than 10:00 a.m. of the day for the counting of 
ballots. 

Section 11.8:  Roster of Eligible Voters 

There shall be prepared in the office of the Police and Fire Retirement Board a roster of eligible 
voters which shall contain the names of the retired members of the Police or Fire Department who 
are members of the Police and Fire Retirement System, excluding beneficiaries of deceased 
members. Such roster of eligible voters shall be delivered to the City Clerk not less than fifteen days 
before the day for the counting of ballots and shall be in such form as to permit appropriate asking 
thereon by the City Clerk to indicate that an eligible member has voted. 

Section 11.9:  Counting of Ballots 

On the day for the counting of ballots at the hour of 10:00 A.M. thereof, the ballot box shall be opened 
and no ballot received after said hour shall be counted.  The ballots will be counted under the 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Excerpt from the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Rules and Regulations 
Article 11:  Election of Members of the Board Representing Retired Members of the Retirement System 
Effective June 27, 2018  

supervision and control of the City Clerk in such manner that the identity of the individual casting 
any ballot will not be disclosed.  No ballot shall be counted unless it is enclosed in an envelope 
bearing the name of the voter.  No ballot shall be counted which contains a vote for a person not 
nominated in accordance with Article 12.  Upon the conclusion of the counting of the ballots, the City 
Clerk will certify the count and the candidate elected and notify each candidate thereof by mail. 

Section 11.10: Vote Necessary for Election 

The candidate receiving the highest number of eligible votes shall be declared elected. 

Section 11.11: Disposition of Ballots after Counting 

Upon conclusion of the counting of the ballots they shall be kept by the City Clerk in the manner and for 
the period the ballots of municipal elections are kept. 

Section 11.12: Procedure to Fill Vacancy of Elected Members 

In the event a vacancy occurs before the end of a full term in any of the three (3) elected offices of 
the Board which are filled by retired members of the Retirement System, a successor shall be elected 
for the unexpired portion of the term vacated. The successor shall be elected from the same 
department of the member who is vacating the seat for the remainder of said unexpired three (3) year, 
or five (5) year, term.  The election shall be governed by Article 11. 



ATTACHMENT 2 

Nomination Form
Police Department Representative 

5-Year Position



CITY OF OAKLAND 
1 5 0  F R A N K  H .  O G A W A  P L A Z A ,  S U I T E  3 3 4 9   •  O A K L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A  9 4 6 1 2 - 2 0 2 1

Finance Department     PHONE (510) 238-7295 
Treasury Bureau            FAX (510) 238-7129 
Retirement Unit            CA RELAY 711 

NOTE:  This nomination paper must be signed by 10 retired members of the Oakland Fire Department who are also members 
of the Police and Fire Retirement System.  The person nominated must also be a retired member of the Oakland Fire 
Department and a member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System.  Before filing, the person nominated must sign 
the above statement accepting the nomination and consenting to serve if elected.  Nomination papers must be filed in the 
Office of the City Clerk, One Frank Ogawa Plaza, 2nd floor, Oakland, CA, no later than 5:00 p.m., Wednesday, July 19, 2023 

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD NOMINATION FORM 

I/We, the undersigned, am/are a retired member(s) of the Oakland Police Department, and a member(s) of 

the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement Systems.  I/we hereby nominate  , a 

retired member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement Systems, as a candidate for membership on the 

Police and Fire Retirement Board from the retired membership of the Oakland Police Department for the 

term expiring August 31, 2023. 

Name Signature Date 

(please print clearly) 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

I accept the nomination and consent to serve, if elected. 

Signature of Nominee Date 

PRINT NOMINEE NAME HERE 



Attachments: Agenda Item    C3  
(1) Resolution 8078                                                                             PFRS Board Meeting 
(2) Conference Agenda                                                                                  May 31, 2023 

A G E N D A  R E P O R T

TO: Oakland Police and Fire  
Retirement System Board (PFRS) 

FROM:  David F. Jones 
PFRS Plan Administrator & 
Secretary 

SUBJECT:  Authorization and Reimbursement 
of Trustee R. Steven Wilkinson’s 
Travel/Education Expenses 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

R. Steven Wilkinson, Trustee of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board,
requests authorization for reimbursement of travel and/or board education related funds
for the event detailed below. Staff has verified that budgeted funds are available for this
Board Member to be reimbursed.

Staff recommends the reimbursement of travel/education funds for the event below be 
approved by board motion. 

Travel/Education Event: Milken Institute Global Conference 2023 

Event Location: The Beverly Hilton, Beverly Hills, CA 

Event Date: April 30, 2023 – May 3, 2023 

Estimated Event Expense: $3,000.00 

Notes: Prior Approval received from President Walter L. Johnson Sr. 

* If enrollment, registration or admission expenses are required, the fund will process a check 
in advance and pay vendor directly; all other board-approved reimbursements will be made 
upon delivery of receipts to staff by the travelling party.  Cancellation of event attendance 
requires return of all reimbursed funds paid to attendee to the fund.

Respectfully submitted, 

David F. Jones 
Plan Administrator & Secretary 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement Systems 

For questions please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II, at 510.238.7295 



ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 
8078 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8078 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER SECONDED BY MEMBER

RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE BOARD PRESIDENT’S APPROVAL OF 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM TRUSTEE R. STEVEN 
WILKINSON’S REQUEST TO ATTEND THE MILKEN INSTITUTE GLOBAL 
CONFERENCE FROM APRIL 30, 2023 THROUGH MAY 3, 2023  IN 
BEVERLY HILLS, CA AND AUTHORIZING REIMBURSEMENT OF TRAVEL-
RELATED EXPENSES IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED THREE 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,000.00) 

WHEREAS, the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Education and Travel 

Policy (“Travel Policy”) requires that PFRS Board members and staff obtain prior Board 

approval of all education and travel-related expenses that will be reimburse by PFRS; 

and; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IV(2)(c) of the Travel Policy, the PFRS Board President, in 

consultation with the Plan Administrator, may authorize education and travel expenses 

without prior approval of the Board when prior approval cannot be obtained; and 

WHEREAS, PFRS Trustee Wilkinson attended the Milken Institute Global Conference 

(“the Conference”) in Beverly Hills, CA from April 30, 2023 through May 3, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IV(21)(a) of the Travel Policy Plan PFRS Trustee Wilkinson 

will submit documentation showing costs in an amount not to exceed Three Thousand 

Dollars ($3,000.00) incurred as reimbursable expenses to attend the Conference within 

15 days of the date of his return from the conference; and 

WHEREAS, PFRS Trustee Wilkinson was unable to obtain Board approval prior to 

attending the Conference because he was unable to submit his request prior to the 

agenda posting deadline in time to bring his request to the full board before the 

Conference; and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section IV(2)(c) of the Travel Policy, PFRS Trustee 

Wilkinson obtained written authorization from PFRS Board President Walter L. Johnson, 

Sr. to attend the Conference; now, therefore be it 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8078 

RESOLVED:  That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies the Board President’s approval of PFRS 

Trustee Wilkinson’s request to attend the Milken Institute Global Conference from April 

30, 2023 through May 3, 2023; and be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes reimbursement of the expenses 

PFRS Trustee Wilkinson incurred to attend the Milken Institute Global Conference in an 

amount not to exceed Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000.00). 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA  MAY 31, 2023 

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT:
ATTEST:

PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:
SECRETARY



ATTACHMENT 2 

Conference Agenda

Milken Institute
Global Conference

2023





















































1Assets include assets under management and advisory-only assets.  Advisory-only assets are client assets for which RHJ provides investment management services; they are non-managed assets.

1



Diversity Representation Survey for Oakland Police and Fire
DATA AS OF 04/30/2023

Firm Name Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC

Product Name RHJ Small Cap Opportunities

Total Number of Employees 27

Percentage (%) of Board of Directors / 

Managing Members

Percentage(%) of Firm 

(Entire Staff)

Percentage (%) of Firm

(Investment Professionals)

Race and Ethnicity*

African American/Black 0% 0%** 0%**

Asian/Hawaiian/Pacific Islander 17% 7% 0%

Latino/Hispanic 0% 4% 0%

White 83% 85% 93%

American Indian/Alaska Native 0% 4% 7%

Other 0% 0% 0%

Gender

Male 67% 70% 80%

Female 33% 30% 20%

Non-Identified/Other 0% 0% 0%

* Racial/ethnic categories appear as defined by EEOC guidance.

**Does not include RHJ DEI Opportunities Internship Program.



































Past performance does not guarantee future results. Returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. For performance calculation purposes, the portfolio’s

inception date is July 31, 2017. Indices are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of

this presentation regarding the returns and index shown above.

Source: FactSet*Annualized



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

City of Oakland Russell 2000 Growth Attribution Analysis

GICS Sector

Avg.

Port. Wt.

Port.

Return

Port. 

Contrib.

Avg.

Bmrk. Wt.

Bmrk. 

Return

Bmrk. 

Contrib.

Alloc. 

Effect

Select 

Effect

Total 

Effect

Total 100.00 7.78 7.78 100.00 4.84 4.84 1.59 1.35 2.94

Communication Services 9.99 21.80 2.05 2.46 11.95 0.29 0.49 0.91 1.40

Energy -- -- -- 6.82 -8.36 -0.57 0.97 -- 0.97

Industrials 15.47 11.84 1.64 18.36 5.56 0.92 -0.06 0.99 0.93

Consumer Discretionary 12.08 16.38 1.75 11.35 11.63 1.21 0.10 0.48 0.59

Financials 8.02 7.70 0.50 5.87 0.74 0.04 -0.05 0.52 0.47

Real Estate -- -- -- 2.15 -3.43 -0.06 0.18 -- 0.18

Information Technology 20.85 2.76 0.78 19.87 1.91 0.41 -0.02 0.16 0.14

Utilities -- -- -- 1.71 0.04 0.02 0.09 -- 0.09

[Cash] 3.79 1.53 0.06 -- -- -- -0.03 -- -0.03

Materials 2.37 1.85 0.02 4.63 5.86 0.27 -0.01 -0.11 -0.12

Consumer Staples 1.36 -19.22 -0.21 4.49 9.90 0.44 -0.26 -0.38 -0.63

Health Care 26.07 3.62 1.19 22.29 8.20 1.87 0.17 -1.23 -1.06

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

City of Oakland Russell 2000 Growth Attribution Analysis

GICS Sector

Avg.

Port. Wt.

Port.

Return

Port. 

Contrib.

Avg.

Bmrk. Wt.

Bmrk. 

Return

Bmrk. 

Contrib.

Alloc. 

Effect

Select 

Effect

Total 

Effect

Total 100.00 2.09 2.09 100.00 0.72 0.72 0.19 1.17 1.36

Financials 7.65 23.84 1.42 6.10 -4.81 -0.35 -0.05 1.93 1.89

Health Care 25.45 18.26 4.97 23.01 11.32 3.11 0.21 1.37 1.57

Communication Services 9.12 12.29 1.31 2.48 -8.55 -0.21 -0.50 1.89 1.39

Real Estate -- -- -- 2.31 -28.49 -0.86 0.85 -- 0.85

Industrials 15.07 8.27 1.00 17.80 5.28 0.70 -0.12 0.46 0.34

Materials 2.25 19.77 0.31 4.39 3.97 0.11 -0.05 0.29 0.24

[Cash] 3.49 3.41 0.12 -- -- -- 0.17 -- 0.17

Consumer Discretionary 13.08 0.85 -0.10 11.54 1.27 -0.26 0.11 0.00 0.11

Utilities -- -- -- 1.54 4.49 0.00 0.07 -- 0.07

Energy -- -- -- 6.33 -1.30 -0.10 0.04 -- 0.04

Telecommunication Services -- -- -- 0.10 5.16 0.03 -0.02 -- -0.02

Consumer Staples 2.43 -45.80 -1.43 4.45 15.46 0.72 -0.32 -1.78 -2.10

Information Technology 21.45 -21.67 -5.51 19.95 -10.50 -2.18 -0.18 -2.99 -3.17

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment

and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and

do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.







¹ 5-year Earnings Per Share (EPS) growth, compounded annually.

² ROIC = Return on Invested Capital.

Relative performance compares individual Russell® 2000 constituent performance vs. an equal-weighted index (Russell 2000) return. Only the Russell 2000 constituents

(as of 12/31/2021) with 5 years of measurable history (EPS, ROIC and Performance) were used in the study. The index return is calculated using the combined equal-

weighted 5 year return of these Russell 2000 constituents as of 12/31/2021. The Russell® 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap segment of the U.S.

equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index is a subset of the Russell 3000® Index representing approximately 10% of the total market capitalization of that index. It includes

approximately 2000 of the smallest securities based on a combination of their market cap and current index membership. The Russell 2000 is constructed to provide a

comprehensive and unbiased small-cap barometer and is completely reconstituted annually to ensure larger stocks do not distort the performance and characteristics of

the true small-cap opportunity set. The index is calculated on a total-return basis with dividends reinvested. Please refer to important disclosures at the end of this

presentation.

.

Sources: FactSet & FTSE Russell



























































►

ROIC = Return on Invested Capital, EV/EBITDA = Enterprise Value to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, & Amortization.  Please refer to 

disclosures at the end of this presentation for complete definitions.



►



































►





















The above is provided for informational purposes only and should not be considered investment advice or a recommendation to buy or sell any securities. Holdings are subject to change

at any time and are based on a model portfolio. Holdings of individual client accounts may differ from those shown above. Sector weightings may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

The sectors referenced herein are determined based on the Global Industry Classification Standard (“GICS”) methodology. A complete list of portfolio holdings and specific securities

transactions for the preceding 12 months is available upon request. It should not be assumed that recommendations made in the future will be profitable or will equal the performance of

securities in this article. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC, or one or more of its officers, may have a position in the securities discussed herein and may purchase or sell such

securities from time to time. Please refer to the important information at the end of this presentation for additional sector information.

Sources: FactSet & S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC



Sector weightings and market capitalizations are subject to change at any time and are based on a model portfolio. Sector weightings and market capitalizations

of individual client portfolios in the strategy may differ from those shown above. Sector weightings and market capitalization ranges may not add up to 100% due to

rounding. Please see important disclosure information at the end of this presentation regarding the index and sector classifications shown above.

Sources: FactSet & GICS Sector Classification



*P/E Ratio calculation excludes companies with negative earnings.

Portfolio characteristics are subject to change at any time and are based on a model portfolio. Portfolio characteristics of individual client portfolios in the strategy

may differ from those shown above. Please see important disclosure information at the end of this presentation regarding the index shown above.

Source: FactSet



*Annualized

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Composite returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. Please refer to important disclosures at the end

of this presentation regarding the returns and index shown above.

Source: FactSet



Past performance does not guarantee future results. Composite returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. RHJ’s GIPS Report is located at the end of this

presentation as well as other important disclosure information regarding the returns and index shown above.

Source: FTSE Russell















Sources: eVestment Analytics & FactSet



Index Definition Source: FTSE Russell

Source: S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC

Source: CFA Institute



N/A1 - Information is not statistically meaningful due to an insufficient number of portfolios in the composite for the entire calendar year (five or fewer).

*Results shown for the year 1994 represent partial period performance from October 10 through December 31, 1994.



N/A1 - Performance presented prior to September 30, 2008, occurred while the portfolio management team was affiliated with another firm. Firm and strategy assets 

prior to 2008 are not presented because the composite was not part of the firm.

*Assets Under Management + Advisory-Only Assets totals may differ from Total Assets Under Management and Total Advisory-Only Assets due to rounding.



The RHJ Small Cap Opportunities Composite contains all fully discretionary, tax-exempt, institutional, and high net worth portfolios invested in small cap companies that have three primary

characteristics: high earnings growth, high or improving return-on-invested capital, and sustainable competitive advantages. The composite was created on April 1, 1999, and the inception date is

October 10, 1994. The performance presented prior to October 1, 2008, represents that of a prior firm and was known as the Small Cap Growth Institutional Composite. The portfolio management

team members were the only individuals responsible for selecting securities to buy and sell. The minimum account size for this composite is $1 million. From January 1, 1996 to March 31, 2004,

the minimum account size was $5 million. Prior to January 1, 1996, there was no minimum. For comparison purposes the composite is measured against the Russell 2000 Growth index.

Results are based on fully discretionary accounts under management, including those accounts no longer with the firm. As of January 1, 2005, composite policy requires the temporary removal of

any portfolios incurring a client initiated significant cash inflow or outflow of 50% or greater of portfolio assets. The temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the month in

which the significant cash flow occurs and the account re-enters the composite the month after the cash flow is fully invested. From January 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006, the temporary removal of

such an account occurred at the beginning of the month in which the significant cash flow occurred and the account is re-entered into the composite the month after the cash flow. From July 1,

2006 to September 30, 2008, the temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the quarter in which the significant cash flow occurs and the account re-enters the composite

the second calendar quarter after the cash flow. As of September 30, 2008, the temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the month in which the significant cash flow

occurred and the account is re-entered into the composite the month after the cash flow. Additional information regarding the treatment of significant cash flows is available upon request. Past

performance is not indicative of future results.

Founded in 1974, Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC is an SEC registered investment adviser. The firm is 100% employee owned.

The U.S. Dollar is the currency used to express performance. Returns are presented gross and net of management fees, and include the reinvestment of all income. Net of fee performance was

calculated using actual management fees. The annual composite dispersion presented is an asset-weighted standard deviation calculated for the gross returns of accounts in the composite the

entire year. Additional information regarding policies for valuing investments, calculating performance, and preparing GIPS Reports are available upon request. The firm maintains a complete list

of pooled funds and composite descriptions, which is available upon request.

Indices are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and other

characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends, and do not reflect transaction costs,

management, or other fees. The Russell 2000® Growth Index measures the performance of the small-cap growth segment of the U.S. equity universe. It includes those Russell 2000 companies

with higher price-to-value ratios and higher forecasted growth values. The Russell 2000 Growth Index is constructed to provide a comprehensive and unbiased barometer for the small-cap growth

segment. The Index is completely reconstituted annually to ensure larger stocks do not distort the performance and characteristics of the true small-cap opportunity set and that the represented

companies continue to reflect growth characteristics.

The management fee schedule is as follows: 1.0% flat rate. Actual investment advisory fees incurred by clients may vary. This composite does not include any non-fee paying accounts.

Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC claims compliance with the Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS®) and has prepared and presented this report in compliance with the GIPS

standards. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC has been independently verified for the periods January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2021. A firm that claims compliance with the GIPS

standards must establish policies and procedures for complying with all the applicable requirements of the GIPS standards. Verification provides assurance on whether the firm's policies and

procedures related to composite and pooled fund maintenance, as well as the calculation, presentation, and distribution of performance, have been designed in compliance with the GIPS

standards and have been implemented on a firm-wide basis. The RHJ Small Cap Opportunities Composite has had a performance examination for the periods October 1, 2008 through

December 31, 2021. The verification and performance examination reports are available upon request at the following address: 600 West Broadway, Suite 1000, San Diego, California 92101.

GIPS® is a registered trademark of CFA Institute. CFA Institute does not endorse or promote this organization, nor does it warrant the accuracy or quality of the content contained herein.

Index Definition Source: FTSE Russell



 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  Rice Hall James—Manager Update 

 

Manager: Rice Hall James 

Inception Date:  July 2017 OPFRS AUM (4/30/2023): $14.3 million 

Strategy:  Small Cap Opportunities Firm-wide AUM (3/31/2023):  $1.8 billion 

Benchmark:   Russell 2000 Growth Strategy AUM (3/31/2023): $1.0 billion 

Summary & Recommendation 

Rice Hall James has managed a part of OPFRS’s small cap equity portfolio since July 2017. As of 

4/30/2023, the portfolio is approximately $14.3 million or about 3.5% of OPFRS’s total plan.  

The strategy was put on the Watch status in May 2019 for performance concerns, as Rice Hall James 

experienced poor relative performance in 2019 and 2020.  

As of the last review in October 2022 and thereafter, Rice Hall James has performed within expectations 

and guidelines for the portfolio. No major organizational changes or personnel turnover in the portfolio 

management team have been observed since the last review.  

Therefore, from investment management process and performance perspective, Meketa does not have any 

major concerns with Rice Hall James and the Small Cap Opportunities strategy, and recommends that it 

be removed from the Watch status. 

Investment Performance Review Summary 

As of 4/30/2023, Rice Hall James’s Small Cap Opportunities strategy has outperformed the benchmark 

Russell 2000 Growth Index on gross-of-fees basis over all the trailing time periods measured. On 

net-of-fees basis, the strategy outperformed the benchmark across all periods except in the trailing 

5-year period, where it slightly underperformed. Since inception in July 2017, the strategy has 

generated an annualized net-of-fees investment return of 6.0% and has outperformed the benchmark. 

In comparison with the other US small cap growth managers, the portfolio ranks in the first quartile 

year-to-date (through April) and above the 1- and 3-year trailing periods. Reflecting the past 

underperformance in 2019 and 2020, the strategy ranks below average for the longer time periods, 

namely the 5-year trailing period and since inception in July 2017.  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 2 of 5 

 

OPFRS Portfolio Annualized Returns (as of 4/30/2023) 1 

Portfolio 

Market Value 

($000) YTD 1 YR 3 YR 5 YR 

Since 

Inception 

Inception 

Date 

Rice Hall James (Gross) 14,336 7.8 2.0 11.5 4.8 7.1 7/2017 

Russell 2000 Growth --- 4.8 0.7 7.8 4.0 5.7 --- 

Excess Return (Gross) --- 3.0 1.3 3.7 0.8 1.4 --- 

Rice Hall James (Net) --- 7.4 0.9 10.4 3.7 6.0 --- 

Russell 2000 Growth --- 4.8 0.7 7.8 4.0 5.7 --- 

Excess Return (Net) --- 2.6 0.2 2.6 (0.3) 0.3 --- 

Peer Group Ranking2 --- 20 32 48 91 88 --- 

Reference: Median Net Return --- 4.4 (2.3) 10.0 7.9 9.3  

Product and Organization Review Summary 

Rice Hall James  Areas of Potential Impact 

 
Level of 

Concern 

Investment 

process 

(Client 

Portfolio) 

Investment 

Team 

Performance Track 

Record 

Team/ 

Firm 

Culture 

Product      

Key people changes None     

Changes to team 

structure/individuals’ roles 
None     

Product client gain/losses None     

Changes to the investment 

process 
None     

Personnel turnover None     

Organization      

Ownership changes None     

Key people changes None     

Firm wide client gain/losses None     

Recommended Action None - X  Watch Status Termination 

A review of Rice Hall James and the Small Cap Opportunities strategy revealed no concerning 

organizational issues or changes since last review in October 2022. 

  

 
1 Performance is annualized for periods longer than one year. 
2 Peer group is eVestment US Small Cap Growth Equity Managers Net. 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 3 of 5 

 

Investment Philosophy & Process, per Manager 

The Small Cap Opportunities strategy employs a fundamental, bottom-up analytical process to identify 

companies that meet three primary criteria: high earnings growth, high or improving 

return-on-invested capital (“ROIC”), and sustainable competitive advantages.  

RHJ’s philosophy is rooted in historical analysis indicating the high relative return potential of these 

factors in combination. They believe that superior results can be achieved by owning companies that 

exhibit not only high earnings growth, but also the ability to sustainably generate high ROIC over long 

periods of time. RHJ’s investment universe consists of companies with market capitalizations between 

$100 million and $4 billion at the time of purchase. 

The heart of RHJ’s process is fundamental, bottom-up analysis at the company level. The portfolio 

managers conduct all research on every company held in the portfolio. As generalists, each with over 

twenty years of investment experience, both portfolio managers bring to bear extensive knowledge of 

the companies they own or follow, understanding of industries, and general expertise on the small cap 

landscape in various market environments. Cornerstones of the bottom-up fundamental investment 

process include: 

→ Clear understanding of a firm’s competitive context and advantages 

→ Assessment of the sustainability characteristics of the underlying business 

→ Emphasis on high or improving ROIC; a clear sense of the future direction of ROIC 

→ Estimation of ability to generate and grow free cash flow over life of the investment 

→ Valuation that affords a reasonable return over investment horizon 

→ Scrutiny of company management, ability to identify/ execute on the right plan 

Idea generation begins with an analysis of companies within the FactSet universe with market caps 

ranging from $100 million to $4 billion, with an emphasis on growth-oriented industries comprised of 

companies that feature high earnings growth and high ROIC criteria. Health Care, Technology, and 

Consumer traditionally have been rich with such companies. They also look for new or emerging 

industries that can support high growth companies going forward. While these types of investments 

typically carry more risk, certain areas of the internet and biotechnology, for example, management 

believes they can create space for attractive long-term growth characteristics. 

Finally, RHJ looks for catalysts within industries that are not typically associated with growth 

characteristics, seeking to capitalize on tactical growth opportunities that arise due to demographic, 

regulatory and supply/demand issues. Cyclical industries can provide the landscape for attractive 

growth opportunities to crop up due to such changes. 

  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 4 of 5 

 

Investment Philosophy & Process, per Manager (continued) 

At the company level, RHJ focuses on businesses that can generate above-average earnings and free 

cash flow relative to the benchmark. Management favors companies that they believe can achieve 

these results in tandem with sustained high ROIC, or that can increase their returns to above-average 

levels over the relevant investment horizon. It is essential that a company can protect these attributes 

through a well-defined, competitive position, which will protect growth, margins and returns.  

Since strong relative results tend to manifest over longer holding periods, RHJ focuses on long-term 

sustainability factors rather than short-term data points and market movements; as such, low turnover 

is a notable characteristic of the portfolio. 

DS/PN/JLC/mn  



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 
 Page 5 of 5 

 

Disclosure 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED 

RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND 

THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT. ANY OPINIONS OR 

RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF 

THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME. ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK. THERE 

CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE 

SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, 

CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES. WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN 

PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN.   

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING 

STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” 

“SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” 

OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE 

TERMINOLOGY. ANY FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, 

OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS. CHANGES TO ANY 

ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS. ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY 

DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS 

PRESENTATION.  

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE. PAST PERFORMANCE 

IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS. 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) Asset Class Benchmark Update 

 

Background 

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) adopted the Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) asset 

class as part of the asset allocation policy in 2017. This asset class serves to diversify both the equity 

risk and nominal interest rate risk of the total portfolio. Thus, it is structured as a combination of multiple 

underlying components, so that the aggregate class exhibits uncorrelated returns and characteristics. 

In the OPFRS portfolio, this class is implemented with a mix of Long Duration fixed income, Systematic 

Trend Following, and Alternative Risk Premia elements, each having one-third of the total CRO assets 

as the allocation target. 

Current & Recommended Benchmarks 

In the latest revision of the Investment Policy Statement (IPS) in March 2022, Société Générale (SG) 

Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index was established as the benchmark for the CRO asset class as all of 

its underlying components had not been fully implemented. 

Since then, the CRO asset class has been fully implemented with all three components. Thus, we 

recommend that the asset class benchmark for CRO is updated as the following to better reflect its 

components and measure the asset class’s performance against its intended purpose: 33.34% SG 

Trend Index, 33.33% Bloomberg US Gov Long Index, and 33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia 

Index. 

We also recommend that the recommended benchmark be retroactively applied to the CRO asset class 

starting January 1, 2023. 

 2023 Q1 1 Year 3 Years 

Crisis Risk Offset 0.0 -6.5 -8.7 

Current Benchmark 1.1 6.4 2.1 

Recommended Benchmark 0.1 5.3 1.7 

In the following pages, the sections of the IPS (Revised March 2022) which will be updated upon 

adoption of this recommendation are presented in a red-lined version. 



INVESTMENT POLICY Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 

- 10 - 

E. ASSET ALLOCATION 

1) Asset Classes to be Used 

The Board has considered and adopted the use of three significant asset classes: 

a) Domestic Stocks, 

b) International Stocks, and 

c) Fixed Income instruments to include: U.S. Treasury Notes and Bonds, U.S. Government 

Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities*, U.S. Corporate Notes and Bonds, Collateralized 

Mortgage Obligations, Yankee Bonds, High Yield Bonds/Bank Loans, and Non-U.S. 

issued fixed income securities denominated in foreign currencies 

There will be a negligible permanent allocation to cash equivalents.  

2) Long-Term Target Allocations 

In March 1996, Oakland voters passed Measure E which amended Article XXVI, Section 2601(e) 

of the Oakland City Charter to increase the percentage of the invested funds of the System that 

may be invested in common stocks and mutual funds from forty percent (40%) to fifty percent 

(50%). 

In November 2006, Oakland voters passed Measure M which further amended Article XXVI of 

the Oakland City Charter to allow the OPFRS Board to make investments solely in accordance 

with the prudent person standard as required by the California Constitution, Article XVI, Section 

17 (a). 

Long-Term Asset class targets as adopted by the Board in 4Q 2017 are as follows: 

Investment Class 

Phase 1 
Interim Policy 

Targets (%) 

Phase 2 
Long-Term 

Policy 
Targets (%) 

Benchmark 

Domestic Equity 40 40 Russell 3000 Index 

International Equity 12 12 MSCI ACWI ex US Index 

Fixed Income 31 21 Bloomberg US Universal Index 

Credit 2 2 Bloomberg US High Yield Index 

Covered Calls 5 5 
CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index 
(BXM) 

Crisis Risk Offset 10 20 

33.34% SG Trend Index, 33.33% 
Bloomberg US Gov Long Index, 
33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk 
Premia Index SG Multi Alternative Risk 
Premia Index 

Cash 0 0 90-day T-Bills 

 

* Includes Non-Agency issues, which are fully collateralized by Agency paper. 



INVESTMENT POLICY Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 

- 15 - 

F. PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES 

1) Overall Investment Goal 

The overall investment goal of the retirement system is to generate a long-term oriented rate of return 

for the total portfolio that equals or exceeds the actuarial investment rate assumption. This objective 

will primarily emanate from the overall asset allocation policy of the Plan. The Board will maintain a 

long-term investment horizon and will monitor on a routine periodic basis the investment performance 

of the total fund, various asset classes, and investment managers (see Monitoring Procedures).  

2) Performance Benchmarks and Targets for the Total Fund and Fund Asset Classes 

Total Fund performance is evaluated against two benchmarks: (i) a Policy Index (a weighted 

average of performance using policy targets by asset class), and (ii) an Asset Allocation Index (a 

weighted average of performance using actual allocations by asset class). By doing so, the Board 

is able to determine whether Fund performance is due to active decisions by its investment 

managers and/or differences between the target policy allocation and actual asset allocation. 

In addition, the Board will compare performance of each asset class against a benchmark that 

has characteristics representative of a broad market and indicative of the investment managers 

comprising that asset class.  

Asset Class Benchmark* 

Domestic Equity Russell 3000 Index 

International Equity MSCI ACWI ex US Index 

Fixed Income Bloomberg US Universal Bond Index 

Credit Bloomberg US High Yield Index 

Covered Calls CBOE S&P 500 Buy Write Index (BXM) 

Crisis Risk Offset (CRO) 

33.34% SG Trend Index, 33.33% Bloomberg 

US Gov Long Index, 33.33% SG Multi 

Alternative Risk Premia Index SG Multi 

Alternative Risk Premia Index 

 

* Reported asset class benchmark returns may contain results of prior benchmarks (a blended benchmark) 



INVESTMENT POLICY Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

 

- 35 - 

M. CRISIS RISK OFFSET (CRO) AND PORTFOLIO COMPONENT DEFINITIONS 

In accordance with the objectives of the Statement of Investment Policy and Procedures of the 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (the “System” or “OPFRS”), the System has created 

a CRO strategic class. The role of the CRO class is to mitigate the effects of growth risk on the 

portfolio by focusing on investment strategies that further enhance asset diversification within the 

portfolio with strategies that exhibit lower correlations with equities and fixed income.  

This class can include investments in commingled funds, interests in the following categories:  

• Long Duration Treasury Bonds 

• Systematic Trend Following 

• Alternative Risk Premia  

1) Objective 

The CRO Class is to be structured as a combination of multiple underlying assets and/or vehicles, 

so that the aggregate class exhibits uncorrelated returns and characteristics. The objective of this 

class is to diversify both the equity risk and nominal interest rate risk of the total portfolio.  

2) Benchmark 

Performance of the CRO asset class is measured against the SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia 

Index.a custom benchmark composed of 33.34% SG Trend Index, 33.33% Bloomberg US Gov 

Long Index, and 33.33% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index. 

3) Eligible Investment Approaches 

a) Long Duration 

i) Portfolios of long-dated (maturities in excess of 10 years) high-quality bonds 

(Treasuries and Government-backed high-quality agencies). 

ii) Portfolios of cash-collateralized derivatives that mirror the performance of long-dated 

high-quality bonds. 

b) Systematic Trend Following 

i) Long-short portfolios using both cash and derivatives-based instruments to capture 

both periodic appreciation and periodic depreciation trends that evolve and dissipate 

across a very wide array of liquid global markets. Risk/volatility is calibrated to a pre-

determined level using cash and derivatives-based leverage. 

c) Alternative Risk Premia 

i) Long-short portfolios using both cash and derivatives-based instruments to capture 

well-researched/documented non-market risk premia (e.g., momentum, carry, value, 

low-volatility, etc.) on a continuous basis, using an array of liquid global markets. 

Risk/volatility is calibrated to a pre-determined level using cash and derivatives-based 

leverage. 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

April 2023 Report 

 

Economic and Market Update 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Commentary 

→ Most asset classes added to first quarter gains in April as investors remained focused on slowing inflation and a 

potential end to rate hikes.  

• The Fed increased interest rates for the tenth time after month-end, to a range of 5.0% - 5.25%, with this action 

largely expected to be their final hike. 

• Political struggles over the debt ceiling led to a significant increase in short-term rates and a historically high 

price of the cost to insure against defaults on US Treasuries. 

• US equity markets (Russell 3000) rose in April (+1.1%) adding to YTD gains (+8.3%). Some of the largest 

technology names drove positive results, with lingering issues in the banking sector (e.g., First Republic) 

weighing on parts of the equity markets. 

• Non-US developed equity markets also rallied in April (MSCI EAFE +2.8%) extending the outperformance 

relative to the US so far in 2023 (+11.5% versus +8.3%). 

• Emerging market equities fell in April (-1.1%) driven by declines in China (-5.2%). They significantly trail 

developed market equities YTD returning +2.8% partly due to higher US-China tensions. 

• After a strong March driven by the issues in the banking sector, bonds had more subdued gains in April, with 

the broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) gaining 0.6% for the month. 

→ This year, the path of inflation and monetary policy, slowing global growth, and the war in Ukraine, as well as 

recent pressures in regional banks and the looming debt ceiling breach in the US, will all be key.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

11.5%

9.2%

8.8%

8.3%

6.1%

4.6%

3.6%

3.5%

3.5%

2.8%

2.4%

0.9%

-6.1%

MSCI EAFE

S&P 500

MSCI ACWI

Russell 3000

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Bloomberg High Yield

Bloomberg Aggregate

FTSE NAREIT Equity

Bloomberg US TIPS

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Russell 2000

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Index Returns1 

→ After a particularly difficult 2022, most public market assets are up in 2023, building on gains from the 

fourth quarter of last year. 

→ Risk sentiment has been supported by expectations that policy tightening could be ending soon, as inflation 

continues to fall and growth has slowed. 

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg and FactSet. Data is as of April 30, 2023. 

2022                                                                                    YTD 

 
16.1%

-2.7%

-11.2%

-11.7%

-11.8%

-13.0%

-14.5%

-18.1%

-18.4%

-19.2%

-20.1%

-20.4%

-24.4%

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Bloomberg High Yield

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Aggregate

MSCI EAFE

S&P 500

MSCI ACWI

Russell 3000

MSCI Emerging Markets

Russell 2000

FTSE NAREIT Equity



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Domestic Equity Returns1 

Domestic Equity 

April 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

S&P 500 1.6 7.5 9.2 2.7 14.5 11.4 12.2 

Russell 3000 1.1 7.2 8.3 1.5 14.1 10.6 11.7 

Russell 1000 1.2 7.5 8.8 1.8 14.2 11.1 12.0 

Russell 1000 Growth 1.0 14.4 15.5 2.3 13.6 13.8 14.5 

Russell 1000 Value 1.5 1.0 2.5 1.2 14.4 7.7 9.1 

Russell MidCap -0.5 4.1 3.5 -1.7 13.8 8.0 9.9 

Russell MidCap Growth -1.4 9.1 7.6 1.6 9.2 9.0 10.8 

Russell MidCap Value 0.0 1.3 1.3 -3.5 15.8 6.4 8.7 

Russell 2000 -1.8 2.7 0.9 -3.6 11.9 4.1 7.9 

Russell 2000 Growth -1.2 6.1 4.8 0.7 7.8 4.0 8.4 

Russell 2000 Value -2.5 -0.7 -3.1 -8.0 15.5 3.7 7.0 

US Equities: Russell 3000 Index rose 1.1% in April and 8.3% YTD.   

→ US stocks rose in April as optimism over the Fed potentially ending its rate hiking campaign was mitigated by 
lingering concerns in the banking sector and slowing growth. Year-to-date gains in the US equity market remain 
strong though. 

→ Most sectors in the Russell 3000 index rose during the month, led by consumer staples and communication 
services. Growth stocks have significantly outperformed value stocks across the market capitalization spectrum 
this year, particularly in the large cap space due to technology stocks.   

→ The resurgence of large cap technology stocks is also driving the outperformance of the large cap indices versus 
the small cap indices. Weakness in the performance of small cap bank stocks is also contributing to results.    

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Foreign Equity Returns1 

Foreign Equity 

April 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

MSCI ACWI ex. US 1.7 6.9 8.7 3.0 9.8 2.5 4.0 

MSCI EAFE 2.8 8.5 11.5 8.4 11.7 3.6 4.8 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) 2.3 7.5 9.9 7.7 13.5 5.8 7.1 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap 2.0 4.9 7.0 -1.2 9.2 1.0 5.7 

MSCI Emerging Markets -1.1 4.0 2.8 -6.5 4.3 -1.0 1.8 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) -0.7 3.8 3.1 -3.9 5.5 1.5 5.0 

MSCI China -5.2 4.7 -0.7 -5.8 -6.3 -5.0 2.7 

Foreign Equity: Developed international equities (MSCI EAFE) rose 2.8% in April and 11.5% YTD. Emerging market 

equities (MSCI EM) fell -1.1%. for the month but rose 2.8% YTD.  

→ Non-US equities had mixed results in April with developed markets (MSCI EAFE) gaining and outpacing 

US equities (2.8% versus 1.1%) for the month, while emerging markets (MSCI Emerging Markets) were the one 

area that declined (-1.1%). 

→ Developed market equity gains were broad-based across European sectors, while financials and energy were 

strong in the UK. In Japan, further weakness in the yen continued to boost market sentiment. 

→ The decline in emerging market equities (-1.1%) was driven largely by China (-5.2%). An escalation in US-China 

tensions and mixed results from the reopening of their economy weighed on shares. Taiwan also experienced 

marked declines over geopolitical concerns and weakness in semiconductors, while India was a bright spot.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 

April 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

Current 

Yield 

(%) 

Duration 

(Years) 

Bloomberg Universal 0.6 2.9 3.6 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.8 6.3 

Bloomberg Aggregate 0.6 3.0 3.6 -0.4 -3.2 1.2 1.3 4.4 6.5 

Bloomberg US TIPS 0.1 3.3 3.5 -4.0 0.9 3.0 1.4 4.0 7.0 

Bloomberg Short-term TIPS 0.2 2.2 2.4 -0.1 3.1 3.0 1.6 4.6 2.6 

Bloomberg High Yield 1.0 3.6 4.6 1.2 4.7 3.3 4.0 8.5 4.2 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD) 0.9 5.2 6.1 6.6 -0.1 -1.6 -1.8 7.0 5.0 

Fixed Income: The Bloomberg Universal rose 0.6% in April and 3.6% YTD as global sovereign debt yields generally 

declined for major economies.    

→ As issues in the banking sector from March eased, the US bond market had a calm April, with interest rates, 

outside of the very shortest maturities, remaining stable.  

→ The TIPS index and short-term TIPS index had gains for the month but trailed the broad US bond market 

(Bloomberg Aggregate). 

→ High yield bonds (+1.0%) had the best results for the month as they particularly benefited from support for the 

banking sector. 

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. JPM GBI-EM data is from InvestorForce. Data is as of April 30, 2023. The yield and duration data from Bloomberg is defined as the index’s yield to worst and modified duration respectively. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

 
 

→ Volatility in equities (VIX) continued to decline in April, reaching levels not seen since late 2021 as investors 

anticipate the end of the Fed’s policy tightening.  

→ In comparison, the bond market remains on edge after last year’s historic losses and continued volatility in 

interest rates this year due to policy uncertainty and issues in the banking sector. The MOVE (fixed income 

volatility) remains well above its long-run average, but off its recent peak during the heart of the banking crises. 

  

 
1 Equity and Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income markets. Data is as of April 2023. The average line 

indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and April 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

→ After its dramatic decline last year the US equity price-to-earnings ratio remains above its long-run (21st century) 

average. 

→ International developed market valuations are slightly below their own long-term average, with those for 

emerging markets the lowest and well under the long-term average. 

  

 
1 US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically Adjusted P/E – Source: MSCI and 

Bloomberg. Earnings figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of April 2023. The average line is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from December 1999 to the 
recent month-end respectively.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Yield Curve1 

 

→ Interest rates have declined this year for maturities two years and beyond, given expectations for peaking policy, 

while the rates on the very shortest maturities increased due to debt ceiling concerns.  

→ During April, interest rates at the very front-end of the yield curve rose significantly as the debt ceiling debate 

continued while other maturities remained largely flat.  

→ After hitting -1.07% in early March, the yield spread between two-year and ten-year Treasuries finished the month 

largely unchanged at -0.59%. The more closely watched measure (by the Fed) of three-month and ten-year 

Treasuries remained inverted. Inversions in the yield curve have often preceded recessions.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

12/31/2021 12/30/2022 4/30/2023



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

→ Inflation continued to decline in April, with the year-over-year reading falling from 5.0% to 4.9% (slightly below 

expectations). The month-over-month rate of price increases was 0.4% (matching expectations), with food prices 

remaining flat, energy prices slightly increasing (0.6%), and all other areas rising 0.4% in aggregate. 

→ Core inflation – excluding food and energy - fell slightly (5.6% to 5.5%) but remained stubbornly high as the cost 

for shelter continued to rise. 

→ Inflation expectations (breakevens) declined very slightly for the month as investors continue to expect inflation 

to track back toward the Fed’s 2% target.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from August 1998 to the present month-end, respectively. Breakeven values represent month-end values for comparative 

purposes.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

→ Spreads (the added yield above a comparable maturity Treasury) were stable in April as concerns over the 

banking sector subsided and government and corporate bonds had similar gains. 

→ High yield spreads remain below the long-term average. Investment grade spreads and emerging market 

spreads are narrower than high yield spreads and close to their respective long-term averages.  

 
1 Sources: Bloomberg. Data is as of April 30, 2023. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from August 2000 to the recent month-end, respectively.  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Global Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Growth1 

 

→ Global economies are expected to slow this year compared to 2022, with risks of recession increasing given 

persistently high inflation and related tighter monetary policy.  

→ The delicate balancing act of central banks trying to reduce inflation without dramatically depressing growth will 

remain key.   

 
1 Source: Oxford Economics (World GDP, US$ prices & PPP exchange rate, real, % change YoY). Updated April 2023.  

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Projected

Global 

Growth



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Central Bank Response1 

Policy Rates Balance Sheet as % of GDP 

  

→ In 2022, many central banks aggressively reduced pandemic-era policy support in the face of high inflation, with 
the US taking the most aggressive approach. Slowing inflation and recent signs of instability in the banking sector 
have led to expectations for the slowing of policy tightening going forward.  

→ Since month-end, the Fed remained committed to fighting inflation despite pressures in the banking sector, 
raising rates another 25 basis points to a range of 5.0% to 5.25% at its early May meeting. This is largely expected 
to be the Fed’s last rate hike in this cycle. 

→ China’s central bank is a notable exception. They are expected to maintain an accommodative monetary stance 
to support the economy.  

→ Looking ahead the risk remains for a policy error as central banks attempt to balance bringing down inflation, 
maintaining financial stability, and growth. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Policy rate data is as of April 30, 2023. China policy rate is defined as the medium-term lending facility 1 year interest rate. Balance sheet as % of GDP is based on quarterly data and is as of March 31, 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

→ Inflation pressures continued to decline globally due to the easing of supply chain issues from the pandemic, 

declining energy prices, and tighter monetary policy. 

→ In the US, inflation fell to 4.9% at month-end, while eurozone inflation increased slightly (7.0% versus 6.9%) a level 

well off its peak. Despite 2023’s declines in the US and Europe, inflation levels remain elevated. 

→ Inflation remains relatively lower in China and Japan and has also declined recently. In China, inflation levels 

approached 0% at month-end as the reopening of their economy has led to an uneven economic recovery.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as April 30, 2023. The most recent Japanese inflation data is as of March 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Unemployment1 

 

→ Labor markets have significantly improved from the pandemic as economies have largely reopened. 

→ Despite slowing growth and high inflation, the US labor market remains a particular bright spot. Unemployment 
in the US, which experienced the steepest rise, recently returned to pre-pandemic levels. Broader measures of 
unemployment (U-6) remain higher at 6.6% but also declined dramatically from their peak. 

→ The strong labor market and higher wages, although beneficial for workers, motivates the Fed’s efforts to fight 
inflation, likely leading to higher unemployment. 

→ Unemployment in Europe has also declined but remains higher than the US, while levels in Japan have been 
relatively flat through the pandemic given less layoffs.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as April 30, 2023, for the US. The most recent data for Eurozone and Japanese unemployment is as of March 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Dollar versus Broad Currencies1 

 

→ The dollar finished 2022 much higher than it started, due to the increased pace of policy tightening, stronger 

relative growth, and safe-haven flows.  

→ Late last year and into early this year, the dollar has fallen, as weaker economic data and declining inflation led 

to investors anticipating the end of Fed tightening.  

→ This year, the track of inflation across economies and the corresponding monetary policies will likely be key 

drivers of currency moves.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data as of April 30, 2023. 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Summary 

Key Trends:  

→ The impacts of still relatively high inflation will remain key, with bond market volatility likely to stay high. 

→ Recent issues related to the banking sector have created a delicate balance for central banks to continue to fight 

inflation but also to try to maintain financial stability. 

→ Global monetary policies could diverge in 2023. The risk of policy errors remains elevated as central banks try 

to reduce persistent inflation while not tipping their economies into recession. 

→ Growth is expected to slow globally this year, with many economies forecast to tip into recession. Inflation, 

monetary policy, and the war will all be key. 

→ In the US, the end of many fiscal programs is expected to put the burden of continued growth on consumers. 

Costs for shelter, medical care, and education could continue to rise, keeping ‘sticky price’ inflation at elevated 

levels. 

→ The key for US equities going forward will be whether earnings can remain resilient if growth continues to slow. 

→ Equity valuations remain lower in both emerging and developed markets, but risks remain, including potential 

continued strength in the US dollar, higher inflation weighing particularly on Europe, and China’s rushed exit from 

COVID-19 restrictions and on-going weakness in the real estate sector.



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

 

April Flash Report 

 

 

 

 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

May 31, 2023 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Allocation vs. Targets and Policy

Current
Balance

Current
Allocation

Policy Difference Policy Range
Within

IPS
Range?

_

Domestic Equity $168,855,784 40.9% 40.0% 0.9% 30.0% - 50.0% Yes

International Equity $54,859,867 13.3% 12.0% 1.3% 8.0% - 14.0% Yes

Fixed Income $105,807,574 25.6% 31.0% -5.4% 25.0% - 40.0% Yes

Covered Calls $21,377,752 5.2% 5.0% 0.2% 5.0% - 10.0% Yes

Credit $9,033,784 2.2% 2.0% 0.2% 0.0% - 100.0% Yes

Crisis Risk Offset $39,661,106 9.6% 10.0% -0.4% 5.0% - 15.0% Yes

Cash $13,204,305 3.2% 0.0% 3.2% 0.0% - 5.0% Yes

Total $412,800,173 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Page 2 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Page 3 of 13 



Asset Class Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

OPFRS Total Plan 412,800,173 100.0 0.8 5.3 6.1 0.9 7.6 5.4 7.0 6.6 Dec-88

OPFRS Policy Benchmark   1.0 6.2 7.4 1.6 6.6 5.4 6.7 7.8 Dec-88

Excess Return    -0.2 -0.9 -1.3 -0.7 1.0 0.0 0.3  -1.2  

Domestic Equity 168,855,784 40.9 0.5 5.7 8.9 1.3 13.9 9.6 11.4 8.7 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)   1.1 8.3 10.9 1.5 14.1 10.6 11.7 8.9 Jun-97

Excess Return    -0.6 -2.6 -2.0 -0.2 -0.2 -1.0 -0.3  -0.2  

International Equity 54,859,867 13.3 1.3 10.2 14.7 4.6 10.3 3.5 5.4 5.3 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)   1.7 8.7 11.9 3.0 9.7 2.5 4.0 5.0 Jan-98

Excess Return    -0.4 1.5 2.8 1.6 0.6 1.0 1.4  0.3  

Fixed Income 105,807,574 25.6 0.7 4.2 1.5 0.1 -1.2 1.7 1.9 4.8 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   0.6 3.6 1.2 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.6 Dec-93

Excess Return    0.1 0.6 0.3 0.4 1.3 0.4 0.3  0.2  

Credit 9,033,784 2.2 1.4 5.2 6.8 0.2 10.1 3.6 -- 5.1 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR   1.0 4.6 8.3 1.2 4.7 3.3 4.0 4.2 Feb-15

Excess Return    0.4 0.6 -1.5 -1.0 5.4 0.3   0.9  

Covered Calls 21,377,752 5.2 1.8 8.1 10.5 4.3 14.0 9.3 -- 8.8 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.6 0.9 4.7 5.4 3.0 4.9   3.3  

Crisis Risk Offset 39,661,106 9.6 0.7 0.7 -4.1 -4.8 -8.2 -8.1 -- -8.5 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   1.3 2.4 4.9 4.6 2.9 -- -- 0.0 Aug-18

Excess Return    -0.6 -1.7 -9.0 -9.4 -11.1    -8.5  

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

 Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 4 of 13 



Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Cash 13,204,305 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.7 0.6 Mar-11

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR   0.4 1.5 2.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 0.9 0.7 Mar-11

Excess Return    -0.4 -1.5 -2.9 -3.0 -1.1 -0.5 -0.2  -0.1  
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 5 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

OPFRS Total Plan 412,800,173 100.0 -- 0.8 5.3 6.1 0.9 7.6 5.4 7.0 6.6 Dec-88

OPFRS Policy Benchmark    1.0 6.2 7.4 1.6 6.6 5.4 6.7 7.8 Dec-88

Excess Return    -0.2 -0.9 -1.3 -0.7 1.0 0.0 0.3  -1.2  

Domestic Equity 168,855,784 40.9 40.9 0.5 5.7 8.9 1.3 13.9 9.6 11.4 8.7 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)    1.1 8.3 10.9 1.5 14.1 10.6 11.7 8.9 Jun-97

Excess Return    -0.6 -2.6 -2.0 -0.2 -0.2 -1.0 -0.3  -0.2  

Northern Trust Russell 1000 75,873,985 18.4 44.9 1.2 8.8 11.3 1.5 14.1 11.0 11.9 12.9 Jun-10

Russell 1000    1.2 8.8 11.3 1.8 14.2 11.1 12.0 13.0 Jun-10

Excess Return    0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.3 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1  -0.1  

EARNEST Partners 45,006,350 10.9 26.7 -1.4 3.2 4.9 -0.7 15.4 10.6 12.5 10.0 Apr-06

Russell MidCap    -0.5 3.5 9.1 -1.7 13.8 8.0 9.9 8.4 Apr-06

Excess Return    -0.9 -0.3 -4.2 1.0 1.6 2.6 2.6  1.6  

Wellington Select Quality Equity 22,975,674 5.6 13.6 2.7 3.5 10.8 4.4 -- -- -- 4.4 May-22

Russell 1000    1.2 8.8 11.3 1.8 14.2 11.1 12.0 1.8 May-22

Excess Return    1.5 -5.3 -0.5 2.6     2.6  

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 10,664,172 2.6 6.3 -1.8 -2.1 8.3 2.9 -- -- -- 0.5 Apr-21

Russell 2000 Value    -2.5 -3.1 0.2 -8.0 15.4 3.7 7.0 -6.1 Apr-21

Excess Return    0.7 1.0 8.1 10.9     6.6  

Rice Hall James 14,335,604 3.5 8.5 0.7 7.8 6.6 2.0 11.5 4.8 -- 7.1 Jul-17

Russell 2000 Growth    -1.2 4.8 9.4 0.7 7.8 4.0 8.4 5.7 Jul-17

Excess Return    1.9 3.0 -2.8 1.3 3.7 0.8   1.4  

 Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 6 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

International Equity 54,859,867 13.3 13.3 1.3 10.2 14.7 4.6 10.3 3.5 5.4 5.3 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)    1.7 8.7 11.9 3.0 9.7 2.5 4.0 5.0 Jan-98

Excess Return    -0.4 1.5 2.8 1.6 0.6 1.0 1.4  0.3  

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 15,524,341 3.8 28.3 2.6 10.9 15.7 6.8 12.2 -- -- 7.1 Sep-19

FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD    2.6 10.5 16.3 5.6 12.1 3.8 5.2 7.3 Sep-19

Excess Return    0.0 0.4 -0.6 1.2 0.1    -0.2  

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 39,335,525 9.5 71.7 0.8 9.9 14.2 3.7 9.8 -- -- 3.2 Dec-19

MSCI ACWI ex USA    1.7 8.7 11.9 3.0 9.7 2.5 4.0 3.8 Dec-19

Excess Return    -0.9 1.2 2.3 0.7 0.1    -0.6  

Fixed Income 105,807,574 25.6 25.6 0.7 4.2 1.5 0.1 -1.2 1.7 1.9 4.8 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)    0.6 3.6 1.2 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.6 Dec-93

Excess Return    0.1 0.6 0.3 0.4 1.3 0.4 0.3  0.2  

Ramirez 71,828,220 17.4 67.9 0.7 4.1 1.1 -0.2 -1.2 1.6 -- 1.8 Jan-17

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR    0.6 3.6 0.5 -0.4 -3.1 1.2 1.3 1.1 Jan-17

Excess Return    0.1 0.5 0.6 0.2 1.9 0.4   0.7  

Wellington Core Bond 6,806,698 1.6 6.4 0.6 4.3 1.1 -0.7 -- -- -- -4.4 Apr-21

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR    0.6 3.6 0.5 -0.4 -3.1 1.2 1.3 -4.0 Apr-21

Excess Return    0.0 0.7 0.6 -0.3     -0.4  

Reams 27,172,656 6.6 25.7 0.8 4.5 2.5 1.3 -0.8 4.0 2.9 5.2 Feb-98

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)    0.6 3.6 1.2 -0.3 -2.5 1.3 1.6 4.2 Feb-98

Excess Return    0.2 0.9 1.3 1.6 1.7 2.7 1.3  1.0  

 
Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Though Vanguard Developed Markets ETF is a passive strategy, short-term performance may appear to diverge from the index it tracks more than what would be expected. This is due to Fair Value Pricing (FVP) adjustments that address the pricing 

discrepancies that may arise from time-zone differences among global securities markets. The resulting temporary divergence is expected to correct itself when the foreign markets reopen."

Page 7 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Credit 9,033,784 2.2 2.2 1.4 5.2 6.8 0.2 10.1 3.6 -- 5.1 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR    1.0 4.6 8.3 1.2 4.7 3.3 4.0 4.2 Feb-15

Excess Return    0.4 0.6 -1.5 -1.0 5.4 0.3   0.9  

Polen Capital 9,033,784 2.2 100.0 1.4 5.2 6.8 0.2 10.1 3.6 -- 5.1 Feb-15

ICE BofA High Yield Master TR    0.9 4.7 8.1 1.0 4.9 3.1 3.9 4.1 Feb-15

Excess Return    0.5 0.5 -1.3 -0.8 5.2 0.5   1.0  

Covered Calls 21,377,752 5.2 5.2 1.8 8.1 10.5 4.3 14.0 9.3 -- 8.8 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.6 0.9 4.7 5.4 3.0 4.9   3.3  

Parametric BXM 10,740,176 2.6 50.2 1.6 6.8 8.1 4.1 12.0 6.9 -- 7.0 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.4 -0.4 2.3 5.2 1.0 2.5   1.5  

Parametric DeltaShift 10,637,577 2.6 49.8 2.1 9.4 13.0 4.5 15.6 11.4 -- 10.7 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    1.2 7.2 5.8 -1.1 11.0 4.4 5.9 5.5 Apr-14

Excess Return    0.9 2.2 7.2 5.6 4.6 7.0   5.2  

Page 8 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

 Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Since inception date and performance begins in the month following an investments initial funding. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

YTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Crisis Risk Offset 39,661,106 9.6 9.6 0.7 0.7 -4.1 -4.8 -8.2 -8.1 -- -8.5 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index    1.3 2.4 4.9 4.6 2.9 -- -- 0.0 Aug-18

Excess Return    -0.6 -1.7 -9.0 -9.4 -11.1    -8.5  

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 10,454,824 2.5 26.4 1.8 6.5 10.2 5.8 -- -- -- 4.4 Feb-22

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index    1.3 2.4 4.9 4.6 2.9 -- -- 5.1 Feb-22

Excess Return    0.5 4.1 5.3 1.2     -0.7  

Versor Trend Following 14,596,620 3.5 36.8 0.0 -8.6 -12.1 -8.8 -- -- -- -2.5 Apr-22

SG Trend Index    2.8 -4.7 -5.8 3.0 13.6 9.4 5.2 9.4 Apr-22

Excess Return    -2.8 -3.9 -6.3 -11.8     -11.9  

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 14,609,662 3.5 36.8 0.5 7.4 -4.2 -7.4 -11.7 -- -- -3.4 Jul-19

Bloomberg US Govt Long TR    0.5 6.7 -4.1 -7.3 -11.7 0.1 1.1 -3.4 Jul-19

Excess Return    0.0 0.7 -0.1 -0.1 0.0    0.0  

Cash 13,204,305 3.2 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.7 0.6 Mar-11

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR    0.4 1.5 2.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 0.9 0.7 Mar-11

Excess Return    -0.4 -1.5 -2.9 -3.0 -1.1 -0.5 -0.2  -0.1  

Cash - Money Market 4,102,305 1.0 31.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.1 0.8 0.6 Mar-11

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR    0.4 1.5 2.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 0.9 0.7 Mar-11

Excess Return    -0.4 -1.5 -2.9 -3.0 -0.9 -0.4 -0.1  -0.1  

Cash - Treasury 9,102,000 2.2 68.9          
XXXXX

Page 9 of 13 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Cash Flow Summary

Month to Date

Beginning
Market Value

Net Cash Flow
Net Investment

Change
Ending

Market Value
_

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value $10,865,239 $0 -$201,067 $10,664,172

Cash - Money Market $3,868,100 $234,205 $0 $4,102,305

Cash - Treasury $8,737,000 $365,000 $0 $9,102,000

EARNEST Partners $45,658,799 $0 -$652,448 $45,006,350

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia $10,273,004 $0 $181,820 $10,454,824

Northern Trust Russell 1000 $74,942,881 $0 $931,104 $75,873,985

Parametric BXM $11,572,026 -$1,000,000 $168,149 $10,740,176

Parametric DeltaShift $11,421,217 -$1,000,000 $216,360 $10,637,577

Polen Capital $8,909,576 $0 $124,209 $9,033,784

Ramirez $71,307,125 $0 $521,094 $71,828,220

Reams $26,955,387 $0 $217,269 $27,172,656

Rice Hall James $14,239,905 $0 $95,699 $14,335,604

Securities Lending Northern Trust $0 -$9,368 $9,368 $0

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity $39,015,100 $0 $320,425 $39,335,525

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF $15,125,852 $0 $398,489 $15,524,341

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF $14,571,848 $0 $37,814 $14,609,662

Versor Trend Following $14,592,261 $0 $4,359 $14,596,620

Wellington Core Bond $6,763,874 $0 $42,824 $6,806,698

Wellington Select Quality Equity $22,362,811 $0 $612,863 $22,975,674

Total $411,182,005 -$1,410,163 $3,028,331 $412,800,173
XXXXX

Page 10 of 13 



Benchmark History

As of April 30, 2023
_

OPFRS Total Plan

6/1/2022 Present
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA / 31% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 10% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index / 2%
Bloomberg US High Yield TR

1/1/2019 5/31/2022
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 33% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 6.7% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index / 3.3% Bloomberg US Treasury Long TR

5/1/2016 12/31/2018 48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 20% CBOE BXM

10/1/2015 4/30/2016
43% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 15% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

1/1/2014 9/30/2015
48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 10% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

3/1/2013 12/31/2013 40% Russell 3000 / 10% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 17% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 33% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

8/1/2012 2/28/2013 20% Russell 3000 / 7% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 18% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 55% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

10/1/2007 7/31/2012 53% Russell 3000 / 17% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 30% Bloomberg US Universal TR

4/1/2006 9/30/2007 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Universal TR

1/1/2005 3/31/2006 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 10% Russell 1000 / 20% Russell 1000 Value / 5% Russell MidCap / 15% MSCI EAFE

12/1/1988 3/31/1998 40% S&P 500 / 55% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 5% FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Page 11 of 13 



Benchmark History

As of April 30, 2023
_

Domestic Equity

1/1/2005 Present Russell 3000

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 28.57% Russell 1000 / 57.14% Russell 1000 Value / 14.29% Russell MidCap

6/1/1997 3/31/1998 S&P 500

International Equity

1/1/2005 Present MSCI ACWI ex USA

1/1/1998 12/31/2004 MSCI EAFE Gross

Fixed Income

4/1/2006 Present Bloomberg US Universal TR

12/31/1993 3/31/2006 Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

Covered Calls

4/1/2014 Present CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD

Crisis Risk Offset

8/1/2018 Present SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index

Cash

3/1/2011 Present FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

As of April 30, 2023

Page 12 of 13 



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

Page 13 of 13 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

Quarterly Performance Report 

as of March 31, 2023 

 

 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Table of Contents 

 

 

Agenda 

1. Executive Summary 

2. Economic and Market Update as of March 31, 2023 

3. Quarterly Performance as of March 31, 2023 

4. Manager Monitoring / Probation Status 

5. Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

Page 2 of 61 



 

Executive Summary 

Page 3 of 61 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

Executive Summary | As of March 31, 2023 

 

 

Total Portfolio Review 

The Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (OPFRS) finished the quarter with a market value of $411.2 million.  

→ This represents a $18.1 million capital appreciation after $5.4 million in net outflows over the quarter.  

→ Over the past 12-months, the OPFRS Total Portfolio faced a $24.8 million depreciation, after withdrawals totaling 

$13.4 million for net outflows including benefit payments.  

→ As of 03/31/2023, all the asset classes were within acceptable allocation ranges relative to policy targets.1 

Investment Performance 

→ During the most recent quarter, the OPFRS portfolio generated an absolute return of 4.5%, gross of fees, 

underperforming its policy benchmark2 by (-0.6%).  

→ The portfolio underperformed the benchmark slightly over the trailing 1-year period while outperforming it over 

the 3-year period. Over the longer 5-year trailing period, the portfolio matched with the Policy Benchmark. 

 Quarter FYTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 

Total Portfolio (Gross) 4.5 5.3 (-5.5) 9.9 5.3 

Policy Benchmark  5.1 6.3 (-5.4) 8.6 5.3 

Excess Return (-0.6) (-1.0) (-0.1) 1.3 0.0 

Reference: Total Portfolio (Net) 3 4.5 5.1 (-5.7) 9.6 5.0 

 
1 Asset allocation as of 03/31/2023. Target weightings reflect the interim phase (where Crisis Risk Offset component is set to 10%) of the Plan’s previously approved asset allocation (effective 5/31/2017). 
2 Evolving Policy Benchmark consists of 40% Russell 3000, 12% MSCI ACWI ex U.S., 33% Bloomberg Universal, 5% CBOE BXM, 6.7% SG Multi Asset Risk Premia, 3.3% Bloomberg Long Treasury from 1/1/2019 through 5/31/2022; and 40% 

Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA / 31% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 10% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index / 2% Bloomberg US High Yield thereafter. 
3 Longer-term (>1 year) Net of fee returns include estimates based on OPFRS manager fee schedule (approximately 34 bps). 
 Fiscal year beings on July 01. 

Page 4 of 61 



 
 

  

 

 

 

Peer Comparison 

→ In comparison to its peer group1, the portfolio has outperformed the median fund’s return over the quarter while 

lagging in the trailing 1-, 3-, and 5-year periods. 

→ Similarly, in the most recent quarter, OPFRS ranks in the 25th percentile; over the longer periods, it falls in the 

third quartile in the universe of Public Defined Benefit Plans with $250 million to $1 billion in assets.  

 

 Quarter FYTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 

Total Portfolio (Gross) 4.5 5.3 (-5.5) 9.9 5.3 

Peer Group Median Fund Return  4.1 5.5 (-4.9) 11.0 6.0 

OPFRS vs. Peer Median Fund 0.4 (-0.2) (-0.6) (-1.1) (-0.7) 

Percentile Rank 25 63 71 73 67 

Reference: Total Portfolio (Net) 2 4.5 5.1 (-5.7) 9.6 5.0 

 

  

 
1 Source: Investment Metrics peer universe, Public Defined Benefit plans with $250 million to $1 billion in assets as of 03/31/2023. 
2 Longer-term (>1 year) Net of fee returns include estimates based on OPFRS manager fee schedule (approximately 34 bps). 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

Executive Summary | As of March 31, 2023

Total Portfolio Review (continued)

Page 5 of 61 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

Executive Summary | As of March 31, 2023 

 

 

Asset Class & Manager Highlights 

→ Domestic equity underperformed the Russell 3000 Index over the quarter and in the 5-year period. All the active 

managers, except Wellington Select Quality, outperformed their respective benchmarks in the quarter as well as 

almost all other available time periods.1 

→ International equity outperformed the MSCI ACWI ex US Index for all time periods measured. The Plan’s active 

international equity manager, SGA MSCI ACWI ex US, outperformed its benchmark over the quarter and the 

1-year period, while slightly underperforming in the 3-year trailing period.1The passive Vanguard posted small 

variation1 from the tracked benchmark over the periods measured. 

→ Fixed income outperformed the Bloomberg Universal Index across all time periods measured. The underlying 

managers also outperformed their respective benchmarks in all time periods, except for 

Wellington Core Bond’s underperformance over the 1-year trailing period. 

→ The Credit segment, with Polen Capital as its only manager, outperformed the asset class’s benchmark, 

Bloomberg US High Yield Index, in Q1, and over the 1- and 3-year periods, while matching it over the 5-year period. 

→ Covered Calls and the active DeltaShift strategy outperformed the CBOE S&P 500 Buy-Write Index across all 

periods measured. The passive BXM strategy outperformed the Index in all periods except over the quarter. 

→ The Crisis Risk Offset segment trailed its benchmark SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index across all time 

periods measured. Please note that the segment’s current benchmark does not accurately reflect its 

components; a recommendation for suitable modification is presented along with this report. 

 
1 Wellington Select Quality has less than 1-year of performance history and Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value has less than 3-year of performance history. SGA MSCI ACWI ex US and Vanguard Developed Markets ETF have less than 5-year of 

performance history. Due to Vanguard’s fair-value pricing methodology and timing of the international markets, the strategy’s returns may deviate from its tracked index in the short-term that are expected to equalize over the longer term. 

Page 6 of 61 



 

 

 

 

Economic and Market Update

Data as of March 31, 2023

Page 7 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Commentary 

→ It was a volatile quarter for most asset classes driven by evolving monetary policy expectations and high-profile 

bank failures. Ultimately, investors remained focused on slowing inflation and potentially peaking rate hikes 

leading to positive results across most asset classes for the quarter.  

• The Fed’s, and others’, quick responses to pressures in the banking sector brought confidence back to the 

markets in March with the crisis driving the terminal policy rate expectations lower.  

• US equity markets (Russell 3000) rallied in March (+2.7%) finishing the first quarter in strongly positive 

territory (+7.2%). Growth significantly outperformed value for the quarter, driven by the technology sector.  

• Non-US developed equity markets (MSCI EAFE +2.5%) also posted positive returns in March. They returned 

8.5% for the quarter, finishing ahead of US equities. 

• Emerging market equities had positive returns for the month (+3.0%) supported by Chinese equities (+4.5%) 

and a weaker US dollar. They trailed developed market equities for the quarter partly due to higher US-China 

tensions. 

• On expectations for lower inflation and concerns over the banking sector, bonds rallied in March, with the 

broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) rising 2.5%. For the quarter, the broad US bond market was 

up 3.0%. 

→ This year, the path of inflation and monetary policy, slowing global growth, and the war in Ukraine, as well as 

recent pressures in small- and medium-sized regional banks in the US, will all be key.  

Page 8 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Index Returns1 

Q1 2023 

 

→ Despite volatility during the quarter, public markets, except commodities, finished the first quarter of 2023 in 

positive territory adding to the strong gains from the fourth quarter of last year.  

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg and FactSet. Data is as of March 31, 2023. 

8.5%

7.5%

7.3%

7.2%

5.2%

4.0%

3.6%

3.3%

3.0%

2.7%

2.7%

2.2%

-5.4%

MSCI EAFE

S&P 500

MSCI ACWI

Russell 3000

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified

MSCI Emerging Markets

Bloomberg High Yield

Bloomberg US TIPS

Bloomberg Aggregate

Russell 2000

FTSE NAREIT Equity

Bloomberg Short-Term TIPS

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Page 9 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Domestic Equity Returns1 

Domestic Equity 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

S&P 500 3.7 7.5 -7.7 18.6 11.2 12.2 

Russell 3000 2.7 7.2 -8.6 18.5 10.4 11.7 

Russell 1000 3.2 7.5 -8.4 18.6 10.9 12.0 

Russell 1000 Growth 6.8 14.4 -10.9 18.6 13.6 14.6 

Russell 1000 Value -0.5 1.0 -5.9 17.9 7.5 9.1 

Russell MidCap -1.5 4.1 -8.8 19.2 8.0 10.0 

Russell MidCap Growth 1.4 9.1 -8.5 15.2 9.1 11.2 

Russell MidCap Value -3.1 1.3 -9.2 20.7 6.5 8.8 

Russell 2000 -4.8 2.7 -11.6 17.5 4.7 8.0 

Russell 2000 Growth -2.5 6.1 -10.6 13.4 4.3 8.5 

Russell 2000 Value -7.2 -0.7 -13.0 21.0 4.5 7.2 

US Equities: Russell 3000 Index rose 2.7% in March and 7.2% in Q1.   

→ US stocks rose in aggregate for the month and quarter as investors were optimistic that the Federal Reserve 
may end its policy tightening earlier than expected. However, turmoil in the regional banking industry weighed 
on segments of the market.  

→ The small cap and value indices were more exposed to the banking turmoil and underperformed their broad 
market indices by significant margins.  

→ Large cap stocks were driven higher by the continued strength of the technology and communication services 
sectors. This same dynamic contributed to the continued outperformance of growth stocks against their value 
counterparts across the capitalization spectrum.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023.  

Page 10 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Foreign Equity Returns1 

Foreign Equity 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

MSCI ACWI ex. US 2.4 6.9 -5.1 11.8 2.5 4.2 

MSCI EAFE 2.5 8.5 -1.4 13.0 3.6 5.0 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) 0.5 7.5 3.8 14.6 6.3 7.3 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap -0.2 4.9 -9.8 12.1 0.9 5.8 

MSCI Emerging Markets 3.0 4.0 -10.7 7.8 -0.9 2.0 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) 2.2 3.8 -6.6 8.8 1.9 5.0 

MSCI China 4.5 4.7 -4.7 -2.6 -4.0 3.4 

Foreign Equity: Developed international equities (MSCI EAFE) rose 2.5% in March and 8.5% for the quarter. Emerging 

market equities (MSCI EM) rose 3.0%. for the month and 4.0% in the first quarter.  

→ Non-US equities also recovered in March with developed markets (MSCI EAFE) outpacing US equities 

(8.5% versus 7.2%) for the quarter and emerging markets (MSCI Emerging Markets) trailing (4.0% versus 7.2%). 

→ Developed market equities also benefited from expectations that monetary policy may be peaking on declining 

inflation. The continued weakness in the US dollar also added to the quarterly results (+1%) for US investors. 

→ Emerging market equities started the year with optimism over the reopening of China’s economy, but the 

escalation of US-China tensions and the broader banking crisis led to weaker relative results compared to 

developed markets. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. 

Page 11 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 

March 

(%) 

Q1 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

Current 

Yield 

(%) 

Duration 

(Years) 

Bloomberg Barclays Universal 2.3 2.9 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 1.6 4.8 6.3 

Bloomberg Barclays Aggregate 2.5 3.0 -4.8 -2.8 0.9 1.4 4.4 6.5 

Bloomberg Barclays US TIPS 2.9 3.3 -6.1 1.8 2.9 1.5 4.1 7.0 

Bloomberg Short-term TIPS 1.9 2.2 -0.3 3.5 3.0 1.5 4.6 2.5 

Bloomberg Barclays High Yield 1.1 3.6 -3.3 5.9 3.2 4.1 8.5 4.2 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD) 4.1 5.2 -0.7 0.9 -2.4 -1.5 7.1 5.1 

Fixed Income: The Bloomberg Universal rose 2.3% in March and 2.9% in Q1 as global sovereign debt yields fell on 

monetary policy expectations.    

→ Anecdotal reports suggest bouts of flight-to-quality flows during the peak of interest rate volatility connected to 

the banking sector pushed sovereign debt yields lower. These concerns largely outweighed continued inflation 

concerns and caused investors to adjust their policy expectations. 

→ The broad TIPS index outperformed the broad US bond market (Bloomberg Aggregate) in March and for the 

quarter. 

→ High yield bonds had the weakest results in March driven by banking sector weakness but outperformed the 

broad US bond market for the quarter.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. JPM GBI-EM data is from InvestorForce. Data is as of March 31, 2023. The yield and duration data from Bloomberg is defined as the index’s yield to worst and modified duration respectively. 

Page 12 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

  

→ Volatility in equities (VIX) remained subdued through the end of March as investors continued to anticipate the 

end of the Fed’s policy tightening.  

→ In comparison, the bond market remains on edge with the more policy sensitive MOVE (fixed income volatility) 

remaining well above its long-run average. During the quarter it hit the highest level since the Global Financial 

Crisis as the banking sector issues created uncertainty over how the Fed would balance fighting inflation and 

maintaining financial stability.  

 
1 Equity and Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income markets. Data is as of March 2023. The average line 

indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and March 2023. 

Page 13 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

→ After its dramatic decline last year the US equity price-to-earnings ratio remains above its long-run (21st century) 

average. 

→ International developed market valuations are slightly below their own long-term average, with those for 

emerging markets the lowest and well under the long-term average. 

  

 
1 US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically Adjusted P/E – Source: MSCI and 

Bloomberg. Earnings figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of March 2023. The average line is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from December 1999 to 
the recent month-end respectively.  

Page 14 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Yield Curve1 

 

→ It was a volatile quarter for interest rates, particularly shorter-dated maturities. Except for the shortest maturities, 

rates largely declined across the yield curve in the first quarter on expectations of peaking policy.  

→ After hitting -1.07% in early March, the yield spread between two-year and ten-year Treasuries finished the 

quarter at -0.55% as policy-sensitive rates at the front-end of the curve declined faster than longer maturities. 

The more closely watched measure by the Fed of three-month and ten-year Treasuries also remained inverted. 

Inversions in the yield curve have often preceded recessions. 

→ The Fed remained committed to fighting inflation, despite pressures in the banking sector, raising rates another 

25 basis points to a range of 4.75% to 5.0% at its March meeting.   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

12/31/2021 12/30/2022 3/31/2023

Page 15 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

→ Inflation continued to decline in March with the year-over-year reading falling from 6.0% to 5.0% and coming in 

slightly below the 5.1% expectations. The rate of price increases also slowed on a month-over-month basis 

(0.1% versus 0.4%), with food prices only slightly higher and energy prices declining. 

→ Core inflation – excluding food and energy - rose (5.6% versus 5.5%) mostly driven by transportation and housing.   

→ Inflation expectations (breakevens) were volatile over the month and declined on net, but nonetheless ended the 

month at 2.3% (roughly where it started the quarter).  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from August 1998 to the present month-end, respectively. Breakeven values represent month-end values for comparative 

purposes.  

Page 16 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

→ Spreads (the added yield above a comparable maturity Treasury) experienced a significant spike in March 

during the banking crisis but subsequently declined as the Fed and others stepped in to provide support. 

→ High yield spreads rose from 4.1% to a peak of 5.2% in March before finishing the quarter at 4.5% (lower than the 

start of the quarter by 0.2%). Investment grade spreads also spiked in March (1.2% to 1.6%) but also fell from their 

peak to 1.4%. Emerging market spreads finished the quarter at 3.6% experiencing the largest decline (-0.9%).  

 
1 Sources: Bloomberg. Data is as of March 31, 2023. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from August 2000 to the recent month-end, respectively.  

Page 17 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Global Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Growth1 

 
→ Global economies are expected to slow in 2023 compared to 2022, with risks of recession increasing given 

persistently high inflation and related tighter monetary policy.  

→ The delicate balancing act of central banks trying to reduce inflation without dramatically impacting growth will 

remain key.   

 
1 Source: Oxford Economics (World GDP, US$ prices & PPP exchange rate, real, % change YoY). Updated March 2023.  

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Projected

Global 

Growth

Page 18 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Central Bank Response1 

Policy Rates Balance Sheet as % of GDP 

  

→ In 2022, many central banks aggressively reduced pandemic-era policy support in the face of high inflation with 
the US taking the most aggressive approach. Slowing inflation and recent signs of instability in the banking sector 
have led to expectations for the slowing of policy tightening going forward.  

→ In March, the Fed, FDIC, and Treasury provided deposit guarantees after high profile bank failures revealed bank 
capital losses on US Treasurys related to higher interest rates and lax risk management. 

→ China’s central bank is one notable exception. They are expected to maintain an accommodative monetary 
stance to support the economy. They cut bank reserves requirements to improve bank liquidity and banks have 
also securitized over $390 billion in non-performing loans to improve loan quality ratios.  

→ Looking ahead the risk remains for a policy error as central banks attempt to balance bringing down inflation, 
maintaining financial stability, and growth. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Policy rate data is as of March 31, 2023. China policy rate is defined as the medium-term lending facility 1 year interest rate. Balance sheet as % of GDP is based on quarterly data and is as of December 31, 2022. 

Page 19 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

→ Inflation increased dramatically from the lows of the pandemic, particularly in the US and Eurozone where it 

reached levels not seen in many decades. 

→ Inflation pressures are slowly declining in the US as supply issues ease, but they remain elevated, while in Europe 

they have also started to fall as energy prices have eased. 

→ Lingering supply issues related to the pandemic, record monetary and fiscal stimulus, strict COVID-19 restrictions 

in China, and higher commodity prices driven by the war in Ukraine have been key global drivers of inflation. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as March 31, 2023. The most recent Japanese inflation data is as of February 2023. 

Page 20 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Unemployment1 

 

→ Labor markets have significantly improved from the pandemic as economies have largely reopened. 

→ Despite slowing growth and high inflation, the US labor market remains a particular bright spot. Unemployment 

in the US, which experienced the steepest rise, recently has returned to pre-pandemic levels. Broader measures 

of unemployment (U-6) remain higher at 6.7% but have also declined dramatically from their peak. 

→ The strong labor market and higher wages, although beneficial for workers, motivates the Fed’s efforts to fight 

inflation, likely leading to higher unemployment. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as March 31, 2023, for the US. The most recent data for Eurozone and Japanese unemployment is as of February 2023. 

Page 21 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

US Dollar versus Broad Currencies1 

 

→ The dollar finished 2022 much higher than it started, due to the increased pace of policy tightening, stronger 

relative growth, and safe-haven flows. Late last year and into early this year, the dollar experienced some 

weakness though as investors anticipated the end of Fed tightening.  

→ Overall, the US dollar depreciated in March and finished the quarter slightly lower than where it started as weaker 

economic data and bank turmoil drove interest rates lower in the US. 

→ This year, the track of inflation across economies and the corresponding monetary policies will likely be key 

drivers of currency moves.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data as of March 31, 2023. 

Page 22 of 61 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

Summary 

Key Trends:  

→ The impacts of record high inflation will remain key, with market volatility likely to stay high. 

→ Recent issues related to the banking sector have created a delicate balance for central banks to continue to fight 

inflation but also try to maintain financial stability. 

→ Global monetary policies could diverge in 2023 with the Fed pausing and others continuing to tighten. The risk of 

policy errors remains elevated given persistent inflation pressures and a strong US labor market. 

→ Growth is expected to slow globally this year, with many economies forecast to tip into recession. Inflation, 

monetary policy, and the war will all be key. 

→ In the US, the end of many fiscal programs is expected to put the burden of continued growth on consumers. 

Costs for shelter, medical care, and education could continue to rise, keeping ‘sticky price’ inflation at elevated 

levels. 

→ The key for US equities going forward will be whether earnings can remain resilient if growth continues to slow. 

→ Outside the US, equity valuations remain lower in both emerging and developed markets, but risks remain, 

including potential continued strength in the US dollar, higher inflation particularly weighing on Europe, and 

China’s rushed exit from COVID-19 restrictions and on-going weakness in the real estate sector. 

Page 23 of 61 



 

1Q 2023 Performance 

as of March 31, 2023 

Page 24 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan | As of March 31, 2023

YTD Ending March 31, 2023

 Total Return
Anlzd

Standard
Deviation

_

OPFRS Total Plan 4.5% 13.3%

OPFRS Policy Benchmark 5.1% 12.2%

1 Year Ending March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd

Standard
Deviation

_

OPFRS Total Plan -5.5% 15.1%

OPFRS Policy Benchmark -5.4% 15.4%

Summary of Cash Flows
  Quarter-To-Date One Year

_

Beginning Market Value $398,501,201 $449,373,445

Net Cash Flow -$5,442,419 -$13,425,368

Capital Appreciation $18,123,266 -$24,766,028

Ending Market Value $411,182,049 $411,182,049
_

Performance shown is Gross-of-Fees.

Page 25 of 61 



Market Value
($)

QTD
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

7 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

_

OPFRS Total Plan 411,182,049 4.5 5.3 -5.5 9.9 5.3 7.5 7.0

OPFRS Policy Benchmark  5.1 6.3 -5.4 8.6 5.3 7.1 6.7

Excess Return  -0.6 -1.0 -0.1 1.3 0.0 0.4 0.3

InvMetrics Public DB $250mm-$1B
Gross Median

 4.1 5.5 -4.9 11.0 6.0 7.6 7.1

Domestic Equity 168,069,634 5.2 8.4 -7.2 18.6 9.5 11.7 11.5

Russell 3000 (Blend)  7.2 9.7 -8.6 18.5 10.4 12.0 11.7

Excess Return  -2.0 -1.3 1.4 0.1 -0.9 -0.3 -0.2

International Equity 54,140,952 8.7 13.2 -3.9 12.2 3.6 7.2 5.7

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)  6.9 10.0 -5.1 11.8 2.5 5.9 4.2

Excess Return  1.8 3.2 1.2 0.4 1.1 1.3 1.5

Fixed Income 105,026,387 3.4 0.7 -4.2 -0.6 1.4 1.8 1.9

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)  2.9 0.5 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 1.2 1.6

Excess Return  0.5 0.2 0.4 1.4 0.4 0.6 0.3

Credit 8,909,576 3.7 5.2 -3.1 10.4 3.2 6.3 --

Bloomberg US High Yield TR  3.6 7.2 -3.3 5.9 3.2 5.1 --

Excess Return  0.1 -2.0 0.2 4.5 0.0 1.2  

Covered Calls 22,993,243 6.2 8.5 -4.7 16.6 9.1 9.7 --

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD  6.0 4.6 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.9 --

Excess Return  0.2 3.9 2.2 4.3 4.7 3.8  

Crisis Risk Offset 39,437,113 0.0 -4.7 -6.5 -8.7 -8.2 -- --

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index

 1.1 3.6 6.4 2.1 -- -- --

Excess Return  -1.1 -8.3 -12.9 -10.8    

Cash 12,605,144 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.7

FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR  1.1 2.5 2.6 1.0 1.4 1.2 0.9

Excess Return  -1.1 -2.5 -2.6 -1.0 -0.4 -0.2 -0.2
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Asset Class Performance (gross of fees) | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees. Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 26 of 61 



QTD
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

2021
(%)

2022
(%)

_

OPFRS Total Plan 4.5 5.3 -5.5 9.9 5.3 -4.8 21.1 9.7 14.1 -14.5

OPFRS Policy Benchmark 5.1 6.3 -5.4 8.6 5.3 -5.0 19.6 12.1 11.8 -14.5

InvMetrics Public DB $250mm-$1B Gross Median 4.1 5.5 -4.9 11.0 6.0 -4.1 18.6 13.1 13.6 -13.4
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Portfolio Relative Performance Results | As of March 31, 2023

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 27 of 61 



Asset Allocation vs. Target

As Of March 31, 2023

Current % Policy Difference*
_

Domestic Equity $168,069,634 40.9% 40.0% 0.9%

International Equity $54,140,952 13.2% 12.0% 1.2%

Fixed Income $105,026,387 25.5% 31.0% -5.5%

Covered Calls $22,993,243 5.6% 5.0% 0.6%

Credit $8,909,576 2.2% 2.0% 0.2%

Crisis Risk Offset $39,437,113 9.6% 10.0% -0.4%

Cash $12,605,144 3.1% 0.0% 3.1%

Total $411,182,049 100.0% 100.0%

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Asset Allocation | As of March 31, 2023

Target weightings reflect the Plan's evolving asset allocation (effective 5/31/2017.)

Cash account market value includes cash balances held in ETF accounts at the custodian and risiduals from terminated managers.

Page 28 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Domestic Equity 168,069,634 100.0 5.2 -7.2 18.6 9.5 8.7 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)   7.2 -8.6 18.5 10.4 8.9 Jun-97

Excess Return   -2.0 1.4 0.1 -0.9 -0.2  

Northern Trust Russell 1000 74,942,881 44.6 7.5 -8.7 18.4 10.8 12.9 Jun-10

Russell 1000   7.5 -8.4 18.6 10.9 13.0 Jun-10

Excess Return   0.0 -0.3 -0.2 -0.1 -0.1  

EARNEST Partners 45,658,799 27.2 4.7 -6.0 20.9 11.0 10.1 Apr-06

Russell MidCap   4.1 -8.8 19.2 8.1 8.4 Apr-06

Excess Return   0.6 2.8 1.7 2.9 1.7  

eV US Mid Cap Core Equity Gross Rank   50 62 39 17 34 Apr-06

Wellington Select Quality Equity 22,362,811 13.3 0.7 -- -- -- 1.6 May-22

Russell 1000   7.5 -- -- -- 0.6 May-22

Excess Return   -6.8    1.0  

eV US Large Cap Core Equity Gross Rank   94 -- -- -- 46 May-22

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 10,865,239 6.5 -0.3 -2.3 -- -- 1.4 Apr-21

Russell 2000 Value   -0.7 -13.0 -- -- -5.2 Apr-21

Excess Return   0.4 10.7   6.6  

eV US Small Cap Value Equity Gross Rank   86 24 -- -- 32 Apr-21

Rice Hall James 14,239,905 8.5 7.1 -7.7 18.6 4.2 7.1 Jul-17

Russell 2000 Growth   6.1 -10.6 13.4 4.3 6.0 Jul-17

Excess Return   1.0 2.9 5.2 -0.1 1.1  

eV US Small Cap Growth Equity Gross Rank   51 28 38 95 90 Jul-17
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 29 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

International Equity 54,140,952 100.0 8.7 -3.9 12.2 3.6 5.3 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)   6.9 -5.1 11.8 2.5 5.0 Jan-98

Excess Return   1.8 1.2 0.4 1.1 0.3  

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 15,125,852 27.9 8.0 -3.0 13.8 -- 6.5 Sep-19

FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD   7.7 -3.8 13.9 -- 6.6 Sep-19

Excess Return   0.3 0.8 -0.1  -0.1  

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 39,015,100 72.1 9.0 -4.3 11.7 -- 3.0 Dec-19

MSCI ACWI ex USA   6.9 -5.1 11.8 -- 3.4 Dec-19

Excess Return   2.1 0.8 -0.1  -0.4  

eV ACWI ex-US All Cap Core Eq Gross Rank   22 57 80 -- 92 Dec-19
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 30 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Fixed Income 105,026,387 100.0 3.4 -4.2 -0.6 1.4 4.8 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   2.9 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 4.6 Dec-93

Excess Return   0.5 0.4 1.4 0.4 0.2  

Ramirez 71,307,125 67.9 3.3 -4.3 -0.6 1.3 1.7 Jan-17

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR   3.0 -4.8 -2.8 0.9 1.0 Jan-17

Excess Return   0.3 0.5 2.2 0.4 0.7  

eV US Core Fixed Inc Gross Rank   24 36 12 67 34 Jan-17

Wellington Core Bond 6,763,874 6.4 3.6 -5.3 -- -- -4.9 Apr-21

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR   3.0 -4.8 -- -- -4.5 Apr-21

Excess Return   0.6 -0.5   -0.4  

eV US Core Fixed Inc Gross Rank   5 89 -- -- 98 Apr-21

Reams 26,955,387 25.7 3.7 -3.5 0.6 3.7 5.2 Feb-98

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   2.9 -4.6 -2.0 1.0 4.2 Feb-98

Excess Return   0.8 1.1 2.6 2.7 1.0  

eV US Core Plus Fixed Inc Gross Rank   15 15 25 2 39 Feb-98
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 31 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Credit 8,909,576 100.0 3.7 -3.1 10.4 3.2 5.0 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR   3.6 -3.3 5.9 3.2 4.1 Feb-15

Excess Return   0.1 0.2 4.5 0.0 0.9  

Polen Capital 8,909,576 100.0 3.7 -3.1 10.4 3.2 5.0 Feb-15

ICE BofA High Yield Master TR   3.7 -3.6 5.8 3.1 4.0 Feb-15

Excess Return   0.0 0.5 4.6 0.1 1.0  

eV US High Yield Fixed Inc Gross Rank   32 65 4 75 14 Feb-15
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 32 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Covered Calls 22,993,243 100.0 6.2 -4.7 16.6 9.1 8.6 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   6.0 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.4 Apr-14

Excess Return   0.2 2.2 4.3 4.7 3.2  

Parametric BXM 11,572,026 50.3 5.2 -3.4 13.4 6.8 6.8 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   6.0 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.4 Apr-14

Excess Return   -0.8 3.5 1.1 2.4 1.4  

Parametric DeltaShift 11,421,217 49.7 7.2 -5.9 19.3 11.1 10.6 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   6.0 -6.9 12.3 4.4 5.4 Apr-14

Excess Return   1.2 1.0 7.0 6.7 5.2  

eV US Large Cap Core Equity Gross Rank   28 44 29 40 61 Apr-14
XXXXX

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 33 of 61 



Market Value
% of

Portfolio
QTD 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs S.I. S.I. Date

_

Crisis Risk Offset 39,437,113 100.0 0.0 -6.5 -8.7 -8.2 -8.8 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   1.1 6.4 2.1 -- -0.2 Aug-18

Excess Return   -1.1 -12.9 -10.8  -8.6  

Versor Trend Following 14,592,261 37.0 -8.7 -2.7 -- -- -2.7 Apr-22

SG Trend Index   -7.3 7.2 -- -- 7.2 Apr-22

Excess Return   -1.4 -9.9   -9.9  

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 14,571,848 36.9 6.8 -16.3 -11.5 -- -3.6 Jul-19

Bloomberg US Govt Long TR   6.2 -15.9 -11.3 -- -3.6 Jul-19

Excess Return   0.6 -0.4 -0.2  0.0  

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia 10,273,004 26.0 4.6 5.8 -- -- 3.1 Feb-22

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   1.1 6.4 -- -- 4.3 Feb-22

Excess Return   3.5 -0.6   -1.2  
XXXXX

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Manager Performance - Gross of Fees | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 34 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Total Portfolio 5-Year Performance | As of  March 31, 2023

The actuarial expected rate of return was 8% through 6/30/2009, 7.5% through 6/30/2010, 7% through 6/30/2011, 6.75% through 6/30/2014, 6.5% through 2/31/2017 and 6.0% currently

Performance shown is gross-of-fees.

Page 35 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Plan Sponsor Peer Group Analysis | As of  March 31, 2023

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 36 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Domestic Equity | As of March 31, 2023

Page 37 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Northern Trust Russell 1000 | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Northern Trust Russell 1000 12.9% 15.0% 0.0% 1.0 -0.6 0.2% 98.5% 100.0%

     Russell 1000 13.0% 15.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 38 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

EARNEST Partners | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

EARNEST Partners 9.1% 17.9% 0.1% 1.0 0.2 3.6% 94.2% 99.3%

     Russell MidCap 8.4% 18.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 39 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Rice Hall James | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Rice Hall James 6.3% 22.3% 0.1% 0.9 0.0 7.8% 83.3% 94.8%

     Russell 2000 Growth 6.0% 23.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 40 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 0.5% 20.0% 0.4% 0.9 1.2 4.8% 104.3% 88.6%

     Russell 2000 Value -5.2% 21.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 41 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Wellington Select Quality Equity | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception. Annualized Return is not available for managers without a history longer than one year.

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Wellington Select Quality Equity 1.6% 18.0% 0.1% 0.7 0.1 10.2% 69.7% 72.4%

     Russell 1000 0.6% 23.1% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 42 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

International Equity | As of March 31, 2023

Page 43 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 6.5% 20.0% 0.0% 1.0 -0.1 2.6% 104.2% 102.3%

     FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD 6.6% 19.7% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 44 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 2.3% 18.8% -0.1% 1.0 -0.3 3.5% 92.2% 99.1%

     MSCI ACWI ex USA 3.4% 19.3% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 45 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Fixed Income | As of March 31, 2023

Fixed Income Fixed Income Characteristics

vs. Bloomberg US Universal TR

Portfolio Index

Q1-23 Q1-23
 

Fixed Income Characteristics

Yield to Maturity 4.94 5.10

Average Duration 6.18 6.25

Average Quality AA AA

Weighted Average Maturity 9.19 12.25

Page 46 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Ramirez | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Ramirez 1.4% 5.6% 0.0% 1.0 0.1 2.6% 113.1% 105.1%

     Bloomberg US Aggregate TR 1.0% 5.0% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 47 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Reams | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Reams 5.0% 5.6% 0.0% 1.1 0.2 3.8% 124.9% 100.1%

     Bloomberg Universal (Blend) 4.2% 3.9% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 48 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Wellington Core Bond | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Wellington Core Bond -5.0% 7.9% 0.0% 1.1 -0.6 0.9% 105.7% 107.1%

     Bloomberg US Aggregate TR -4.5% 7.3% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 49 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Polen Capital | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Polen Capital 4.3% 7.9% 0.1% 0.8 0.1 4.3% 76.0% 77.1%

     ICE BofA High Yield Master TR 4.0% 8.1% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 50 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Covered Calls | As of March 31, 2023

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Covered Calls 8.3% 11.8% 0.2% 1.0 0.7 4.1% 145.8% 103.0%

     CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD 5.4% 10.8% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Parametric BXM 6.6% 9.7% 0.2% 0.9 0.4 3.3% 96.3% 91.6%

     CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD 5.4% 10.8% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Parametric DeltaShift 10.2% 14.1% 0.3% 1.2 0.8 6.2% 210.3% 111.4%

     CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD 5.4% 10.8% 0.0% 1.0 -- 0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 51 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

Crisis Risk Offset | As of March 31, 2023

 Anlzd Return
Anlzd Standard

Deviation
Alpha Beta

Information
Ratio

Tracking Error
Up Mkt Capture

Ratio
Down Mkt

Capture Ratio
_

Crisis Risk Offset -10.20% 11.26% -0.82% 0.56 -0.88 11.07% -30.22% 98.01%

     SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index -0.49% 5.93% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Kepos Alternative Risk Premia -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

     SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index -0.49% 5.93% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Versor Trend Following -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

     SG Trend Index 11.16% 13.27% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF -3.63% 15.13% 0.00% 1.02 -0.04 1.19% 102.56% 101.12%

     Bloomberg US Govt Long TR -3.58% 14.86% 0.00% 1.00 -- 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
XXXXX

Performance shown is net-of-fees and since inception.

Page 52 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan | As of March 31, 2023

Benchmark History

As of March 31, 2023
_

OPFRS Total Plan

6/1/2022 Present
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA / 31% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 10% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index / 2%
Bloomberg US High Yield TR

1/1/2019 5/31/2022
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 33% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 6.7% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index / 3.3% Bloomberg US Treasury Long TR

5/1/2016 12/31/2018 48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 20% CBOE BXM

10/1/2015 4/30/2016
43% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 15% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

1/1/2014 9/30/2015
48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 10% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

3/1/2013 12/31/2013 40% Russell 3000 / 10% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 17% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 33% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

8/1/2012 2/28/2013 20% Russell 3000 / 7% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 18% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 55% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

10/1/2007 7/31/2012 53% Russell 3000 / 17% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 30% Bloomberg US Universal TR

4/1/2006 9/30/2007 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Universal TR

1/1/2005 3/31/2006 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 10% Russell 1000 / 20% Russell 1000 Value / 5% Russell MidCap / 15% MSCI EAFE

12/1/1988 3/31/1998 40% S&P 500 / 55% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 5% FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Page 53 of 61 



Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan | As of March 31, 2023

Benchmark History

As of March 31, 2023
_

Domestic Equity

1/1/2005 Present Russell 3000

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 28.57% Russell 1000 / 57.14% Russell 1000 Value / 14.29% Russell MidCap

6/1/1997 3/31/1998 S&P 500

International Equity

1/1/2005 Present MSCI ACWI ex USA

1/1/1998 12/31/2004 MSCI EAFE Gross

Fixed Income

4/1/2006 Present Bloomberg US Universal TR

12/31/1993 3/31/2006 Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

Covered Calls

4/1/2014 Present CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD

Crisis Risk Offset

8/1/2018 Present SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index

Cash

3/1/2011 Present FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR
XXXXX

Page 54 of 61 



  

 

 

 

Manager Monitoring / Probation Status 

Page 55 of 61 



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System  

Manager Monitoring / Probation List | As of March 31, 2023  

 

 

Manager Monitoring/Probation Status 

Return vs. Benchmark since Corrective Action 

Investment Performance Criteria for Manager Monitoring/Probation Status 

Asset Class 

Short-term 

(Rolling 12 months) 

Medium-term 

(Rolling 36 months) 

Long-term 

(60 + months) 

Active Domestic Equity 
Fund return < benchmark return 

by 3.5% 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 1.75% for 6 consecutive months 
VRR3 < 0.97 for 6 consecutive months 

Active International Equity 
Fund return < benchmark return 

by 4.5% 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 2.0% for 6 consecutive months 
VRR < 0.97 for 6 consecutive months 

Passive International Equity Tracking Error > 0.50% 
Tracking Error > 0.45% for 6 consecutive 

months 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 0.4% for 6 consecutive months 

Fixed Income 
Fund return < benchmark return 

by 1.5% 

Annualized Fund return < benchmark 

return by 1.0% for 6 consecutive months 
VRR < 0.98 for 6 consecutive months 

 

 
1 Annualized performance if over one year. Performance shown is gross-of-fees. 
2 Approximate date based on when the Board voted to either monitor a manager at a heightened level or place it on probation. 
3 VRR (Value Relative Ratio) is calculated as manager cumulative return/ benchmark return. 

Portfolio Status 

Concern Triggering  

the Watch Status 

Months Since  

Corrective Action 

Performance1 Since  

Corrective Action 

Peer Group  

Percentile Rank 

Date of  

Corrective Action2 

Rice Hall James On Watch 
Performance/ 

Organization 
45 7.6 70 5/29/2019 

Russell 2000 Growth    5.9   

Page 56 of 61 



Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 
 

Page 57 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  

Page 58 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

Credit Risk:  Refers to the risk that the issuer of a fixed income security may default (i.e., the issuer will be unable to make timely principal and/or interest payments on the security.) 

Duration:  Measure of the sensitivity of the price of a bond to a change in its yield to maturity.  Duration summarizes, in a single number, the characteristics that cause bond prices to 

change in response to a change in interest rates.  For example, the price of a bond with a duration of three years will rise by approximately 3% for each 1% decrease in its yield to maturity.  

Conversely, the price will decrease 3% for each 1% increase in the bond’s yield.  Price changes for two different bonds can be compared using duration.  A bond with a duration of six years 

will exhibit twice the percentage price change of a bond with a three-year duration.  The actual calculation of a bond’s duration is somewhat complicated, but the idea behind the calculation 

is straightforward.  The first step is to measure the time interval until receipt for each cash flow (coupon and principal payments) from a bond.  The second step is to compute a weighted 

average of these time intervals.  Each time interval is measured by the present value of that cash flow.  This weighted average is the duration of the bond measured in years. 

Information Ratio:  This statistic is a measure of the consistency of a portfolio’s performance relative to a benchmark.  It is calculated by subtracting the benchmark return from the 

portfolio return (excess return), and dividing the resulting excess return by the standard deviation (volatility) of this excess return.  A positive information ratio indicates outperformance 

versus the benchmark, and the higher the information ratio, the more consistent the outperformance. 

Jensen’s Alpha:  A measure of the average return of a portfolio or investment in excess of what is predicted by its beta or “market” risk.  Portfolio Return- [Risk Free Rate+Beta*(market 

return-Risk Free Rate)]. 

Market Capitalization:  For a firm, market capitalization is the total market value of outstanding common stock.  For a portfolio, market capitalization is the sum of the capitalization of 

each company weighted by the ratio of holdings in that company to total portfolio holdings; thus it is a weighted-average capitalization.  Meketa Investment Group considers the largest 

65% of the broad domestic equity market as large capitalization, the next 25% of the market as medium capitalization, and the smallest 10% of stocks as small capitalization. 

Market Weighted:  Stocks in many indices are weighted based on the total market capitalization of the issue.  Thus, the individual returns of higher market-capitalization issues will more 

heavily influence an index’s return than the returns of the smaller market-capitalization issues in the index. 

Maturity:  The date on which a loan, bond, mortgage, or other debt/security becomes due and is to be paid off. 

Prepayment Risk:  The risk that prepayments will increase (homeowners will prepay all or part of their mortgage) when mortgage interest rates decline; hence, investors’ monies will be 

returned to them in a lower interest rate environment.  Also, the risk that prepayments will slow down when mortgage interest rates rise; hence, investors will not have as much money as 

previously anticipated in a higher interest rate environment.  A prepayment is any payment in excess of the scheduled mortgage payment. 

Price-Book Value (P/B) Ratio:  The current market price of a stock divided by its book value per share.  Meketa Investment Group calculates P/B as the current price divided by Compustat's 

quarterly common equity.  Common equity includes common stock, capital surplus, retained earnings, and treasury stock adjusted for both common and nonredeemable preferred stock.  

Similar to high P/E stocks, stocks with high P/B’s tend to be riskier investments. 

  

Page 59 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

Price-Earnings (P/E) Ratio:  A stock’s market price divided by its current or estimated future earnings.  Lower P/E ratios often characterize stocks in low growth or mature industries, 

stocks in groups that have fallen out of favor, or stocks of established blue chip companies with long records of stable earnings and regular dividends.  Sometimes a company that has 

good fundamentals may be viewed unfavorably by the market if it is an industry that is temporarily out of favor.  Or a business may have experienced financial problems causing investors 

to be skeptical about is future.  Either of these situations would result in lower relative P/E ratios.  Some stocks exhibit above-average sales and earnings growth or expectations for above 

average growth.  Consequently, investors are willing to pay more for these companies’ earnings, which results in elevated P/E ratios.  In other words, investors will pay more for shares of 

companies whose profits, in their opinion, are expected to increase faster than average.  Because future events are in no way assured, high P/E stocks tend to be riskier and more volatile 

investments.  Meketa Investment Group calculates P/E as the current price divided by the I/B/E/S consensus of twelve-month forecast earnings per share. 

Quality Rating:  The rank assigned a security by such rating services as Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard & Poor’s.  The rating may be determined by such factors as (1) the likelihood of 

fulfillment of dividend, income, and principal payment of obligations; (2) the nature and provisions of the issue; and (3) the security’s relative position in the event of liquidation of the 

company.  Bonds assigned the top four grades (AAA, AA, A, BBB) are considered investment grade because they are eligible bank investments as determined by the controller of the 

currency. 

Sharpe Ratio:  A commonly used measure of risk-adjusted return.  It is calculated by subtracting the risk free return (usually three-month Treasury bill) from the portfolio return and 

dividing the resulting excess return by the portfolio’s total risk level (standard deviation).  The result is a measure of return per unit of total risk taken.  The higher the Sharpe ratio, the 

better the fund’s historical risk adjusted performance. 

STIF Account:  Short-term investment fund at a custodian bank that invests in cash-equivalent instruments.  It is generally used to safely invest the excess cash held by portfolio managers. 

Standard Deviation:  A measure of the total risk of an asset or a portfolio.  Standard deviation measures the dispersion of a set of numbers around a central point (e.g., the average return).  

If the standard deviation is small, the distribution is concentrated within a narrow range of values.  For a normal distribution, about two thirds of the observations will fall within one standard 

deviation of the mean, and 95% of the observations will fall within two standard deviations of the mean. 

Style:  The description of the type of approach and strategy utilized by an investment manager to manage funds.  For example, the style for equities is determined by portfolio 

characteristics such as price-to-book value, price-to-earnings ratio, and dividend yield.  Equity styles include growth, value, and core. 

Tracking Error:  A divergence between the price behavior of a position or a portfolio and the price behavior of a benchmark, as defined by the difference in standard deviation.  

  

Page 60 of 61 



 
Disclaimer, Glossary, and Notes 

 

 

 

Yield to Maturity:  The yield, or return, provided by a bond to its maturity date; determined by a mathematical process, usually requiring the use of a “basis book.”  For example, a 5% bond 

pays $5 a year interest on each $100 par value.  To figure its current yield, divide $5 by $95—the market price of the bond—and you get 5.26%.  Assume that the same bond is due to 

mature in five years.  On the maturity date, the issuer is pledged to pay $100 for the bond that can be bought now for $95.  In other words, the bond is selling at a discount of 5% below par 

value.  To figure yield to maturity, a simple and approximate method is to divide 5% by the five years to maturity, which equals 1% pro rata yearly.  Add that 1% to the 5.26% current yield, 

and the yield to maturity is roughly 6.26%. 

 

5% (discount) 
= 

1% pro rata, plus 

5.26% (current yield) 
= 6.26% (yield to maturity) 

5 (yrs. to maturity) 

Yield to Worst: The lowest potential yield that can be received on a bond without the issuer actually defaulting.  The yield to worst is calculated by making worst-case scenario assumptions 

on the issue by calculating the returns that would be received if provisions, including prepayment, call, or sinking fund, are used by the issuer. 

NCREIF Property Index (NPI):  Measures unleveraged investment performance of a very large pool of individual commercial real estate properties acquired in the private market by 

tax-exempt institutional investors for investment purposes only.  The NPI index is capitalization-weighted for a quarterly time series composite total rate of return. 

NCREIF Fund Index - Open End Diversified Core Equity (NFI-ODCE):  Measures the investment performance of 28 open-end commingled funds pursuing a core investment strategy that 

reflects funds' leverage and cash positions.  The NFI-ODCE index is equal-weighted and is reported gross and net of fees for a quarterly time series composite total rate of return. 

Sources:  Investment Terminology, International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans, 1999. 

 The Handbook of Fixed Income Securities, Fabozzi, Frank J., 1991 

The Russell Indices®, TM, SM are trademarks/service marks of the Frank Russell Company. 

Throughout this report, numbers may not sum due to rounding. 

Returns for periods greater than one year are annualized throughout this report. 

Values shown are in millions of dollars, unless noted otherwise. 

Page 61 of 61 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

DATE:  May 31, 2023 

RE:  Annual Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion (DEI) Questionnaire Results 

 

This memorandum provides the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“OPFRS”) with the data 

collected from OPFRS’s investment managers regarding their diversity representation as of 

December 31, 2022. OPFRS requested Meketa to collect this information at the December 2020 Board 

meeting as part of the discussion on minority representation at a specific manager, and to present as 

a recurring annual report. 

In the same year in 2020, Meketa launched a formal initiative to gather data from public and private 

market asset management firms within our proprietary database to evaluate asset management 

firms’ efforts on diversity, equity, and inclusion matters more thoroughly within their organizations. 

In March 2023, the third Annual Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion Questionnaire results were published to 

report on the managers’ work in this area. In this questionnaire, 923 firms—including OPFRS’s thirteen 

managers—were requested for information; 528 firms responded with at least some information.1 

The data collected from OPFRS’s thirteen investment managers along with the aggregate findings from 

the questionnaire are summarized in the following section. Please note that response bias is likely in 

the averages derived from all the responded firms, with firms which have focused more on 

DEI initiatives opting to respond to the questionnaire. 

 
1 Please note that not every firm responded to every question. 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Race & Ethnicity 

All Firm 

Average 

(439)1 Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James 

Strategic 

Global 

Advisors Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 856 45 46 634 799 210 28 37 27 23 18000 10 3384 

African/Black 5% 9% 21% 2% 10% 4% 4% 14% -- -- 4% 8% 10% 6% 

Asian 13% 7% 21% 20% 10% 18% 9% 14% 3% 7% 26% 12% 40% 28% 

Latino/Hispanic 5% 2% -- 4% 7% 4% 5% 18% 3% 4% -- 5% 10% 4% 

White 68% 79% 58% 72% 70% 70% 76% 54% 91% 85% 70% 73% 40% 55% 

Other 4% 3% -- 2% 3% 4% 6% -- 3% 4% -- 2% -- 2% 

Not Disclosed 5% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

Investment Team 

Average 

(412) Brown2 Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Investment 

Team Employees  
-- 74 15 23 381 187 37 10 16 15 12 -- 4 836 

African/Black 3% 1% 20% -- 9% 2% 5% 10% -- -- -- 2% -- 5% 

Asian 15% 16% 27% 17% 10% 16% 8% 30% 6% -- 42% 22% 50% 26% 

Latino/Hispanic 4% -- -- 4% 7% 3% -- 10% 6% -- -- 3% -- 4% 

White 65% 82% 53% 75% 72% 75% 82% 50% 82% 93% 58% 70% 50% 61% 

Other 4% 1% -- 4% 2% 4% 5% -- 6% 7% -- 3% -- -- 

Not Disclosed 9% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 4% 

  

 
1 Number in the parenthesis after “Average” represents the number of firms which provided data for the question. 
2 Brown noted that the number of investment team employees includes only the investment professionals in the institutional business. 

Page 2 of 4 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Race & Ethnicity (Continued) 

Sr Organization 

Management 

Average 

(410) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Sr Org 

Mgmt Employees  
-- 25 8 5 44 10 11 4 1 11 5 -- 8 662 

African/Black 3% 8% 13% -- 5% 10% -- 25% -- -- -- -- 13% 2% 

Asian 9% -- 25% -- 20% 10% -- 25% -- 9% -- -- 38% 15% 

Latino/Hispanic 3% -- -- -- -- 10% -- 25% -- -- -- -- -- 3% 

White 77% 92% 62% 100% 70% 70% 91% 25% 100% 91% 100% 75% 49% 76% 

Other 3% -- -- -- 5% -- 9% -- -- -- -- -- -- 1% 

Not Disclosed 5% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 3% 

 

While Vanguard did not provide detailed breakdown of employee composition by race and ethnicity information for this employee population, it 

noted that in the US, non-white individuals represent 23% of leaders, 21% of officers, 25% of executive management, and 18% of the board of directors. 

Executive management data is applied to this table to derive the percentage of white employees in the senior organization management population.  

Page 3 of 4 



 

May 31, 2023 

 

 

 
 

Employee Composition by Gender 

All Firm 

Average 

(460) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Employees -- 856 45 46 634 799 210 28 37 27 23 18000 10 3384 

Women  36% 45% 40% 17% 38% 36% 40% 32% 41% 30% 44% 40% 40% 45% 

Men 63% 55% 60% 83% 62% 64% 60% 68% 59% 70% 57% 60% 60% 55% 

Non-Binary -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Not Disclosed 1% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

Investment 

Team 

Average 

(431) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Investment 

Team Employees  
-- 74 15 23 381 187 37 10 16 15 12 -- 4 836 

Women  21% 31% 20% -- 32% 24% 19% 46% 13% 20% 25% 23% 25% 31% 

Men 77% 69% 80% 100% 68% 77% 81% 60% 87% 80% 75% 77% 75% 69% 

Non-Binary -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Not Disclosed 3% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

Sr Organization 

Management 

Average 

(422) Brown Earnest Kepos 

Northern 

Trust Parametric Polen Ramirez Reams 

Rice Hall 

James SGA Vanguard Versor Wellington 

No. of Sr Org 

Mgmt Employees  
-- 25 8 5 44 10 11 4 1 11 5 -- 8 662 

Women  24% 32% 13% -- 30% 30% 18% 25% -- 36% 40% 64% 63% 28% 

Men 75% 68% 88% 100% 70% 70% 82% 75% 100% 64% 60% 36% 38% 72% 

Non-Binary -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Not Disclosed 1% -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Vanguard noted that globally, women represent: 44% of leaders, 39% of officers, 25% of executive management, and 27% of the board of directors.

Page 4 of 4 





PAGE 2 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Meketa has a longstanding commitment to Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI). We 

believe that DEI is a key differentiator in the marketplace, which can lead to better 

social and investment outcomes.  

We also have considerable experience with and are dedicated to selecting, 

evaluating, and monitoring diverse and emerging managers in every asset class to 

bring the strongest investment opportunities to our clients. In 2017, we began hosting 

an emerging and diverse manager event to broaden our exposure to small and 

diverse firms. These emerging manager events are organized and hosted by our 

Emerging and Diverse Manager Committee in conjunction with manager research 

and consulting teams in the fall and spring each year.  

In 2020 as a next step in our commitment to DEI, Meketa launched a formal initiative 

to gather data from public and private market asset management firms within our 

proprietary database. The initiative focused on evaluating asset management firm’s 

efforts to understand DEI more thoroughly within their organizations. 2022 marks 

the third year in a row we have asked firms to complete our questionnaire to report 

on their work in this area.  

As the asset management industry continues its focus on improving DEI, we believe 

an increase in transparency and reporting, more clarity on policies and internal 

initiatives, and a better understanding of employee conduct and regulations provides 

the industry with more information to enhance the chances of success to create long-

lasting results. 

This report summarizes the results of our third annual DEI questionnaire. Of 923 

firms surveyed, 528 firms responded. The 2022 response rate is a 5% increase 

from managers compared to 2021 and a 55% increase from 2020. (Please note, not 

every firm responded to every question.) The construction of the questionnaire is 

in three sections: (1) Transparency and Reporting, (2) Policies and Initiatives, and 

(3) Employee Conduct. In this report, we will summarize our findings from the 

questionnaire and conclude with recommendations for asset managers that could 

serve as differentiators in the future.

** Note that respondent bias is likely in the results, with firms focusing more on DEI 

initiatives opting to respond to the questionnaire. The following analysis summarizes 

key findings from the responses received.

INTRODUCTION

*  Information regarding the methodology and 

DEI-related terms specific to this questionnaire 

can be found in the appendix. 





PAGE 4 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

KEY 

TAKEAWAYS

Figure 1
KEY TAKEAWAYS 

Source: Meketa Investment Group 

2022 Questionnaire.

Firm Composition  

by Race and Gender

New Hires, Promotions,  

and Turnover Rates Reporting

 → 439 organizations reported 

total firm diversity statistics, with 

only 229 reporting diversity 

statistics for their Board, and 

255 reporting diversity statistics 

for equity ownership. It is worth 

noting that not all firms have a 

Board in place.

 → On trend with past years, 

women continue to be the 

least represented in portfolio 

management positions (21%) 

while diverse employees are 

least represented on the board 

of directors (25%).

 → Lower-level positions are the 

most diverse by racial and 

gender measures. (Operations 

top quartile > 40% diverse and 

>56% female. Admin top quartile 

> 46% diverse and >82% female.) 

 → Veteran, disabled, and 

LGBTQIA+ employee 

representation was <2% across 

all categories.

 → 28% of firms reported planning 

to expand diversity. 

 → Over half (53%) of firms 

reported tracking and 

measuring the levels and 

time to promotion across 

diverse groups. 

 → Nearly 60% of new hires 

and promotions were 

given to non-racially 

diverse people. Asian 

Americans were next at 

14%, with all other diverse 

groups offered jobs or 

promotions in the single 

digits. 

 → Women made up 

40% of new hires and 

promotions. 

 → The turnover rate was 

16% higher for men than 

women in 2022, starkly 

contrasting the prior 

year, which was 4% higher 

for women. Over half of 

the resignations were 

from non-racially diverse 

people.

 → Regarding reporting, 

74% of firms released 

annual diversity 

statistics to their clients, 

followed closely by the 

consultants covering 

the firm at 70%, their 

prospects at 58%, and 

regulators at 23%. 

 → Excluding reporting to 

regulators, firms have 

increased reporting 

diversity statistics by 

20% compared to last 

year.  

 







PAGE 7 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Figure 7
2022 TURNOVER RATE BY 

DIVERSITY 

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire.

Figure 8
2022 TURNOVER RATE BY 

GENDER

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire.



PAGE 8 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

REPORTING

Figure 9
RECIPIENTS OF ANNUAL 

DIVERSITY STATISTICS REPORT 

FROM ASSET MANAGERS 

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire. 





PAGE 10 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

KEY 

TAKEAWAYS

Figure 10
KEY TAKEAWAYS 

Source: Meketa Investment Group 

2022 Questionnaire.

Recruitment and Retention

LGBTQIA+ and  

Family Planning

Service Providers  

and  DEI

 → From our research we found 

a 4% increase in  firms that 

have a formal DEI policy in 

place, from 78% to 82%. An 

additional 4% have committed 

to implementing a policy in 

the next 12 months. 

 → Over two-thirds of firms 

reported that members of 

senior management partake 

in the firm’s Diversity and 

Inclusion committee or group.

 → There was a 6% increase 

in the number of firms that 

reported using diversity 

targets compared to 2021. 

 → While 54% of firms define 

goals and measure diversity 

outcomes at all levels of the 

organization and across 

departments, only 42% 

of senior management 

has included DEI in their 

performance objectives over 

the past year. This statistic is 

up 6% from 36% in 2021. 

 → Over three-quarters of 

firms reported that diversity 

statistics were regularly 

reviewed by the Executive 

Committee or Board in the 

last 12 months. 

 → 80% of firms reported 

engaging with 

organizations or 

programs that promote 

the recruitment and 

retention of diverse 

groups However, formal 

mentorship, sponsorship, 

or employer affinity 

programs for women or 

diverse groups is less 

common at 56%. Only 30% 

offer LGBTQIA+ employee 

resource groups. 

 

 → 45% of firms offer health 

coverage that covers 

transitioning costs. 34% 

do not cover transitioning 

costs and 21% did not 

respond. 

 → An average of 40% 

of firms offer family 

formation benefits: in-vitro 

fertilization, infertility 

treatment coverage, 

and adoption assistance 

regardless of sex. 28% 

provide cryopreservation, 

22% provide foster care 

assistance and 21% offer 

surrogacy benefits. 

 → There was a slight 

increase (1%) in the 

number of firms that 

have written policies 

in place to ensure 

equal pay for equal 

work. However, there 

was a significant 11%, 

increase of firms that 

monitor gender pay gap 

disparities and a 12% 

increase in those that 

monitor racial pay gap 

disparities. 

 → The percentage of 

firms that partner with 

Minority, Women, and 

Disadvantaged Business 

Enterprises (“MWDBE”) 

increased at a third 

of the rate from the 

previous year. 

 







PAGE 13 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

RECRUITMENT 

AND RETENTION

Figure 17 

DOES THE FIRM’S HEALTH 

COVERAGE COVER 

TRANSITIONING COSTS?

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire. 

Figure 18 

PERCENTAGE OF FIRMS THAT 

OFFER FAMILY FORMATION 

BENEFITS REGARDLESS OF SEX 

Source: Meketa Investment Group  

2022 Questionnaire. 













PAGE 19 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Across the asset management industry, we saw small but increasing numbers of 

female and diverse individuals in equity ownership, senior management, and 

portfolio management. We are encouraged by the series of actions taken to achieve 

better results with respect to creating more diverse, equitable, and inclusive firms. 

Our 2022 DEI survey was more expansive as we continue to refine our approach.  

Whether refining our questions on recruitment and retention or adding questions on 

healthcare and employee resource groups, our continuing improvements bolster our 

efforts around improving clarity and  transparency in our DEI survey efforts. As we 

continue our annual surveys, we anticipate more progress to be made and we look 

forward to increased efforts made by asset management firms.

We acknowledge that fully integrating DEI into the teams and cultures of firms will 

not happen overnight. Firms will need time, resources, and buy-in to sustainably 

evolve into more diverse organizations. Asset management firms may continue to 

differentiate themselves by focusing on the following areas:

  Establish a plan to add more representation to key decision-making positions

  Continue to measure how the firm’s policies and committees contribute to the 

firm’s overall DEI strategy

  Mentorship is to recruitment as sponsorship is to retention. Consider increasing 

sponsorship opportunities to elevate underrepresented groups

  Evaluate service providers’ DEI policies to ensure an alignment of values

SUMMARY 

CONCLUSIONS



PAGE 20 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

Definitions: Below are definitions of the DEI-related terms specific to this questionnaire:

  Diverse groups are defined on the basis of the following factors: race/ethnicity, 

LGBTQIA+ identity, veteran status and disability.

  Racial/Ethnic Minorities are defined as non-white minorities.

  Other Diverse Groups refer to those who identify as LGBTQIA+, Veterans and 

Persons with Disabilities.

  Diversity is defined as the inclusion of Women and Diverse groups while Inclusion is 

defined as the practice of equal recognition, respect, and merit-based evaluation.

  The use of the term Diverse is meant to represent a numerical minority.

Methodology: The questionnaire was distributed to all public and private markets 

asset management firms in November 2022. Asset managers completed the 

questionnaire with best available data. All responses were collected from November 

29, 2022 through February 1, 2023. 

APPENDIX

Asset Manager: Includes public and private managers in Meketa’s database as of 

November 2022.

Clients: Current clients of asset managers who responded to the questionnaire.

Consultants: Oversee asset managers who responded to the questionnaire. 

Prospects: Potential clients of an asset manager who responded to the questionnaire.

Regulators: Bodies established by governments or other organizations that oversee 

the functioning and fairness of financial markets and the firms that engage in financial 

activity.

Service Providers: Third-party suppliers, vendors, or subcontractors of asset 

managers who responded to the questionnaire.



PAGE 21 OF 21MEKETA.COM  |  

If you want to learn more, or access Meketa’s library of white papers and economic 

research, please contact us or visit https://meketa.com/thought-leadership/.

CONTACT

US

MIAMI

5200 Blue Lagoon Drive 

Suite 120

Miami, FL 33126

P: 305.341.2900

LONDON

25 Green Street

London  W1K 7AX

P: 011 +44 0203.841.6255

BOSTON

80 University Ave.

Westwood, MA 02090

P: 781.471.3500

F: 781.471.3411

CHICAGO

1 East Wacker Drive 

Suite 1210

Chicago, IL 60601

P: 312.474.0900

F: 312.474.0904

NEW YORK

48 Wall Street

11th Floor

New York, NY  10005

P: 212.918.4783

F:212.918.4549

PORTLAND

2175 NW Raleigh Street

Suite 300A

Portland, OR 97210

P: 503.226.1050

F:503.226.7702

SAN DIEGO

5796 Armada Drive 

Suite 110

Carlsbad, CA 92008 

P: 760.795.3450

F:760.795.3445

DISCLOSURE

THIS CONTAINS CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF MEKETA 

INVESTMENT GROUP AND IS INTENDED FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE PARTIES 

TO WHOM IT WAS PROVIDED BY MEKETA. ITS CONTENT MAY NOT BE MODIFIED, 

SOLD, OR OTHERWISE PROVIDED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR 

ENTITY WITHOUT MEKETA’S PRIOR WRITTEN PERMISSION.



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8076 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER  SECONDED BY MEMBER 

RESOLUTION FIXING THE MONTHLY ALLOWANCE 
OF SHARON K. PENDERGRASS, SURVIVING SPOUSE 
OF HAROLD D. PENDERGRASS; RETIRED MEMBERS 
OF THE CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

WHEREAS, the retired member of the Police and Fire Retirement System, whose 
name appears in Column (1) below, died on the date shown in Column (2) below; and  

WHEREAS, the surviving spouse, whose name appears in Column (3) below, does 
not claim that their spouse’s death was by reason of an injury received in, or illness 
caused by, or arising out of the performance of duty; and  

WHEREAS, there is now presented to this Board, the monthly allowance shown in 
Column (7) below and as calculated by the Actuary in accordance with Article XXVI of 
the Charter of the City of Oakland; now, therefore, be it  

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement Board does hereby fix the 
amount shown in Column (7) as the monthly allowance that said surviving spouse shall 
receive beginning on the date shown in Column (4): 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 

Name of 
Deceased 
Member 

Date of 
Death 

Name of Surviving 
Spouse 

Effective 
Date 

of Allowance 

Form of 
Retirement 

% of 
Compensation 

Attached to 
Avg. Rank 

Held 

Monthly 
Allowance 

Harold D. 
Pendergrass 

3/18/2023 
Sharon K. 

Pendergrass 
3/19/2023 DIS 33.333% $4,288.67 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA MAY 31, 2023 

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:   

AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:   

ATTEST: 
PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 
SECRETARY 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

RESOLUTION NO. 8077 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER  SECONDED BY MEMBER 

RESOLUTION APPROVING DEATH BENEFIT PAYMENT 
AND DIRECTING A WARRANT THEREUNDER IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $1,000.00 PAYABLE TO THE 
BENEFICIARIES OF DECEASED CITY OF OAKLAND 
POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM MEMBERS 
NORBERT F. BANACH; GEORGE S. EBERHARDT; AND 
CLYDE WALKER. 

WHEREAS, due proof having been received in accordance with Article XXVI of the 
Charter of the City of Oakland of the death of the retired members of the Oakland Police 
or Fire Department identified in Column (1) below; and  

WHEREAS, the beneficiaries to whom the death benefit provided in Charter 
Section 2612 is payable, are the people whose names are stated in Column (2) opposite 
the names of the deceased retired members; and  

WHEREAS, the amount of said death benefit is stated in Column (3) opposite the 
name of the beneficiaries; now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement System Board does hereby 
approve the Death Benefit payments to the people named in Column (2); and be it  

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Director of Finance, be and is hereby directed to 
draw and sign a warrant for the amount in Column (3) payable to the people whose 
names appears in Column (2): 

(1) (2) (3) 

Name of 
Deceased Member 

Name of Beneficiary Death Benefit 
Amount 

Norbert F. Banach Estate of Norbert F. Banach $1,000.00 

George S. Eberhardt 
Brenda F. Eberhardt,  

Debra G. Sunderwirt & 
Diane E. Eberhardt 

$1,000.00 

Clyde Walker 
Kenneth J. Walker & 

David B. Walker $1,000.00 

IN BOARD MEETING, CITY HALL, OAKLAND, CA MAY 31, 2023 

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:   

AYES: GODFREY, MELIA, NICHELINI, ROSEMAN, SPEAKMAN, WILKINSON, & PRESIDENT JOHNSON 

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ATTEST: 
PRESIDENT 

ATTEST: 
SECRETARY



CITY OF OAKLAND 
 

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 

LEGAL OPINION 
 
 
TO: BOARD OF THE POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PFRS)  
 
ATTN: PRESIDENT WALTER L. JOHNSON, SR. AND 

MEMBERS OF THE PFRS BOARD  
 
FROM: BARBARA J. PARKER, CITY ATTORNEY 
 
DATE: MAY 15, 2023 
 
RE: FREQUENCY OF REGULAR AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

The Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) Board (Board) is considering 
adjusting the frequency of its meetings because the Board does not  have enough 
business to necessitate monthly meetings. PFRS has two standing committees: the 
Audit & Operations Committee and the Investment Committee. Both committees contain 
three Board members. The Board, which is composed of seven members, and its two 
standing committees, currently meet on a monthly basis. The Board has asked that the 
City Attorney advise whether the Board may meet less frequently than on a monthly 
basis. 

 
This is a public legal opinion because it interprets the City Charter and the 

powers and duties of the PFRS Board. Like all of our public legal opinions, this opinion 
will be posted on the City Attorney’s website at www.oaklandcityattorney.org. 
 

II. QUESTIONS AND BRIEF ANSWERS 
 

Question No. 1 
 
 May the PFRS Board reduce the frequency of its regular Board meetings to less 
than monthly?  
 
  Brief Answer:     
 
 No. Article XXVI, Section 2601(b) of the City Charter provides that “[t]he Board 
shall hold regular meetings monthly and special meetings at any time upon the call of its 
President.” Generally, a charter may only be amended by placing the amendment on 



To: President Johnson and Members of the PFRS Board 
Date: May 15, 2023 
Re: Frequency of Regular and Committee Meetings 
Page 2 
 
 

the ballot. (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 3.) Since the meeting frequency is set forth in the 
Charter, the PFRS Board may not reduce the frequency of its regular meetings. 
 
 Question No. 2 
 
  May the PFRS Board reduce the frequency of its regular committee meetings to 
less than monthly?  
 

Brief Answer:     
 

Yes. Because the City Charter does not address committee meetings of the 
PFRS Board, the Board may reduce the frequency of its regular committee meetings.   

 
Section 5.2(b) of PFRS Board’s Rules and Regulations specifically provides  as 

follows: 
 
The regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit/Operations Committee [and 
the] Investment Committee shall take place at Oakland City Hall on the 
last Wednesday of each month, at a specified time.  

 
The Board has the authority to amend its own Rules and Regulations. Thus, the Board 
can amend its Rules and Regulations to reduce the frequency of the committee 
meetings. As long as the committees can continue to meet their responsibilities to timely 
make recommendations to the Board in the areas set forth in the Rules and 
Regulations, the Board may reduce the frequency of its committee meetings to less 
frequently than a monthly basis. The Board also could amend its Rules and Regulations 
to eliminate committee meetings and have the Board conduct all business if it can timely 
perform its Charter-mandated duties. 
 

III. BACKGROUND 
 

Article XXVI, Section 2601(b) of the City Charter provides that “[t]he Board shall 
hold regular meetings monthly and special meetings at any time upon the call of its 
President.” The Charter does not address committee meetings. However, Article 5, 
section 5.2(b) of the PFRS Rules and Regulations specifically state that “[t]he regularly 
scheduled meetings of the Audit/Operations Committee [and the] Investment Committee 
shall take place at Oakland City Hall on the last Wednesday of each month, at a 
specified time.  
 

Article 8, sections 8.1 and 8.2 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations provide that 
each committee “shall be a Standing Committee of the Board…” The Rules and 
Regulations also set forth the duties of the respective committees. 
  



To: President Johnson and Members of the PFRS Board 
Date: May 15, 2023 
Re: Frequency of Regular and Committee Meetings 
Page 3 
 
 

Section 8.1 of the Rules and Regulations provides, in pertinent part: 
 

The Investment Committee shall have the responsibility for making 
recommendations to the Board in the following areas:  

• Review the Plan’s overall investment objectives, risk tolerance and 
performance standards and recommend changes to the Board;  

• Recommend the retention or termination of investment managers to 
the PFRS Board;  

• Keep the Board apprised of the performance of the Plan’s investment 
portfolio;  

• Recommend the asset allocation of the Plan to the Board; 

• Recommend to the Board which investments to target for the purpose 
of making benefit payments under the Plan; and  

• Review and recommend to the Board changes to the Investment 
Policy. 

 
Section 8.2 of the Rules and Regulations provides, in pertinent part: 
 
The Audit/Operations Committee shall have the responsibility for making 
recommendations to the Board in the following areas:  

• Review the Plan’s administrative procedures for the purpose of 
ensuring prompt delivery of benefits and related services to 
participants and their beneficiaries and recommend necessary 
changes to the full Board;  

• Review and recommend solutions to specific issues raised by the 
Board that relate to administration of the PFRS Plan;  

• Review the actuarial valuation report and the annual financial audit 
report of the Plan and recommend approval by the Board, unless the 
Board President determines that a report should be reviewed in the 
first instance by the full Board;  

• Review the annual budget and recommend approval by the Board;  

• Monitor the Plan’s administrative budget and assist the Board in 
defraying reasonable expenses;  

• Develop and recommend changes to Board rules, regulations and 
policies in non-investment areas;  

• Review PFRS Rules and Regulations every three years;  

• Review PFRS Travel Policy as needed but not less than three years 
from the previous approval date;  

• Recommend approval of board member and staff travel in accordance 
with the PFRS Travel Policy; and  

• Other duties and/ or issues as directed by the Board. 
 



To: President Johnson and Members of the PFRS Board 
Date: May 15, 2023 
Re: Frequency of Regular and Committee Meetings 
Page 4 
 
 

Article 14 of the PFRS Rules and Regulations provides that the Rules and 
Regulations may be amended in accordance with the following 
procedures:  

 

• Amendments shall be read at a regular meetings. 

• No vote may be taken earlier than the next regular meeting. 

• At least four (4) members of the Board must cast affirmative votes to 
amend the Rules and Regulations.  

 
The Board last revised the Rules and Regulations on June 27, 2018. On May 26, 

2021, the Audit/Operations Committee reviewed the Rules and Regulations and 
determined that changes were not needed at that time. The Board approved of the 
Audit/Operations Committee determination. Thus, the Board last approved of the 
current version of the Rules and Regulations on May 26, 2021. 

 
The Rules and Regulations are signed by the Board President and the Secretary. 

 
IV. ANALYSIS 

 
Since the meeting frequency of the Board’s regular meetings is set forth in the 

Charter, the PFRS Board may not reduce the frequency of its regular meetings. Article 
XXVI, Section 2601(b) of the City Charter provides that “[t]he Board shall hold regular 
meetings monthly and special meetings at any time upon the call of its President.” A 
charter may be amended only by the placing the amendment on the ballot. (Cal. Const., 
art. XI, § 3.) Accordingly, only the voters can  reduce the frequency of the PFRS Board’s  
regular meetings.  

 
By contrast, the Board may reduce the meeting frequency of its two standing 

committee meetings: the Investment Committee and the Audit/Operations Committee, 
which are set forth in the PFRS Rules and Regulations and which the Charter 
empowers the Board to establish1. The Board may amend the Rules and Regulations 
by a vote of four members in favor of the revisions. (Rules and Regulations Art. 14.) The 
Audit/Operations Committee is specifically responsible for reviewing the PFRS Rules 
and Regulations every three years and making recommendations to the Board. (Rules 
and Regulations 8.2.) Since the Audit/Operations Committee last reviewed the Rules 
and Regulations in May 2021, the Audit/Operations Committee mandatory review and 
recommendation is not due until 2024.   

 
The Rules and Regulations set forth specific areas of responsibility for the two 

committees. As long as the Board is able to ensure the committees meet frequently 

 
1 City Charter section 2601(e) provides in pertinent part:  “The Board shall possess 
power to make all necessary rules and regulations for its guidance. 



To: President Johnson and Members of the PFRS Board 
Date: May 15, 2023 
Re: Frequency of Regular and Committee Meetings 
Page 5 
 
 

enough to meet their responsibilities as set forth in Article 8, sections 8.1 and 8.2, the 
Board is authorized to reduce the frequency of its two committees. 

 
V. CONCLUSION 

 
The PFRS Board may not reduce the frequency of its regular meetings but it may 

reduce the frequency of its two standing committee meetings: the Investment 
Committee and the Audit/Operations Committee, which are set forth only in the PFRS 
Rules and Regulations and not addressed by the City Charter. 

 
We recommend that the Audit/Operations Committee discuss this matter and 

make a recommendation to the Board to revise the PFRS Rules and Regulations to 
reduce the frequency of the two standing committees of the PFRS Board. Alternatively, 
the Board may consider the matter directly without a recommendation from the 
Audit/Operations Committee.   

 
In all events, we recommend revising Article 5, section 5.2b as follows 

(strikethrough indicates omitted language; underline indicates new language): 
 
Section 5.2b: Standing Committee  
 
The regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit/Operations Committee shall 
take place at Oakland City Hall on the last Wednesday of each the month, 
on a quarterly basis, at a specified time.  
 
The regularly scheduled meetings of the Investment Committee shall take 
place at Oakland City Hall on the last Wednesday of each the month, on a 
quarterly basis, at a specified time. 

 
Any proposed amendments will need to be read at a regular PFRS Board 

meeting, and the vote on the amendments must not occur until the next regular 
meeting. Any amendment requires passage by four (4) Board members.  
 

Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
BARBARA J. PARKER 
City Attorney 
 

Attorney Assigned: 
Selia Warren 
 
3254512v1 


	PFRS_2023.05.31_AGENDA PACKET_AUDIT
	(00) PFRS_AGENDA_2023.05.31_AUDIT_ v1.0.pdf
	(01) PFRS_2023.03.29_Draft Minutes_AUDIT_v1.1.pdf
	(02) PFRS_ADMIN EXP REPORT_MARCH2023.pdf
	(03) PFRS_2023.05.31_AR_Election_5-Yr Police.pdf
	(04) PFRS 2023.05.31_ AR RESO 878_RSW Travel_MILKEN.pdf
	(05) PFRS 2023.05.31_ AR_Audit Pending List.pdf

	PFRS_2023.05.31_AGENDA PACKET_INVESTMENT
	(00) PFRS_AGENDA_2023.05.31_INVESTMENT_ v1.1.pdf
	(01) PFRS_2023.03.29_Draft Minutes_INVESTMENT_v1.0.pdf
	(02) RHJ_Oakland PFRS_RHJ Small Cap Opportunities_5-31-23.pdf
	(03) MEKETA_M230531_ Rice Hall James Manager Update Memo_OPFRS.pdf
	(04) MEKETA_M230531_CRO Benchmark Update_OPFRS.pdf
	(05) MEKETA_2023-04-30 Economic and Market Update.pdf
	(06) MEKETA_2023-04-30_April Flash Report_OPFRS.pdf
	(07) MEKETA_2023-03-31_Q1 Quarterly Report_OaklandPFRS.pdf
	(08) MEKETA_ANNUAL DEI RESULTS_2023.pdf
	(09) MEKETA_M230531_Strategic Agenda_OPFRS.pdf

	PFRS_2023.05.31_AGENDA PACKET_REGULAR
	(00) PFRS_AGENDA_2023.05.31_REGULAR_ v1.0
	(01) PFRS_2023.03.29_Draft Minutes_REGULAR_v1.0
	(B) CHEIRON_Full Funding Memo_2023-05-23s
	(C1) PFRS_ADMIN EXP REPORT_MARCH2023
	(C2) PFRS_2023.05.31_AR_Election_5-Yr Police
	(C3) PFRS 2023.05.31_ AR RESO 878_RSW Travel_MILKEN
	(D1) RHJ_Oakland PFRS_RHJ Small Cap Opportunities_5-31-23
	(D2) MEKETA_M230531_ Rice Hall James Manager Update Memo_OPFRS
	(D3) MEKETA_M230531_CRO Benchmark Update_OPFRS
	(D4) MEKETA_2023-04-30 Economic and Market Update
	(D5) MEKETA_2023-04-30_April Flash Report_OPFRS
	(D6) MEKETA_2023-03-31_Q1 Quarterly Report_OaklandPFRS
	(D7) MEKETA_ANNUAL DEI RESULTS_2023
	(E1) PFRS_RESO 8076 Surviving Monthly Allowance_SIGNED.sw
	(E2) PFRS_RESO 8077 Beneficiary Death Benefit_SIGNED.sw
	(F) LEGAL OPINION_2023 PFRS Memo re Changing Frequency of Meetings




